
Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB) Meeting 
Marion County Growth Services - Training Room 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd., Ocala, FL 34470 

March 9, 2023 - 10:00 AM 
         AGENDA 

1. CALL TO ORDER AND ROLL CALL

2. PLEDGE OF ALLIGENCE

3. PROOF OF PUBLICATION

4. PRESENTATION
A. Major Forrest McIntyre – Salvation Army (Page #3)

5. ACTION ITEMS
A. Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC) Evaluation (Page #5)

6. CONSENT AGENDA
A. Minutes December Meeting (Page #307)

7. DISCUSSION ITEMS
A. Next meeting Workshop Topics (Page #315)
B. Transportation Disadvantaged Paratransit Service Study (Page #316) 
C. 2020 Census Update (Page #333)

8. COMMENTS BY TDLCB MEMBERS

9. COMMENTS BY TPO STAFF

10. COMMENTS BY TRANSPORTATION COORDINATOR (CTC)

11. PUBLIC COMMENT
Anyone wishing to speak on a specific agenda item or under the Public Comment section is requested to fill
out a “Public Comment” card and provide it to TPO staff.  Speakers will be limited to two minutes.

12. ADJOURNMENT

All meetings are open to the public, the TPO does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, national origin, sex, age, religion, disability and family 
status. Anyone requiring special assistance under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA), or requiring language assistance (free of charge) should 
contact Liz Mitchell, Title VI/Nondiscrimination Coordinator at (352) 438-2634 or liz.mitchell@marioncountyfl.org forty-eight (48) hours in advance, 
so proper accommodations can be made. 



Pursuant to Chapter 286.0105, Florida Statutes, please be advised that if any person wishes to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to 
any matter considered at the above meeting, they will need a record of the proceedings, and that, for such purpose, they may need to ensure that a 
verbatim record of the proceedings is made, which record includes the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be based. 

The next regular meeting of the Ocala Marion Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board will 
be held on June 8th, 2023. 



A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 

 
 
 
 

TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
 

FROM: Ocala Marion TPO 
 

RE:    Presentation 
 

  
 
Summary 
 
A presentation of the Salvation Army and the services they provide. 
 
Attachment(s) 
 
Presentation. 
 
Action Requested 
 
None - Informative only. 
 
 
Any additional comments and/or suggestions please contact Liz Mitchell,  
liz.mitchell@marionfl.org. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/
mailto:liz.mitchell@marionfl.org


A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/


A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion  County • City  of Belleview • City  of Dunnellon • City  of Ocala 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 Telephone: 
(352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 

 

 
 
 
TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 

FROM: Ocala Marion TPO 

 RE: Community Transportation Coordinator Annual Evaluation 2023 
 

 

 
Summary: 

 

The Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged designates a Community 
Transportation Coordinator (CTC) for each county/service area. The CTC is responsible for 
coordinating and/or providing transportation services to individuals who are transportation 
disadvantaged. You are considered "transportation disadvantaged" due to age, income, or a disability, 
you cannot drive, or do not have access to other transportation options. 

 
Access is provided to medical appointments, employment, educational and other life sustaining 
services, including, groceries, shopping, meals, and social events, to those who are eligible. 

 
In accordance with Florida Statutes, Chapter 427, and the Florida Commission for the Transportation 
Disadvantaged the Marion County Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC) evaluation is 
conducted annually by members of the Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
(TDLCB) with assistance from the Ocala Marion Transportation Planning Organization (TPO) as the 
Designated Official Planning Agency (DOPA). The TDLCB evaluates the CTC in order to ensure 
quality of service is being provided in the most cost effective and efficient manner. 

 
This is accomplished through: 

 
• audits 
• series of interviews 
• quality checks 
• rider call surveys 
• ride-along for observation 

 
The evaluation encompasses management, operations, service, safety, vehicle maintenance, drivers 
and training, performance standards, grievance/complaint procedures, and quality assurance, utilizing 
the Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged CTC Evaluation Workbook. 

 
Findings: 

 

In summary, the TPO found that all of the required policies and procedures, contracts and contract 
management, grievance/complaint procedures, performance, quality and safety standards were in place 
and being adhered to. All vehicles were on a maintenance schedule and in good working order. The 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/


A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion  County • City  of Belleview • City  of Dunnellon • City  of Ocala 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 Telephone: 
(352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 

drivers are trained with continual training updates. There is a zero tolerance substance abuse policy 
enforced complete with pre-employment drug and alcohol background checks. The riders speak highly 
of the overall system and feel that they are being provided a quality service. 

 
The TPO has provided a few recommendations as well as commendations as a result of our evaluation. 

 
Recommendations: 

 

The pertinent phone numbers on each bus continues to be too small.  Due to the fact that service is 
geared for the disadvantaged, many are unable to get up close to view the Ombudsman and complaint 
phone numbers. These numbers need to be larger and centralized so that those seated on opposite 
sides of the isle are still able to see the numbers.  Also, for distance viewing from the back of the bus, 
and the wheelchair riders that are secured in the very back. 

 
Commendations: 

 

Marion Transit continues to make the changes required to maintain happy riders.  Last year the TPO 
recommended a sealed drop box for comments so that riders could provide input on an ongoing basis. 
This led to an additional day being added to the Blue line in Dunnellon.  The comments were 
unanimous that the riders wanted Friday added to the Blue Line. We commend MT for readily and 
eagerly making the necessary changes requested by their riders. 

 
We want to extend a very special thanks to our volunteers that are members currently serving on our 
TDLCB Board.  These volunteers took time out of their work schedules to call our TD riders for a 
quick survey and/or a ride-along. Thank you to: 

 

Call Survey: Susan Hanley 
Tracey Sapp 

Department. of Elder Affairs 
Department of Health 

 Brandon Palermo 
Jeffrey Askew 

Center for Independent Living 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

Ride-along: Andrea Melvin 
Liz Mitchell 

Center for Independent Living 
Ocala Marion TPO 

 

We wish continued success to Marion Transit, their drivers and staff. 
 
Attachment(s) 

 

Copy of the Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged evaluation workbook. 
 
Action Requested 

 

Board review and approval with Chair signature. 
 
Any additional comments and/or suggestions please contact Liz Mitchell, liz.mitchell@marionfl.org. 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/
mailto:liz.mitchell@marionfl.org


 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CTC BEING REVIEWED:           

COUNTY (IES):            

ADDRESS:             

CONTACT:      PHONE:       

REVIEW PERIOD:  _______      REVIEW DATES:     

PERSON CONDUCTING THE REVIEW:        

CONTACT INFORMATION:          

 
 

FORMATTED 2011 – 2012 

CTC 
EVALUATION WORKBOOK 

Marion Transit Services

Marion

1101 SW 20th Ct., Ocala, FL 34471

Clayton Murch 352-620-3519

2/2023

Liz Mitchell

352-438-2634 liz.mitchell@marionfl.org

1/2022 - 12/2022



 

Page 2 

LCB EVALUATION WORKBOOK 

 
ITEM          PAGE 
 
REVIEW CHECKLIST          3 

EVALUATION INFORMATION        5 

ENTRANCE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS       6 

GENERAL QUESTIONS          9 

CHAPTER 427, F.S.          13 

RULE 41-2, F.A.C.           22 

COMMISSION STANDARDS         32 

LOCAL STANDARDS          33 

AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT       36 

FY GRANT QUESTIONS          42 

STATUS REPORT           43 

ON-SITE OBSERVATION         45 

SURVEYS            47 

LEVEL OF COST WORKSHEET # 1       52 

LEVEL OF COMPETITION WORKSHEET #2      53 

LEVEL OF AVAILABILITY WORKSHEET #3      55 
 



 

Page 3 

REVIEW CHECKLIST & SCHEDULE 
 
 
COLLECT FOR REVIEW: 
 

 APR Data Pages 

 QA Section of TDSP  

 Last Review (Date:           ) 

 List of Omb. Calls  

 QA Evaluation   

 Status Report (from last review) 

 AOR Submittal Date  

 TD Clients to Verify  

 TDTF Invoices 

 Audit Report Submittal Date  
 
ITEMS TO REVIEW ON-SITE: 
 

    SSPP 
    Policy/Procedure Manual 
    Complaint Procedure    
    Drug & Alcohol Policy (see certification) 
    Grievance Procedure  
    Driver Training Records (see certification) 
    Contracts    
    Other Agency Review Reports 
    Budget 
    Performance Standards 
    Medicaid Documents 

 
  

2/2022



 

Page 4 

ITEMS TO REQUEST: 
 

 REQUEST INFORMATION FOR RIDER/BENEFICIARY SURVEY (Rider/Beneficiary 
Name, Agency who paid for the trip [sorted by agency and totaled], and Phone Number) 

 

 REQUEST INFORMATION FOR CONTRACTOR SURVEY (Contractor Name, Phone 
Number, Address and Contact Name) 

 

 REQUEST INFORMATION FOR PURCHASING AGENCY SURVEY (Purchasing Agency 
Name, Phone Number, Address and Contact Name) 

 

 REQUEST ANNUAL QA SELF CERTIFICATION (Due to CTD annually by January 15th). 

 
 MAKE ARRANGEMENTS FOR VEHICLES TO BE INSPECTED (Only if purchased after 

1992 and privately funded). 
 
 
INFORMATION OR MATERIAL TO TAKE WITH YOU: 
 

 Measuring Tape   Stop Watch 
 



 

Page 5 

EVALUATION INFORMATION 
 
 
An LCB review will consist of, but is not limited to the following 
pages:  

 
 

1 Cover Page 
5 - 6 Entrance Interview Questions 
12 Chapter 427.0155 (3) Review the CTC monitoring of 

contracted operators 
13 Chapter 427.0155 (4) Review TDSP to determine utilization 

of school buses and public transportation services 
19 Insurance 
23 Rule 41-2.011 (2) Evaluation of cost-effectiveness of 

Coordination Contractors and Transportation Alternatives 
25 - 29 Commission Standards and Local Standards 
39 On-Site Observation 
40 – 43 Surveys 
44 Level of Cost - Worksheet 1 
45- 46 Level of Competition – Worksheet 2 
47 - 48 Level of Coordination – Worksheet 3 

 
Notes to remember:   

 The CTC should not conduct the evaluation or surveys.  If the CTC is also the PA, 
the PA should contract with an outside source to assist the LCB during the review 
process. 

 Attach a copy of the Annual QA Self Certification. 
   

 
 



 

Page 6 

ENTRANCE INTERVIEW QUESTIONS 
 
INTRODUCTION AND BRIEFING:  
  

 Describe the evaluation process (LCB evaluates the CTC and forwards a copy of the 
evaluation to the CTD). 

 
 The LCB reviews the CTC once every year to evaluate the operations and the 

performance of the local coordinator.   
 

The LCB will be reviewing the following areas: 
 

  Chapter 427, Rules 41-2 and 14-90, CTD Standards, and Local Standards 

  Following up on the Status Report from last year and calls received from the 
Ombudsman program. 

   Monitoring of contractors. 

   Surveying riders/beneficiaries, purchasers of service, and contractors 
 

 The LCB will issue a Review Report with the findings and recommendations to the CTC 
no later than 30 working days after the review has concluded. 

 
 Once the CTC has received the Review Report, the CTC will submit a Status Report to 

the LCB within 30 working days. 
 

 Give an update of Commission level activities (last meeting update and next meeting 
date), if needed. 

 
USING THE APR, COMPILE THIS INFORMATION: 
 
1. OPERATING ENVIRONMENT:  

 RURAL    URBAN 
 

2. ORGANIZATION TYPE:  
 
  PRIVATE-FOR-PROFIT 

  PRIVATE NON-PROFIT 

  GOVERNMENT 

  TRANSPORTATION AGENCY 
  

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔

✔



Page 7 

3. NETWORK TYPE:
SOLE PROVIDER         

PARTIAL BROKERAGE 

COMPLETE BROKERAGE 

4. NAME THE OPERATORS THAT YOUR COMPANY HAS CONTRACTS WITH:

5. NAME THE GROUPS THAT YOUR COMPANY HAS COORDINATION
CONTRACTS WITH:

Coordination Contract Agencies
Name of 
Agency

Address City, State, Zip Telephone 
Number

Contact

Advocacy Resource 2800 SE Maricamp Ocala, FL 352.387.2210 Sean McLaughlin

Florida Center for th 1411 NE 22nd Ave. Ocala, FL 352.873.4700 Anissa Pieriboni

N/A



 

Page 8 

 
6.   NAME THE ORGANIZATIONS AND AGENCIES THAT PURCHASE SERVICE 

FROM THE CTC AND THE PERCENTAGE OF TRIPS EACH REPRESENTS? 
(Recent APR information may be used) 

 
Name of Agency % of Trips Name of Contact Telephone Number 

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
7. REVIEW AND DISCUSS TD HELPLINE CALLS: 
 
 Number of calls Closed Cases Unsolved Cases 
Cost    
Medicaid    
Quality of Service    
Service Availability    
Toll Permit    
Other    

 
 

N/A

0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0
0 0 0



 

Page 9 

GENERAL QUESTIONS 
 
Use the TDSP to answer the following questions.  If these are not addressed in 
the TDSP, follow-up with the CTC. 
 
1. DESIGNATION DATE OF CTC:                                      
 
2. WHAT IS THE COMPLAINT PROCESS? 
 
 

IS THIS PROCESS IN WRITTEN FORM?   Yes   No 
   (Make a copy and include in folder) 
 Is the process being used?     Yes   No 
 
3. DOES THE CTC HAVE A COMPLAINT FORM?  Yes   No 
   (Make a copy and include in folder) 
 

4. DOES THE COMPLAINT FORM INCORPORATE ALL ELEMENTS OF THE CTD’S 
UNIFORM SERVICE REPORTING GUIDEBOOK?   

 Yes   No 
 
5. DOES THE FORM HAVE A SECTION FOR RESOLUTION OF THE COMPLAINT? 

 Yes   No 
 
Review completed complaint forms to ensure the resolution section is 
being filled out and follow-up is provided to the consumer. 

 
6. IS A SUMMARY OF COMPLAINTS GIVEN TO THE LCB ON A REGULAR BASIS? 

 Yes   No 
 
7. WHEN IS THE DISSATISFIED PARTY REFERRED TO THE TD HELPLINE? 

 
 
 

8. WHEN A COMPLAINT IS FORWARDED TO YOUR OFFICE FROM THE 
OMBUDSMAN PROGRAM, IS THE COMPLAINT ENTERED INTO THE LOCAL 
COMPLAINT FILE/PROCESS? 

 Yes   No 
 

If no, what is done with the complaint? 
  

July 1, 2020 - June 30, 2025

Riders call in and MT's staff directs calls as needed to appropriate area.

Complaints are resolved in-house. However, if unable to resolve they will then be
refer to the TD helpline.



Page 10

9. DOES THE CTC PROVIDE WRITTEN RIDER/BENEFICIARY INFORMATION OR
BROCHURES TO INFORM RIDERS/ BENEFICIARIES ABOUT TD SERVICES?

Yes No If yes, what type? 

10. DOES THE RIDER/ BENEFICIARY INFORMATION OR BROCHURE LIST THE
OMBUDSMAN NUMBER?

Yes No

11. DOES THE RIDER/ BENEFICIARY INFORMATION OR BROCHURE LIST THE
COMPLAINT PROCEDURE?

Yes No

12. WHAT IS YOUR ELIGIBILITY PROCESS FOR TD RIDERS/ BENEFICIARIES?

Please Verify These Passengers Have an Eligibility Application on File: 

TD Eligibility Verification
Name of Client Address of client Date of Ride Application on 

File?

13. WHAT INNOVATIVE IDEAS HAVE YOU IMPLEMENTED IN YOUR
COORDINATED SYSTEM?

Lorraine DeMauex 6061 SW 84th St.,Ocala, FL 34476 1/20/23 Yes
Cindy Gunion 17425 SE 24th Ct., Summerfield, 34491 1/23/23 Yes
Frances Miller 10968 SW 80th Ct., Ocala, 34481 1/12/23 Yes

Angela Ribaudo 9511 SE 168th Elderberry PL, The Villages, 32162 11/21/22 Yes
Peter Valladdres 9273 SW 82nd Terr, Ocala, 34481 1/27/23 Yes

■

■

Our two current deviated routes function well and now attempting to attain new
deviated fixed routes. In partnership with our planning agency we are acquiring an
analysis of the counties most needed, equity areas to determine the area to institute a
new deviated route. Extensive focus on defensive driving, hazard identification and
reducing the potential for accidents, specifically road safety.

This is provided at the time of application. Brochures are also available on the bus or on-site and
are distributed to local merchants, neighborhoods and through the mail. Information is also
available on line on the website.



 

Page 11 

14. ARE THERE ANY AREAS WHERE COORDINATION CAN BE IMPROVED? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

15. WHAT BARRIERS ARE THERE TO THE COORDINATED SYSTEM? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

16. ARE THERE ANY AREAS THAT YOU FEEL THE COMMISSION SHOULD BE 
AWARE OF OR CAN ASSIST WITH? 
 
 
 
 
 
 

17. WHAT FUNDING AGENCIES DOES THE CTD NEED TO WORK CLOSELY WITH 
IN ORDER TO FACILITATE A BETTER-COORDINATED SYSTEM? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
18. HOW ARE YOU MARKETING THE VOLUNTARY DOLLAR? 
 

MT maintains vigilance in looking for ways to improve the efficiency of the system.
However funding limitations can be a hinderance.

Attempting to keep up with increasing demand in a timely fashion and the increased
work load of coordinating with other entitites.

Assist in providing awareness to more funding opportunities.

All agencies that have the ability to assist with funding. Visibility to other available
grant opportunities.

Not at this time. There is no formal marketing budget.



 

Page 12 

GENERAL QUESTIONS 
Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 

Page 13 

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S. 

Review the CTC contracts for compliance with 427.0155(1), F.S.  
“Execute uniform contracts for service using a standard contract, which 
includes performance standards for operators.” 
 

ARE YOUR CONTRACTS UNIFORM?      Yes          No 
 

IS THE CTD’S STANDARD CONTRACT UTILIZED?   Yes  No 
 
DO THE CONTRACTS INCLUDE PERFORMANCE STANDARDS FOR THE TRANSPORTATION 
OPERATORS AND COORDINATION CONTRACTORS?        

     Yes    No 
 
DO THE CONTRACTS INCLUDE THE PROPER LANGUAGE CONCERNING PAYMENT TO 
SUBCONTRACTORS?  (Section 21.20: Payment to Subcontractors, T&E Grant, and FY) 

      Yes    No 
 

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?          Yes          No 
 

 
Operator Name 

 
Exp. Date 

 
SSPP 

 
AOR Reporting 

 
Insurance 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

   
    

   
    

   
     

Marion Transit Services 6/30/25 5/14/21 9/14/22 1/31/23



 

Page 14 

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S. 
 
Review the CTC last AOR submittal for compliance with 427. 0155(2) 
“Collect Annual Operating Data for submittal to the Commission.” 
 
REPORTING TIMELINESS 
 
Were the following items submitted on time? 

a. Annual Operating Report      Yes  No 

Any issues that need clarification?    Yes  No 
 
Any problem areas on AOR that have been re-occurring? 
 
List: 
 
 
 

b. Memorandum of Agreement    Yes  No 

c. Transportation Disadvantaged Service Plan  Yes  No 

d. Grant Applications to TD Trust Fund   Yes  No 

e. All other grant application (____%)   Yes  No 
 
IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?         Yes             No 
 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

100

None



Page 15

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S.

Review the CTC monitoring of its transportation operator contracts to ensure 
compliance with 427.0155(3), F.S.
“Review all transportation operator contracts annually.”

WHAT TYPE OF MONITORING DOES THE CTC PERFORM ON ITS OPERATOR(S) AND 
HOW OFTEN IS IT CONDUCTED? 

Is a written report issued to the operator?          Yes     No

If NO, how are the contractors notified of the results of the monitoring? 

WHAT TYPE OF MONITORING DOES THE CTC PERFORM ON ITS COORDINATION 
CONTRACTORS AND HOW OFTEN IS IT CONDUCTED? 

Is a written report issued? Yes  No

If NO, how are the contractors notified of the results of the monitoring? 

WHAT ACTION IS TAKEN IF A CONTRACTOR RECEIVES AN UNFAVORABLE 
REPORT? 

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION? Yes     No

ASK TO SEE DOCUMENTATION OF MONITORING REPORTS.

Monitoring occurs daily, each bus contains cameras and software that provides visual
and audio, as a result they are monitored at various intervals throughout the day.

An email or a meeting if needed, and disciplinary action is taken at the time of an
incident.

There is no report provided unless there is a disciplinary or counseling associated with
the review.

Depending on the circumstances, a corrective action plan is initiated.

There is no set schedule but monitored annually. Review of documents, driving
credentials and triannual certificate.



Page 16

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S.

Review the TDSP to determine the utilization of school buses and public 
transportation services [Chapter 427.0155(4)]
“Approve and coordinate the utilization of school bus and public transportation 
services in accordance with the TDSP.”
HOW IS THE CTC USING SCHOOL BUSES IN THE COORDINATED SYSTEM? 

Rule 41-2.012(5)(b): "As part of the Coordinator’s performance, the local 
Coordinating Board shall also set an annual percentage goal increase for the 
number of trips provided within the system for ridership on public transit, where 
applicable.  In areas where the public transit is not being utilized, the local 
Coordinating Board shall set an annual percentage of the number of trips to be 
provided on public transit."

HOW IS THE CTC USING PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SERVICES IN THE COORDINATED 
SYSTEM? 

IS THERE A GOAL FOR TRANSFERRING PASSENGERS FROM PARATRANSIT TO TRANSIT? 

 Yes        No

If YES, what is the goal? 

Is the CTC accomplishing the goal?     Yes     No

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS REQUIREMENT?   Yes     No

Comments:

School buses are used for emergency services. In the event of an emergency, hurricane or natural
disaster, buses are utilized to transport residents to shelters or other needed areas. MT assists the
county school system by bridging the gap and transporting children that are homeless or in temporary
shelters, alleviating the burden on the school bus system.

Riders are re-evaluated and transitioned to SunTran services if they are deemed eligible on a
continual basis. This is done through a mapping system in accordance with where the riders reside.



 

Page 17

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S.

Review of local government, federal and state transportation applications for 
TD funds (all local, state or federal funding for TD services) for compliance 
with 427.0155(5).
“Review all applications for local government, federal, and state transportation 
disadvantaged funds, and develop cost-effective coordination strategies.”

IS THE CTC INVOLVED WITH THE REVIEW OF APPLICATIONS FOR TD FUNDS, IN 
CONJUNCTION WITH THE LCB?  (TD Funds include all funding for transportation 
disadvantaged services, i.e. Section 5310 [formerly Sec.16] applications for FDOT funding to 
buy vehicles granted to agencies who are/are not coordinated) 

     Yes     No

If Yes, describe the application review process. 

If no, is the LCB currently reviewing applications for TD funds (any federal, state, and 
local funding)?       Yes          No

If no, is the planning agency currently reviewing applications for TD funds?  
     Yes          No 

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?     Yes     No

Comments:

TD fund applications are presented to the LCB for review and approval prior to
submittal to the TD Commission or FDOT.



 

Page 18 

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S. 
 
Review priorities listed in the TDSP, according to Chapter 427.0155(7). 
“Establish priorities with regard to the recipients of non-sponsored 
transportation disadvantaged services that are purchased with Transportation 
Disadvantaged Trust monies.” 
 
REVIEW THE QA SECTION OF THE TDSP (ask CTC to explain): 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
WHAT ARE THE PRIORITIES FOR THE TDTF TRIPS? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HOW ARE THESE PRIORITIES CARRIED OUT? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?          Yes          No 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

MT is in compliance with all policies and procedures. Quality assurance has been
reviewed and MT has followed the criteria in accordance with FDOT's monitoring
process.

1. Medical Needs - kidney dialysis, cancer treatments, therapy/doctor appointments
2. Life Sustaining Activities - food, prescriptions, shopping, medicaid recertification
3. Education - life skills training, day treatment programs for abused/neglected children
4. Employment- Daily to work and return home
5. Business - banking, Social Security, visits to hospital/nursing homes
6. Recreational Trips - Social interaction

The LCB sets the guidelines and service is provided in accordance with availability
following the priorities/guidelines set.



Page 19

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S.

Ensure CTC compliance with the delivery of transportation services, 
427.0155(8).  
“Have full responsibility for the delivery of transportation services for the 
transportation disadvantaged as outlined in s. 427.015(2).”

Review the Operational section of the TDSP 

1. Hours of Service:

2. Hours of Intake:

3. Provisions for After Hours Reservations/Cancellations?

4. What is the minimum required notice for reservations?

5. How far in advance can reservations be place (number of days)?

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?    Yes    No

Comments:

Monday - Friday from 8:00am - 5:00pm or until all return trips/passengers are
completed.

Passengers are requested to make appointments between 7am and 5pm so the can be picked
up to two hours prior and returned home within service hours. Riders living in outlying areas
may need to be ready up to three hours prior to pickup time.

Arrangements may be made for dialysis and other special situations with early, late or
Saturday appointments. Service may be available 24 hours per day, 7 days a week, if
prior arrangements are made.

Notice is required seventy-two (72) hours in advance. Recurring trips, such as for
dialysis or therapy can be scheduled on a permanent basis.

Trips may be scheduled as early as 2 weeks, but not later than seventy-two (72) hours
in advance.



 

Page 20 

COMPLIANCE WITH CHAPTER 427, F.S. 
 
Review the cooperative agreement with the local WAGES coalitions according 
to Chapter 427.0155(9). 
“Work cooperatively with local WAGES coalitions established in Chapter 414 to 
provide assistance in the development of innovative transportation services for 
WAGES participants.” 
 
 
WHAT TYPE OF ARRANGEMENT DO YOU HAVE WITH THE LOCAL WAGES 
COALITION? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HAVE ANY INNOVATIVE WAGES TRANSPORTATION SERVICES BEEN 
DEVELOPED? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?          Yes          No 
 
Comments: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

N/A

Starting wages for drivers were raised from $13.00 to $15.00 an hour



 

Page 21 

CHAPTER 427 
Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 22

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C.

Compliance with 41-2.006(1), Minimum Insurance Compliance
“...ensure compliance with the minimum liability insurance requirement of 
$100,000 per person and $200,000 per incident…”

WHAT ARE THE MINIMUM LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS? 

WHAT ARE THE MINIMUM LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS IN THE 
OPERATOR AND COORDINATION CONTRACTS? 

HOW MUCH DOES THE INSURANCE COST (per operator)? 

Operator Insurance Cost

DOES THE MINIMUM LIABILITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS EXCEED $1 MILLION 
PER INCIDENT?    

Yes     No

If yes, was this approved by the Commission?     Yes     No

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION? Yes     No

Comments:

Marion Transit Services  $ 227,714

The coverage rates are $100,000 per person and $300,000 per incident.

The coverage rates are $100,000 per person and $300,000 per incident.



 

Page 23

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C.

Compliance with 41-2.006(2), Safety Standards. 
“…shall ensure the purchaser that their operations and services are in 
compliance with the safety requirements as specified in Section 341.061(2)(a), 
F.S. and 14-90, F.A.C.”

Date of last SSPP Compliance Review____________, Obtain a copy of this review. 

Review the last FDOT SSPP Compliance Review, if completed in over a year, check drivers’ 
records.  If the CTC has not monitored the operators, check drivers’ files at the operator’s site.

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION? Yes     No

ARE THE CTC CONTRACTED OPERATORS IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION? 
Yes    No

DRIVER REQUIREMENT CHART 

Driver Last 
Name

Driver 
License

Last 
Physical

CPR/1st 
Aid

Def. 
Driving

ADA
Training Other-

Sample Size:    1-20 Drivers – 50-100%    21-100 Drivers – 20-50%       100+ Drivers – 5-10% 

5/14/21

Aquino Yes 3/24/22 N/A 8/11/22 4/26/22 TAPCO
Baker Yes 6/25/22 N/A 8/11/22 6/16/20 TAPCO

Desmarais Yes 8/1/22 N/A 8/11/22 8/4/22 TAPCO
Formella Yes 1/11/23 N/A 8/11/22 8/17/20 TAPCO
Garcia Yes 1/12/23 N/A 8/11/22 1/25/21 TAPCO
Gray Yes 9/1/22 N/A 9/15/21 9/14/21 TAPCO

Hamilton Yes 1/27/22 N/A 8/11/22 11/17/20 TAPCO
Hickle Yes 9/15/21 N/A 8/11/22 5/4/22 TAPCO
Joseph Yes 11/30/21 N/A 11/19/20 12/13/22 TAPCO
Menger Yes 7/27/22 N/A 8/11/22 8/2/22 TAPCO

Osbourne Yes 10/13/22 N/A 8/11/22 10/27/20 TAPCO
Pizarro Yes 12/22/22 N/A 8/11/22 10/20/20 TAPCO
Porter Yes 4/27/22 N/A 8/11/22 7/21/20 TAPCO

Rodriguez Yes 6/29/22 N/A 8/11/22 2/10/23 TAPCO
Taylor Yes 8/3/22 N/A 8/11/22 8/11/22 TAPCO



 

Page 24 

 
Driver Last 

Name 
Driver 
License 

Last 
Physical 

CPR/1st 
Aid 

Def. 
Driving 

ADA 
Training Other- 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 
 
Sample Size:    1-20 Drivers – 50-100%    21-100 Drivers – 20-50%       100+ Drivers – 5-10% 

N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A
N/A



 

Page 25

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C.

Compliance with 41-2.006(3), Drug and Alcohol Testing 
“…shall assure the purchaser of their continuing compliance with the applicable 
state or federal laws relating to drug testing…”

With which of the following does the CTC (and its contracted operators) Drug and Alcohol 
Policy comply? 

 FTA  (Receive Sect. 5307, 5309, or 5311 funding)  

 FHWA  (Drivers required to hold a CDL)  

 Neither

REQUEST A COPY OF THE DRUG & ALCOHOL POLICY AND LATEST 
COMPLIANCE REVIEW. 

DATE OF LAST DRUG & ALCOHOL POLICY REVIEW: ___________________ 

IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION? Yes     No

Comments:

7/22/22



 

Page 26 

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C. 
 
Compliance with 41-2.011(2), Evaluating Cost-Effectiveness of Coordination 
Contractors and Transportation Alternatives. 
“...contracts shall be reviewed annually by the Community Transportation 
Coordinator and the Coordinating Board as to the effectiveness and efficiency of 
the Transportation Operator or the renewal of any Coordination Contracts.” 
 
1. IF THE CTC HAS COORDINATION CONTRACTORS, DETERMINE THE COST-

EFFECTIVENESS OF THESE CONTRACTORS. 
 
Cost [CTC and Coordination Contractor (CC)] 
 

 CTC CC #1 CC #2 CC #3 CC #4 
Flat contract rate (s) ($ amount / 
unit) 
 

     

Detail other rates as needed:  (e.g. 
ambulatory, wheelchair, stretcher, 
out-of-county, group) 

     

 
 
 

     

 
 
 

     

Special or unique considerations that influence costs? 
 
 
Explanation: 
 
 
 
  

Ambulatory 33.76

Wheelchair 57.88

N/A



 

Page 27 

2. DO YOU HAVE TRANSPORTATION ALTERNATIVES?      Yes          No 
(Those specific transportation services approved by rule or the Commission as a service not 
normally arranged by the Community Transportation Coordinator, but provided by the 
purchasing agency.  Example: a neighbor providing the trip) 
 
Cost [CTC and Transportation Alternative (Alt.)] 
 

 CTC Alt. #1 Alt. #2 Alt. #3 Alt. #4 
Flat contract rate (s) ($ amount / 
unit) 
 

     

Detail other rates as needed:  (e.g. 
ambulatory, wheelchair, stretcher, 
out-of-county, group) 

     

 
 
 

     

 
 
 
 

     

Special or unique considerations that influence costs? 
 
 
Explanation: 
 
 
 
IS THE CTC IN COMPLIANCE WITH THIS SECTION?       Yes          No 
  



 

Page 28 

RULE 41-2 
Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 29 

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C. 
 
Compliance with Commission Standards 
“...shall adhere to Commission approved standards…” 
 
Review the TDSP for the Commission standards. 

 
Commission Standards 

 
Comments 

 
Local toll free phone number 
must be posted in all vehicles. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Vehicle Cleanliness 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Passenger/Trip Database 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  

All vehicles have the toll free contact information posted
as well as readily available from the driver.

The entire bus is misted with a disinfectant at the end of
the day and all hard surfaces are wiped down, any
debris is removed. Throughout the day surfaces are
wiped as needed between riders.

All information on trips and scheduling is maintained in a
map-based computer software program called Route
Match.



 

Page 30

Adequate seating

Driver Identification

Passenger Assistance

Smoking, Eating and Drinking

All seating is according to manufacturer's recommended
capacity and usage. The driver and passengers are
properly seated using the provided seat restraint
devices. There is also space to accommodate 4
wheelchairs with seat and wheel restraints. Additionally,
rider's utilize spaced seating for social distancing.

When transporting passengers, all drivers will have a
picture identification displayed at all times. Drivers have
name tag and company logo on their uniform and or
person for identification.

Door-to-door service is available to all clients. Drivers
are required to assist all passengers from the door of
their pick-up point onto the vehicle as well as, off the
vehicle and to the door at their destination. Drivers may
not assist wheelchairs up or down more than one step
unless it can be performed safely as determined by the
driver.

All vehicles have a sign posted stating smoking, eating
and drinking is prohibited on board the vehicle.



 

Page 31 

 
Two-way Communications 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Air Conditioning/Heating 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Billing Requirements 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
  

Driver has audible accessibility with base at all times. All
vehicles are equipped with a two-way radio for
communication.

All vehicles are equipped with air conditioners and
heaters. They are regularly maintained and make sure
they are always functioning properly.

All riders are expected to pay fare at the time they
receive services. Passengers must have exact change;
drivers do not carry cash.



 

Page 32 

COMMISSION STANDARDS 
Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 33 

COMPLIANCE WITH 41-2, F.A.C. 
 
Compliance with Local Standards 
“...shall adhere to Commission approved standards...” 
 
Review the TDSP for the Local standards. 
 

 
Local Standards 

 
Comments 

 
Transport of Escorts and 
dependent children policy 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Use, Responsibility, and cost of 
child restraint devices 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Out-of-Service Area trips 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
CPR/1st Aid 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Driver Criminal Background 
Screening 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Rider Personal Property 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Advance reservation 
requirements 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Pick-up Window 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

  

Escorts must be at least 16 years old, limited to one per
rider and pay the standard fare. Dependent children may
be transported if the child is over 5 years old and the
medical appointment is for the child.

Children under 5 must be in an appropriate safety seat.
Child seat may be provided by the transport company if
requested or can be furnished by the rider. Driver is
responsible for properly securing the child and the child
seat.

Out-of-service area trips provided only as approved by LCB
and CTC.

Not required for drivers to be trained.

Criminal background and drug check (with local law
enforcement and Florida Dept. of Law Enforcement) are
done prior to date of hire.

Riders may carry personal property on vehicles if it can be placed
on lap or under seat. Drivers may not handle customer's
property. Exception is shopping trips, customer may have 2-3
bags, and driver may assist to ensure bags are safely stowed on
vehicle.

Trips must be scheduled a minimum of 72 hours prior to
date of travel or 2 weeks in advance of date of travel.

There is a two hour pick-up window prior to appointment
time. Three hours are required for outlying areas.



 

Page 34 

Measurable 
Standards/Goals  

Standard/Goal 
 

Latest Figures 
 

Is the 
CTC/Operator 

meeting the 
Standard? 

 
Public Transit Ridership CTC CTC  

Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
On-time performance CTC CTC  

Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
Passenger No-shows CTC CTC  

Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
Accidents CTC CTC  

Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
Roadcalls 
 
Average age of fleet: 

CTC CTC  
Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
Complaints 
 
Number filed:  

CTC CTC  
Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
Call-Hold Time 
 
 
 

CTC CTC  
Operator A Operator A  
Operator B Operator B  
Operator C Operator C  

 
  

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A

N/A



 

Page 35 

LOCAL STANDARDS 
Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 36 

COMPLIANCE WITH AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 
 
REVIEW COPIES OF THE PUBLIC INFORMATION PROVIDED. 
 
DOES PUBLIC INFORMATION STATE THAT ACCESSIBLE FORMATS ARE 
AVAILABLE UPON REQUEST?          Yes          No 

 
ARE ACCESSIBLE FORMATS ON THE SHELF?        Yes          No 
 

IF NOT, WHAT ARRANGEMENTS ARE IN PLACE TO HAVE MATERIAL 
PRODUCED IN A TIMELY FASHION UPON REQUEST? 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
DO YOU HAVE TTY EQUIPMENT OR UTILIZE THE FLORIDA RELAY SYSTEM?  
   Yes    No 
 
 
 
 
IS THE TTY NUMBER OR THE FLORIDA RELAY SYSTEM NUMBERS LISTED WITH 
THE OFFICE PHONE NUMBER?          Yes          No 
 
 

Florida Relay System: 
Voice- 1-800-955-8770 
TTY-  1-800-955-8771



Page 37

EXAMINE OPERATOR MANUALS AND RIDER INFORMATION.  DO CURRENT 
POLICIES COMPLY WITH ADA PROVISION OF SERVICE REQUIREMENTS 

REGARDING THE FOLLOWING: 

Provision of Service Training 
Provided

Written 
Policy

Neither

Accommodating Mobility Aids

Accommodating Life Support Systems (O2 Tanks, 
IV's...)

Passenger Restraint Policies

Standee Policies (persons standing on the lift)

Driver Assistance Requirements

Personal Care Attendant Policies

Service Animal Policies

Transfer Policies (From mobility device to a seat)

Equipment Operation (Lift and securement 
procedures)

Passenger Sensitivity/Disability Awareness 
Training for Drivers

RANDOMLY SELECT ONE OR TWO VEHICLES PER CONTRACTOR (DEPENDING ON 
SYSTEM SIZE) THAT ARE IDENTIFIED BY THE CTC AS BEING ADA ACCESSIBLE 
AND PURCHASED WITH PRIVATE FUNDING, AFTER 1992.  CONDUCT AN 
INSPECTION USING THE ADA VEHICLE SPECIFICATION CHECKLIST. 

INSPECT FACILITIES WHERE SERVICES ARE PROVIDED TO THE PUBLIC 
(ELIGIBILITY DETERMINATION, TICKET/COUPON SALES, ETC…).

IS A RAMP PROVIDED?     Yes     No

ARE THE BATHROOMS ACCESSIBLE?     Yes     No

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes

Yes Yes



Page 38

Bus and Van Specification Checklist 
Name of Provider: 

Vehicle Number (either VIN or provider fleet number): 

Type of Vehicle: Minivan Van  Bus (>22') 

Minibus (<= 22') Minibus (>22') 

Person Conducting Review: 

Date: 

Review the owner's manual, check the stickers, or ask the driver the following: 
 The lift must have a weight limit of at least 600 pounds. 

 The lift must be equipped with an emergency back-up system (in case of loss of power to 
vehicle).  Is the pole present? 

 The lift must be "interlocked" with the brakes, transmission, or the door, so the lift will 
not move unless the interlock is engaged.  Ensure the interlock is working correctly. 

Have the driver lower the lift to the ground: 
 Controls to operate the lift must require constant pressure. 

 Controls must allow the up/down cycle to be reversed without causing the platform to 
"stow" while occupied. 

 Sufficient lighting shall be provided in the step well or doorway next to the driver, and 
illuminate the street surface around the lift, the lighting should activate when the door/lift 
is in motion.   Turn light switch on, to ensure lighting is working properly. 

Once the lift is on the ground, review the following: 
 Must have an inner barrier to prevent the mobility aid from rolling off the side closest to 
the vehicle until the platform is fully raised. 

 Side barriers must be at least 1 ½ inches high. 

 The outer barrier must be sufficient to prevent a wheelchair from riding over it. 

 The platform must be slip-resistant. 

 Gaps between the platform and any barrier must be no more than 5/8 of an inch. 

 The lift must have two handrails. 

 The handrails must be 30-38 inches above the platform surface. 

 The handrails must have a useable grasping area of 8 inches, and must be at least 1 ½
inches wide and have sufficient knuckle clearance. 

 The platform must be at least 28 1/2 inches wide measured at the platform surface, and 
30 inches wide and 48 inches long measured 2 inches above the platform surface.  

Marion Transit

Vehicle #2111

Liz Mitchell - Ocala Marion TPO

2/10/23



 

Page 39 

 If the ramp is not flush with the ground, for each inch off the ground the ramp must be 8 
inches long. 

 Lifts may be marked to identify the preferred standing position (suggested, not required) 
 

Have the driver bring the lift up to the fully raised position (but not stowed): 
 When in the fully raised position, the platform surface must be horizontally within 5/8 
inch of the floor of the vehicle. 

 The platform must not deflect more than 3 degrees in any direction.  To test this, stand on 
the edge of the platform and carefully jump up and down to see how far the lift sways. 

 The lift must be designed to allow boarding in either direction. 
 

While inside the vehicle: 
 Each securement system must have a clear floor area of 30 inches wide by 48 inches 
long. 

 The securement system must accommodate all common wheelchairs and mobility aids. 

 The securement system must keep mobility aids from moving no more than 2 inches in 
any direction. 

 A seat belt and shoulder harness must be provided for each securement position, and 
must be separate from the security system of the mobility aid. 

 
Vehicles under 22 feet must have: 

 One securement system that can be either forward or rear-facing. 

 Overhead clearance must be at least 56 inches.  This includes the height of doors, the 
interior height along the path of travel, and the platform of the lift to the top of the door. 

 
Vehicles over 22 feet must have: 

 Must have 2 securement systems, and one must be forward-facing, the other can be either 
forward or rear-facing. 

 Overhead clearance must be at least 68 inches.  This includes the height of doors, the 
interior height along the path of travel, and the platform of the lift to the top of the door. 

 
 Aisles, steps, and floor areas must be slip resistant. 

 Steps or boarding edges of lift platforms must have a band of color which contrasts with 
the step/floor surface. 

 



 

Page 40 

COMPLIANCE WITH AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT 

Table 1.  ADA Compliance Review - Provider/Contractor Level of Service Chart 
  

Name of Service 
Provider/ 

Contractor 

 
Total # of 
Vehicles 

Available for 
CTC Service 

 
# of ADA 
Accessible 
Vehicles 

 
Areas/Sub areas 

Served by 
Provider/Contractor 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
BASED ON THE INFORMATION IN TABLE 1, DOES IT APPEAR THAT INDIVIDUALS 
REQUIRING THE USE OF ACCESSIBLE VEHICLES HAVE EQUAL SERVICE?  

     Yes          No 
 

Marion Transit Svcs 47 47 Marion County



 

Page 41 

  
ADA COMPLIANCE  

Findings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendations: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

Page 42 

FY   /  GRANT QUESTIONS 
 

The following questions relate to items specifically addressed in the FY  
 /  Trip and Equipment Grant. 
 
DO YOU KEEP ALL RECORDS PERTAINING TO THE SPENDING OF TDTF DOLLARS 
FOR FIVE YEARS?  (Section 7.10: Establishment and Maintenance of Accounting Records, 
T&E Grant, and FY _________) 
 

 Yes   No 
 
ARE ALL ACCIDENTS THAT HAVE RESULTED IN A FATALITY REPORTED TO THE 
COMMISSION WITHIN 24 HOURS AFTER YOU HAVE RECEIVED NOTICE? (Section 
14.80: Accidents, T/E Grant, and FY _________) 
 

 Yes   No 
 
 
ARE ALL ACCIDENTS THAT HAVE RESULTED IN $1,000 WORTH OF DAMAGE 
REPORTED TO THE COMMISSION WITHIN 72 HOURS AFTER YOU HAVE RECEIVED 
NOTICE OF THE ACCIDENT? (Section 14.80: Accidents, T/E Grant, and FY __________) 
 

 Yes   No 
 

2022 2023

2022 2023

2022-2023

N/A

2022 - 2023



 

Page 43 

STATUS REPORT FOLLOW-UP FROM LAST REVIEW(S) 
 
DATE OF LAST REVIEW:___________          STATUS REPORT DATED: _____________  
 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 
 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 



 

Page 44 

 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 
 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 
 
CTD RECOMMENDATION: 
 
 
 
 
CTC Response: 
 
 
 
 
Current Status: 
 
 
 
 
 













































































































































Page 49

Contractor Survey 

___________County 

Contractor name (optional) 

1. Do the riders/beneficiaries call your facility directly to cancel a trip?

� Yes  � No

2. Do the riders/beneficiaries call your facility directly to issue a complaint?

� Yes  � No

3. Do you have a toll-free phone number for a rider/beneficiary to issue commendations and/or
complaints posted on the interior of all vehicles that are used to transport TD riders? 

� Yes  � No

If yes, is the phone number posted the CTC’s? 

� Yes  � No

4. Are the invoices you send to the CTC paid in a timely manner?

� Yes  � No

5. Does the CTC give your facility adequate time to report statistics?

� Yes  � No

6. Have you experienced any problems with the CTC?

� Yes  � No

If yes, what type of problems?  

Comments: 

Marion

Advocacy Resources

4. Are the invoices you send to the CTC paid in a timely manner?
N/A TO ARC Marion ,











































Page 50

PURCHASING AGENCY SURVEY 
Staff making call:   
Purchasing Agency name:   
Representative of Purchasing Agency: 

1) Do you purchase transportation from the coordinated system?
YES 

NO    If no, why? 

2) Which transportation operator provides services to your clients?

3) What is the primary purpose of purchasing transportation for your clients?
 Medical  

 Employment 

 Education/Training/Day Care 

 Nutritional 

 Life Sustaining/Other 

4) On average, how often do your clients use the transportation system?
7 Days/Week 

 1-3 Times/Month 

1-2 Times/Week  

Less than 1 Time/Month 

3-5 Times/Week 

N/A



Page 51

5) Have you had any unresolved problems with the coordinated transportation system?
 Yes 

No If no, skip to question 7 

6) What type of problems have you had with the coordinated system?
 Advance notice requirement [specify operator (s)] 

 Cost [specify operator (s)] 

 Service area limits [specify operator (s)] 

Pick up times not convenient [specify operator (s)] 

 Vehicle condition [specify operator (s)] 

 Lack of passenger assistance [specify operator (s)] 

 Accessibility concerns [specify operator (s)] 

 Complaints about drivers [specify operator (s)] 

 Complaints about timeliness [specify operator (s)] 

  Length of wait for reservations [specify operator (s)] 

 Other [specify operator (s)] 

7) Overall, are you satisfied with the transportation you have purchased for your clients?
 Yes 

No If no, why? 



Page 52

Level of Cost 
Worksheet 1 

Insert Cost page from the AOR. 



09/08/2022 08:25 AM           Page 16 of 19 

 

CTC Expense Sources 

County: Marion CTC Status: Submitted CTC Organization: Marion Senior 
Services, Inc. 

Fiscal Year: 07/01/2021 - 06/30/2022 CTD Status: Under Review   
 

 Selected Reporting Period Previous Reporting Period 
 CTC & 

Transportation 
Operators 

Coordination 
Contractors 

Total CTC & 
Transportation 

Operators 

Coordination 
Contractors 

Total 

Expense Sources 
Labor $ 1,749,995 $ 109,695 $ 1,859,690 $ 1,538,313 $ 147,128 $ 1,685,441 
Fringe Benefits $ 182,054 $ 7,551 $ 189,605 $ 492,476 $ 30,577 $ 523,053 
Services $ 406,172 $ 0 $ 406,172 $ 9,645 $ 0 $ 9,645 
Materials & Supplies Consumed $ 384,003 $ 25,137 $ 409,140 $ 508,720 $ 23,240 $ 531,960 
Utilities $ 33,850 $ 9,549 $ 43,399 $ 14,699 $ 8,753 $ 23,452 
Casualty & Liability $ 323,897 $ 62,069 $ 385,966 $ 6,578 $ 34,674 $ 41,252 
Taxes $ 24,085 $ 5,957 $ 30,042 $ 388,201 $ 0 $ 388,201 
Miscellaneous $ 71,098 $ 32,269 $ 103,367 $ 827 $ 0 $ 827 
Interest $ 717 $ 0 $ 717 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Leases & Rentals $ 7,057 $ 0 $ 7,057 $ 236 $ 0 $ 236 
Capital Purchases $ 529,768 $ 0 $ 529,768 $ 0 $ 65,516 $ 65,516 
Contributed Services $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Allocated Indirect Expenses $ 16,375 $ 0 $ 16,375 $ 0 $ 0 $ 0 
Purchased Transportation Services 
Bus Pass $ 0 N/A $ 0 $ 0 N/A $ 0 
School Board (School Bus) $ 0 N/A $ 0 $ 0 N/A $ 0 
Transportation Network Companies (TNC) $ 0 N/A $ 0 $ 0 N/A $ 0 
Taxi $ 0 N/A $ 0 $ 0 N/A $ 0 
Contracted Operator $ 0 N/A $ 0 $ 0 N/A $ 0 
Total - Expense Sources $ 3,729,071 $ 252,227 $ 3,981,298 $ 2,959,695 $ 309,888 $ 3,269,583 

 
 
 
  



Page 53

Level of Competition 
Worksheet 2 

1. Inventory of Transportation Operators in the Service Area

Column A
Operators 
Available

Column B
Operators 

Contracted in the 
System.

Column C
Include Trips

Column D
% of all Trips

Private Non-Profit

Private For-Profit

Government

Public Transit 
Agency
Total

2. How many of the operators are coordination contractors?

3. Of the operators included in the local coordinated system, how many have the capability
of expanding capacity?

Does the CTC have the ability to expand? 

4. Indicate the date the latest transportation operator was brought into the system.

5. Does the CTC have a competitive procurement process?

6. In the past five (5) years, how many times have the following methods been used in
selection of the transportation operators?

Low bid Requests for proposals
Requests for qualifications Requests for interested parties
Negotiation only

Which of the methods listed on the previous page was used to select the current 
operators? 

5

5

2

N/A

Yes

N/A

Yes

None

N/A

X



Page 54

7. Which of the following items are incorporated in the review and selection of
transportation operators for inclusion in the coordinated system? 

Capabilities of operator Scope of Work
Age of company Safety Program
Previous experience Capacity
Management Training Program
Qualifications of staff Insurance
Resources Accident History
Economies of Scale Quality
Contract Monitoring Community Knowledge
Reporting Capabilities Cost of the Contracting Process
Financial Strength Price
Performance Bond Distribution of Costs
Responsiveness to Solicitation Other: (list)

8. If a competitive bid or request for proposals has been used to select the transportation
operators, to how many potential operators was the request distributed in the most
recently completed process?

How many responded? 

The request for bids/proposals was distributed: 

Locally Statewide Nationally

9. Has the CTC reviewed the possibilities of competitively contracting any services other
than transportation provision (such as fuel, maintenance, etc…)?

None

N/A

N/A N/A N/A

Yes

X



Page 55

Level of Availability (Coordination) 
Worksheet 3 

Planning – What are the coordinated plans for transporting the TD population? 

Public Information – How is public information distributed about transportation services in 
the community? 

Certification – How are individual certifications and registrations coordinated for local TD 
transportation services? 

Eligibility Records – What system is used to coordinate which individuals are eligible for 
special transportation services in the community? 

Plans are coordinated between Marion Transit Services and the LCB.

Marion Senior Services has an outreach division that distributes brochures, and ads.
The website, web links and bus decals that provide MT's name and phone number are
utilized.

Certification is given to Seniors over 60, persons with disabilities, low income, children
at risk, disadvantaged residents with priority given to those who do not own or drive a
vehicle and do not have family or friends to assist them and live within designated TD
funding area.

The criteria is based on where the rider resides, there is also a vetting process that
considers physical ability, age, medical conditions, and income level.



Page 56

Call Intake – To what extent is transportation coordinated to ensure that a user can reach a 
Reservationist on the first call? 

Reservations – What is the reservation process?  How is the duplication of a reservation 
prevented? 

Trip Allocation – How is the allocation of trip requests to providers coordinated? 

Scheduling – How is the trip assignment to vehicles coordinated? 

There is an automated system that answers and places them in a waiting pattern until
one of the reservationists is available. There are three (3) reservationists taking calls at
any given time.

Reservationist utilizes a system (RouteMatch) that confirms the customer is an existing
rider, schedules the trip in the system and triggers an alert should there be a
duplication. If it is a new customer it is determined what funding will be utilized and
proper scheduling procedure is followed.

N/A

A trip scheduler assigns by geographic location utilizing RouteMatch.



Page 57

Transport – How are the actual transportation services and modes of transportation 
coordinated? 

Dispatching – How is the real time communication and direction of drivers coordinated? 

General Service Monitoring – How is the overseeing of transportation operators 
coordinated? 

Daily Service Monitoring – How are real-time resolutions to trip problems coordinated? 

The RouteMatch system allocates trips according to trip type and time of day.

Drivers are given a manifest with a list of scheduled riders in the morning. They
maintain communication and results throughout the day with the RouteMatch system on
tablets and two-way communication as needed.

The CTC oversees the managers and the managers oversee the operators.

Dispatchers utilize RouteMatch system to identify nearby drivers available to lend
assistance. Drivers have two-way communication systems on the buses and dispatch
is in contact with them at any time.



 

Page 58 

 
Trip Reconciliation – How is the confirmation of official trips coordinated? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Billing – How is the process for requesting and processing fares, payments, and reimbursements 
coordinated? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Reporting – How is operating information reported, compiled, and examined? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Cost Resources – How are costs shared between the coordinator and the operators (s) in order 
to reduce the overall costs of the coordinated program? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

A trip manager confirms all trips daily and verifies that the information on the manifest is
accurate.

All payment methods are coordinated by the trips manager. The trips manager
coordinates with the rider to ensure they are aware of their financial obligation
pertaining to their upcoming trip.

The RouteMatch system maintains all data required. Data is compiled according to
CTD guidelines and submitted based on deadlines.

 N/A Operators are not utilized.



 

Page 59 

Information Resources – How is information shared with other organizations to ensure 
smooth service provision and increased service provision? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Overall – What type of formal agreement does the CTC have with organizations, which provide 
transportation in the community? 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 

The outreach program, website, brochures distributed to local merchants,
neighborhoods and through the mail, in-person presentations. There is continuous
communication and coordination with SunTran for client vetting and route optimization.

Suntran, MT handles their ADA clients.



 

1 1101 S.W. 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471 / 352-620-3519 
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\2022 Agency Contact Letter.docx 

January 31, 2023 

Florida Department of Transportation, District Five 
Attn:  Ms. Diane Poitras, Transit Programs Administrator 
420 W. Landstreet RD 
Orlando, FL  32824 
 
RE: AGENCY CONTACT INFORMATION 
 
To:  District Five 
 
 
This letter provides certification of the current agency contacts: 
 

Ms. Jennifer Martinez, Executive Director – jmartinez@marionseniorservices.org 
Mr. Clayton Murch, Transportation Director – cmurch@marionseniorservices.org 
Ms. Tamara Grant-Powell, Finance Director – tpowell@marionseniorservices.org 
Mr. Herman Schulz, Transit Manager – hschulz@marionseniorservices.org 
Ms. Karen Eads, Trips Manager – kwilliams@marionseniorservices.org 
Mr. Ken McKelvy, Transit Manager – kmckelvy@marionseniorservices.org  

 

Sincerely, 
 
 
______________________________ 
Clayton Murch, Transportation Director 
 



















































Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

1

GRIEVANCE PROCEDURES 
OCALA MARION TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED LOCAL COORDINATING BOARD 

Article 1: Preamble 

The following will set forth the grievance procedures which shall serve to guide the Ocala 
Marion TPO Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB).  The Community 
Transportation Coordinator (CTC) will receive and attempt to satisfy any concerns by any 
person(s).  If for any reason the complainant is not satisfied with the resolution determined by 
the CTC then the procedures herein will assist in acquiring a satisfactory resolution.  This will 
provide procedures and policies for fulfilling the requirements of chapter 427, Florida Statutes, 
Rule 41-2 of the Florida Administrative Code (FAC), and subsequent laws setting forth 
requirements for the establishment of grievance procedures. 
 
Article II: Name and Purpose 

Name: The Grievance Committee is a Subcommittee of the Transportation Disadvantaged Local 
Coordinating Board, but will hereinafter be referred to as the Grievance Subcommittee.   

Purpose: The primary purpose of the Grievance Subcommittee is to process, investigate and 
make recommendations to any and all unresolved grievances and/or complaints. To provide a 
formal grievance process by the TDLCB to address concerns by any person or agency including 
but not limited to, users, potential users, agencies, and other interested parties.  The Grievance 
Subcommittee will provide a mechanism for issues to be brought before the committee which 
shall meet as often as necessary to address unresolved complaints in a timely manner.   
 
Article III: Definitions 

1. Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC): An entity and or person appointed to 
ensure that coordinated transportation services are provided to the transportation 
disadvantaged population in a designated service area. 

2. A Grievance is defined as any ongoing service problem that interferes with accessing a 
major life activity, such as work, healthcare, employment, education, shopping, social 
activities, or other life sustaining activities. 

3. Service Complaint:  Any routine incidents and/or dissatisfaction that occur, are reported 
to the driver, dispatcher, or other individuals involved with the daily operations, and are 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

2

resolved within the course of a reasonable time period suitable to the complainant. 
Service complaints may include but are not limited to: 

a. Late trips (late pickup, late drop off, and/or late returns) 
b. No-show by Transportation Operator 
c. No-show by client 
d. Client Behavior 
e. Driver Behavior 
f. Passenger discomfort 
g. Refusal of service to client for any reason 
  

4. Formal Grievances:  A written complaint to document any concerns or an unresolved 
service complaint regarding the operation or administration of TD services by the 
Transportation Operator, Community Transportation Coordinator, agencies, or Local 
Coordinating Board. Formal Grievances may include, but are not limited to: 

a. Chronic or unresolved service complaints 
b. Violation of specific laws governing the provision of Transportation 

Disadvantaged Services (i.e., Chapter 427 of Florida Statutes, Chapter 41-2 of 
Florida Administrative Code and accompanying documents, Sunshine Law and/or 
ADA violations) 

c. Contract disputes (Agencies/Operators) 
d. Bidding disputes 
e. Agency compliance 
f. Conflicts of interest 
g. Supplanting of funds 
h. Billing and/or accounting procedure violation 
i. Denials of applications for paratransit services 
 

Article IV: Membership 

1. Members of the Grievance Subcommittee shall serve on a voluntary basis and shall 
consist of at least five (5) voting members. 

 
2. Each member of the Grievance Subcommittee shall serve at the discretion of the TDLCB.   

 
3. The CTC shall not serve on the Grievance Subcommittee.   

 
4. Grievance Subcommittee members will meet if a grievance is brought before the 

committee.  
 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

3

5. When a meeting of the Grievance Subcommittee is necessary, staff to the TPO shall 
schedule the meeting.  Meetings shall be held at the time and place as the Grievance 
Subcommittee may determine. 

 
6. The Members shall serve a term of one year, with allowances for multiple terms. 

7. The Grievance Subcommittee shall elect a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson. 

8. A simple majority shall be present in any official action.   
 

9. No voting member will have a vote on an issue that is deemed a conflict of interest. 
 
Article V: Filing Complaints and Grievances – STEP 1 

10. All formal grievances must contain the following: 

a. Must submit in writing 
b. Name and address of complainant 
- A clear and concise statement of the grounds for the grievance and 

supplemented by supporting documentation 
- Exact date and time of incident 
- Exact location of incident 
- Any witnesses to incident (including name and address) 
- Vehicle unit number, license number, color and type 
- Any other information affiliated with the complaint  
c. An explanation by the complainant of the improvements needed to address the 

complaint 

All written complaints can be sent to: 

Marion Senior Services 
1101 SW 20th Court 
Ocala, Florida  34471
 

A complaint form has been created (see page 8) indicating all of the above-mentioned 
items.

11. The CTC must post the contact person and telephone number for access to information 
regarding reporting service complaints or filing a formal grievance in each of their 
vehicles in plain view of riders. 

12. The CTC will have ten (10) working days from the date of notification of the complaint to 
address or investigate the problem.   



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

4

13. The CTC will investigate the problem and respond in writing, within ten (10) working 
days of notification to the complainant as to what action was taken.  Such action will 
contain an explanation of the facts that lead to the CTC’s decision and provide a method 
or ways to bring about a resolution. 
 

14. The Grievance Subcommittee and TDLCB Board will receive a copy of all grievances and 
responses. 

 
Article VI: Appeal Process – STEP 2 

1. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the CTC’s response and/or recommendation 
they may file an appeal with the Grievance Subcommittee.   

2. The complainant may only file after they have sought satisfaction directly from the 
CTC and received a response.  Complainant must demonstrate that they have 
unsuccessfully attempted to resolve the issue with the CTC.  Every effort will be 
made by the CTC to resolve service problems.  However, if unable to resolve the 
problem and/or the complainant wishes to take further action, then the CTC will 
provide the complainant with assistance in following the Grievance Procedures. 

3. The appeal must be filed within ten (10) days from the date of notification of final 
decision from the CTC. 

The appeal must be in writing and addressed to: 
 

Ocala Marion Transportation Planning Organization 
ATTN: TDLCB Grievance Subcommittee 
2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. 
Ocala, Florida 34470 
 

4. Once an appeal has been received, the Grievance Subcommittee shall meet and 
render its recommendation within thirty (30) working days of the date the appeal 
was filed.   
 

5. The complainant shall be notified in writing of the mutually agreed upon date, time 
and place where the appeal shall be heard.  This written notice shall be mailed at 
least ten (10) working days in advance of the meeting. 

 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

5

6. A written recommendation will be rendered to all parties involved within ten (10) 
working days from the date of the recommendation and will include the following, in 
writing: 

a. Statement that a meeting was held and the involved parties were given an 
opportunity to present their position(s). 

b. The issues discussed and clearly defined 
c. Reason(s) for the recommendation based on the information provided 

7. Grievance Subcommittee must report all grievances and recommendations to the 
full Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board.

Article VII: Appeal to the Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board – STEP 3 

1. If the complainant is dissatisfied with the recommendation of the Grievance 
Subcommittee he/she may continue the appeal process with the TDLCB as follows. 

2. The appeal must be in writing and filed within ten (10) working days from the date of 
final recommendation from the Grievance Subcommittee. 

3. Appeal to the TDLCB can only be filed after the complainant has sought satisfaction 
directly from the Grievance Subcommittee. 

4. The appeal should demonstrate a clear violation of a specific law, regulation, contractual 
agreement, or circumstance. 

Address all appeals to: 

Ocala Marion Transportation Planning Organization 
ATTN: TDLCB  
2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. 
Ocala, Florida 34470 
 

5. Once an appeal has been received, the TDLCB shall meet and render its 
recommendation within sixty (60) working days of the date the appeal was filed.   

6. The complainant shall be notified in writing of the mutually agreed upon date, time and 
place where the appeal shall be heard.  This written notice shall be mailed at least ten 
(10) working days in advance of the meeting. 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

6

7. A written recommendation will be rendered to all parties involved within ten (10) 
working days from the date of the recommendation and will include the following, in 
writing: 

a. Statement that a meeting was held and the involved parties were given an 
opportunity to present their position(s). 

b. The issues discussed and clearly defined 
c. Reason(s) for the recommendation based on the information provided 

Article VIII: Appeal to the Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged – STEP 4 

If the complainant is dissatisfied with the recommendation of the TDLCB, he/she may 
continue the process with the TD Ombudsman Program by calling the following number(s):  
1-800-983-2435.  For hearing and speech impaired customers call, 711 (Florida Only) Florida 
Relay System or (850) 410-5708 for TTY via written correspondence to: 

Florida Commission for the Transportation Disadvantaged 
Attn: Ombudsman Program 
605 Suwannee Street, MS-49 
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0450 

Article IX:  General 

The Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board Grievance Procedures may be 
amended by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of members present, if a quorum exists, and all Members 
have been notified of proposed changes at least seven (7) working days in advance of the 
meeting. 

The implementation of these rules and procedures will ensure quality control and the ability to 
provide an impartial body to hear complaints and submit recommendations regarding the 
grievance as indicated. 

Apart from this grievance/appeal process, aggrieved parties with proper standing may also have 
recourse through Chapter 120, Florida Statutes Administrative Hearing Process, or the judicial 
court system.





Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

8

COMPLAINT FORM  
OCALA MARION TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED LOCAL COORDINATING BOARD  

Complainant(s) Name: 
 
 

Complainant(s) Address: 

Complainant(s) Phone Number: 
 
 

Complainant(s) Email: 

 
Complainant(s) Representative’s Name, Address, Phone Number and Relationship (e.g. friend, attorney, parent, etc.):

 
 
Names of the Individual(s) Whom You Allege a Complaint Against (If Known): 
 
 
Name and Address of Agency, Institution, or Department Whom You Allege a Complaint Against: 
 
 
 

Please list the name(s) and phone number(s) of any person, if known, that can be contacted for additional information to support or clarify your 
allegation(s): 
 
 
 
Please explain as clearly as possible HOW, WHY, WHEN and WHERE is your alleged complaint.  Include as much information as possible.  Additional 
pages may be attached if needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Please indicate what would be an acceptable resolution: 

Please submit to:  Address in the step process      Additional Pages are attached. 

Date of incident: Vehicle Unit/License No.-Color-Type Time of Incident: 
 
 

Complainant(s) or Complainant(s) Representatives Signature: Date of Signature: 
 
 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

9

TDLCB COMPLAINT TRACKING FORM 

Name of Complainant: ________________________________________________________                                  

COMPLAINT TO THE CTC –STEP 1  File Number ___________________ 

Date of 1st. Complaint: ___________________ Date of 1st. Resolution: _________________ 

Action Taken (including date of letter):______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPEAL = COMPLAINT TO THE TDLCB GRIEVANCE SUBCOMMITTEE – STEP 2 

Date of 2nd Complaint: _________________ Date of 2nd Resolution: _________________ 
Date of Subcommittee Hearing: ______________________ 
 
Action Taken (including date of letter):______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 
APPEAL = COMPLAINT TO THE TDLCB – STEP 3 

Date of 3rd Complaint: __________________ Date of 3rd Resolution: _________________ 
Date of TDLCB Hearing: ________________________ 
 
Action Taken (including date of letter):______________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
 



Ocala Marion TPO Grievance Procedures 
Adopted – December 8, 2022                                                                                                            

10

APPEAL = TO THE COMMISSION FOR THE TRANSPORTATION DISADVANTAGED – STEP 4 

Date sent: ___________________ 



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

American with Disabilities Act  
Transportation-Related ADA Policies and Procedures 

 
Marion Transit is committed to complying with all applicable provisions of the Americans with 
Disabilities Act, as amended (ADA), and applicable state and local laws and maintains liability 
coverage for required services to individuals with disabilities. It is Marion Transit’s policy not to 
discriminate against any participant or employee regarding any terms or conditions of their 
participation with programs at Marion Senior Services, Inc. and access to services provided 
within, including transportation, on the basis of such individual’s disability. 
 
Consistent with this policy of non-discrimination, Marion Transit, will provide reasonable 
accommodations to an individual with a disability, as defined in the ADA or applicable law, who 
has made Marion Transit aware of his or her disability at intake, unless doing so would cause 
an undue hardship to the agency.  
 
The agency also wishes to participate in a timely, good faith, interactive process with a 
disabled participant to determine effective reasonable accommodations, if any, which can be 
made in response to a request for accommodations. Requests should be made to the 
Transportation Director. By working together in good faith, the Agency hopes to implement 
any reasonable accommodations that are appropriate and consistent with its legal 
obligations. 
 
Any participant who has questions regarding this policy or believes that he or she has been 
discriminated against based on a disability should notify the Transportation Director or Human 
Services Director.  All such inquiries or complaints will be treated as confidential to the greatest 
extent possible and will only be disclosed on a need-to-know basis. 
Terms Used in This Policy 
As used in this ADA policy, the following terms have the indicated meaning: 

Disability: A physical or mental impairment that substantially limits one or more 
major life activities of the individual, a record of such an impairment, or being 
regarded as having such an impairment. 
Major life activities: Term includes caring for oneself, performing manual tasks, 
seeing, hearing, eating, sleeping, walking, standing, lifting, bending, speaking, 
breathing, learning, reading, concentrating, thinking, communicating and working. 
Substantially limiting: In accordance with the ADA final regulations, the determination 
of whether an impairment substantially limits a major life activity requires an 
individualized assessment, and an impairment that is episodic or in remission may also 
meet the definition of disability if it would substantially limit a major life activity when 
active. Some examples of these types of impairments may include epilepsy, 
hypertension, asthma, diabetes, major depressive disorder, bipolar disorder and 
schizophrenia. An impairment, such as cancer that is in remission but that may possibly 
return in a substantially limiting form, is also considered a disability under EEOC final 
ADA regulations. 



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

Reasonable accommodation:  Includes any changes or adjustments to the human 
services transportation program and may include making existing transportation 
services readily accessible to and usable by individuals with disabilities. 
Undue hardship: An action requiring significant difficulty or expense by Marion 
Transit in determining whether an accommodation would impose an undue 
hardship on Marion Transit factors to be considered include: 

o The nature and cost of the accommodation. 

o The overall financial resources of the facility or facilities involved in the 
provision of the reasonable accommodation, the number of persons affected, 
the effect on expenses and resources, or the impact of such accommodation on 
the operation of the facility. 

o The type of operations of the agency, including its composition, structure and 
functions. 

Right to Use Marion Transit Transportation Services 

Transportation services will not be denied to any participant with a disability, if the individual 
is capable of using the service and abides by Marion Transit rider rules (see below).  

Marion Transit further does not require an individual with a disability to use designated priority 
seats, if the individual does not choose to use these seats. 

Marion Transit does not require that an individual with a disability be accompanied by an 
attendant. 

Rules for Rider Conduct 

Marion Transit may refuse service to any individual who engages in violent, seriously 
disruptive, or illegal conduct, or represents a direct threat to the health or safety of others. 

The definition of “direct threat” is intended to be interpreted consistently with the 
parallel definition in the Department of Justice regulations. That is, CFR, Title 49, Part 
37 does not require a public entity to permit an individual to participate in or benefit 
from the services, programs, or activities of that public entity when that individual 
poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others. In determining whether an 
individual poses a direct threat to the health or safety of others, a public entity must 
make an individualized assessment, based on reasonable judgment that relies on 
current medical knowledge or on the best available objective evidence, to ascertain: 
the nature, duration, and severity of the risk, the probability that the potential injury 
will actually occur, and whether reasonable modifications of policies, practices, or 
procedures or the provision of auxiliary aids or services will mitigate the risk. 

Marion Transit strictly prohibits the use of alcohol and/or drugs, and/or the possession of a 
firearm/weapon by any participant while on board a vehicle. The use of drugs and/or alcohol or 
the possession of a firearm/weapon will result in immediate discharge. 

Marion Transit Drivers will make reasonable attempts resolve issues with riders. If service is 
denied, the Driver will document the incident or incidents leading to the service denial on the 
incident Report (see Exhibit A Incident Report), substantiating how such an incident rises to 
the level of seriously disruptive behavior or a direct threat. 

Marion Transit “Rider Disciplinary Policy” covers this in more depth and should be referred to.      



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

 

Boarding and Securement: Policies and Procedures for Wheelchair-Bound Participants 
 

It is the policy of Marion Transit to comply with all the legal requirements of Federal and State 
laws and regulations as they pertain to individuals with disabilities. Marion Transit transit 
program provides quality transportation services without discrimination to all persons, 
including individuals with disabilities. Service is provided in a manner that meets the following 
goals: 

1. Provide safe, accessible and dignified services to all persons. 

2. Expedite the safe and efficient boarding, securing, transporting and alighting of all 
passengers, regardless of mobility status. 

3. Accommodate the wide range of mobility aids within the confines of available 
vehicles and standard equipment. 

4. Minimize potential damage to mobility aids and transit system equipment in 
the process. 

Marion Transit’s transit program has the capacity to carry a wheelchair and occupant. A 
wheelchair is defined as a mobility aid belonging to any class of three or four-wheeled devices 
used by individuals with mobility impairments, whether operated manually or powered. A 
“common wheelchair” does not exceed 30 inches in width and 48 inches in length measured 
two inches above the ground and does not weight more than 800 or 1000 pounds when 
occupied based on the capacity of the bus lift. 

Marion Transit does not allow Segway personal transportation devices onto transportation 
vehicles, nor does the agency allow such devices in its offices.   

Boarding: Drivers and scheduling practices will provide adequate time for a passenger with a 
disability to board and/or disembark the vehicle. It is the responsibility of the driver to 
determine the safest location for passenger boarding based on conditions and individual needs 
upon arrival at the pick-up site. The passenger will maneuver the mobility aid to the vehicle. 
Only a properly trained transit employee can operate the lift, secure the wheelchair on the lift 
and in the securement station.   

 

A person with a disability who is not using a wheelchair or other seated mobility aid may use 
the lift to board or alight the vehicle upon request. 

Drivers will make themselves available for assistance to persons with disabilities and will assist 
upon request of the passenger. Drivers will leave their seat to assist a passenger with using the 
vehicle ramp, lift and/or securement systems. Drivers will use the accessibility-related 
equipment and features on their vehicles. 

Securement: Securement of the “common wheelchair” class of mobility device is the 
responsibility of the driver and drivers will be trained in the proper operation of all securement 
equipment based on manufacturer specifications. Marion Transit utilizes universal tie-downs 
to secure mobility devices. 

Marion Transit shall respond to requests for reasonable modification to policies and practices 
consistent with its transportation program, unless the request would fundamentally alter the 
nature of Marion Transit’s services, programs or activities. All requests for modification are to 



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

be in writing (any format) with the name of the individual requesting modification and other 
relevant contact information and shall be delivered to the Transportation Director.  Forms are 
also available on the www.mariontransit.org website.   

ADA Complaint Procedures 

Marion Transit’s Transportation Director and leadership staff are responsible for ADA 
grievances. The ADA Coordinator is the Transportation Director as the ADA Coordinator’s 
alternate is the Human Resources Director to address the agency’s compliance with ADA 
regulations as it relates to the transportation program and ADA transportation related 
concerns and grievances. 

No later than 60 days from the date of the alleged discrimination of a qualified disabled 
individual shall, solely by reason of such disability, be excluded from the participation in, 
be denied the benefits of or be subjected to discrimination in programs, services or 
activities sponsored by Marion Senior Services, Inc.

 
Transportation related ADA concerns, grievances or complaints are required to be submitted to 
Transportation Director at 1101 SW 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471 on the agency’s Complaint 
Form (see Exhibit B for complete instructions on the process).  This form is also available on the 
agency website www.mariontransit.org 
 
Note:  Clients may appeal any action by Marion Transit with regards to paratransit service within 
10 days by submitting a written appeal to:  Executive Director, Marion Senior Services, Inc., 1101 
S.W. 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471.  The rider will be notified after a complete investigation 
within 5 working days after the written appeal request.  

Equipment for Accessible Service 

Marion Transit shall ensure that vehicle operators and other personnel are thoroughly trained 
on the operation and make use of accessibility-related equipment or features required by Part 
38 of this title and shall maintain in operative condition those features of facilities and vehicles 
that are required to make the vehicles and facilities readily accessible to and usable by 
individuals with disabilities. These features include lifts and other means of access to vehicles, 
securement devices, signage and systems to facilitate communications with persons with 
impaired vision or hearing. 

Marion Transit shall establish a system of regular and frequent maintenance checks of lifts 
sufficient to determine if they are operative (this is part of the Daily Pre/Post Trip Inspection 
conducted on every vehicle). Drivers are required to immediately report to the Transit  
Manager any failure of a lift or other accessibility feature. Accessibility features shall be 
repaired promptly if they are damaged or out of order. When an accessibility feature is out  
of order, Marion Transit shall take reasonable steps to accommodate individuals with 
disabilities who would otherwise use the feature. 

 

 

 



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

 

Vehicle accessibility features include: 

Lifts and ramps 
Mobility aid securement areas and systems 
Lighting 
Seatbelts and/or shoulder harnesses (required to be used by all passengers) 
Signage 

Facility features include: 
Signage 
Accessible paths to and within facilities 
Ramps 

Wheelchairs and Other Mobility Devices 

Marion Transit’s transit program has the capacity to carry a wheelchair and occupant. Marion 
Transit does not allow Segway personal transportation devices onto transportation vehicles, 
nor does the agency allow such devices in its Centers. 

Service Animals 

Marion Transit allows passengers to bring a service animal.  When booking a trip, riders should 
advise reservations they will have a service animal riding with them.    

Effective Communications 

Marion Transit will make every accommodation to communicate with persons who have 
disabilities affecting hearing, speaking, reading, writing or comprehension, as long as the 
accommodation does not place an undue burden upon the organization.  

ADA Training for Employees 

Marion Transit has designed a training program that provides complete information on 
accessibility-related equipment and accommodations required by the ADA training is 
thoroughly define in the agency’s Transportation Operating Policies and Procedures (Exhibit 
C). Employees further acknowledge that they have received and read the agency’s 
transportation-related ADA Policy as documented with Exhibit D and is include in driver 
training files.  
ADA training ensures that employees understand the importance of keeping equipment and 
accommodations in good working order and that employee provide excellent customer 
service to people with disabilities. The training program: 

Covers all aspects of service delivery; 
Includes regular updates as necessary on new technologies and refresher in-service 
training on serving people with disabilities; 
Addresses both technical tasks (operating all accessibility equipment and features) and 
human relations (providing assistance to individuals with disabilities in boarding, 
alighting and securement, sensitivity & etiquette in serving persons with disabilities, 
communicating with individuals with different types of disabilities); and, 
Vehicle mechanics (maintaining all accessibility equipment and keeping maintenance 
and repair records). 

 



MARIONTRANSIT
 

Mission: “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.   
 

Marion Transit’s Transportation Director, reporting to the Marion Senior Services, Inc. 
Executive Director, is responsible for the oversight of the transportation program, including its 
policies and procedures, and supervising employees to ensure they provide proper and 
consistent levels of service to individuals with disabilities. 

Description of Services and Scheduling Rides 

Transportation services are offered Monday – Friday from 5:00 a.m. to *7:00 p.m. 
transportation service requests are to be made up to 2 weeks but not less than prior day in 
advance of your appointment time.  Transportation requests must be made by calling 
Reservations at 352-620-3072 Monday through Friday 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m.  

(*ADA & Dialysis riders may make special request with Reservations)   

Reasonable Modifications Requests 

Marion Transit shall respond to requests for reasonable modification to policies and practices 
consistent with its transportation program, unless the request would fundamentally alter the 
nature of Marion Transit’s services, programs or activities. All requests for modification are to 
be in writing (any format) with the name of the individual requesting modification and other 
relevant contact information and shall be delivered to the Transportation Director.  Forms are 
also available on the agency website www.mariontransit.org 

Use of Cell Phones 

Each Driver has read and signed acknowledging the use of cell phone policy which forbids use 
of cell phones while driving.    

Ridership by Unaccompanied Minors 
Marion Transit provides transportation to unaccompanied minors as long as the minor is 
accompanied by an adult. Unaccompanied minors (ages 15 and above) are provided 
transportation services to/from school activities and/or doctor’s appointments with prior 
approval/permission granted by the minor’s parent/guardian. 
 
Travel Attendants 
Marion Transit allows for participants to be accompanied by travel attendants in the event that 
it is necessary, and the vehicle is not to capacity. Prior knowledge of ridership by a participant 
traveling with an attendant is necessary to make sure the vehicle is not to capacity. 

Food and/or Beverage Consumption 

There is no consumption of food and/or beverages permitted on Marion Transit vehicles. 

Bicycles and Strollers 

Marion Transit makes all reasonable accommodations for bicycles and strollers as appropriate. 

Oxygen and Other Health Aids 
Marion Transit does not prohibit an individual with a disability from traveling with a respirator or 
portable oxygen supply, as long as the health aid is classified as a portable oxygen concentrator 
as defined in 49 CFR, 177.870(e). 

 
 
 

      ***END*** 



MARIONTRANSIT
A DIVISION OF 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. 
 

1 
Rev 1/2023 

Title VI Complaint Form 
Or 

ADA Complaint Form 
(Circle One) 

Consistent with Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and the Americans with Disabilities Act 
of 1990 (ADA), the Agency has designated an individual as the Title VI/ADA Coordinator. The 
Coordinator is responsible for accepting complaints of discrimination on the basis of race, color, 
national origin, sex, age, disability, religion and family status in the provision of services, 
activities, programs, or benefits provided by the Agency.

A Complaint shall be submitted in writing within the following time frames:

Title VI: No later than 180 days from the date of the alleged discrimination based on 
race, color, religion, sex or national origin. 

ADA: No later than 60 days from the date of the alleged discrimination of a qualified 
disabled individual shall, solely by reason of such disability, be excluded from the 
participation in, be denied the benefits of or be subjected to discrimination in programs, 
services or activities sponsored by Marion Senior Services.  

Complaints shall include the name, address, and phone number of the complainant, along with 
the location, date and description of the problem. Complaints shall be processed in accordance 
with the applicable law.

Note:  Marion Senior Services, Inc. does not discriminate based on race, color, national origin, 
sex, age, disability, religion or family status in any program or service. Persons with questions 
about nondiscrimination or those needing special accommodations under the ADA or language 
services should contact Transportation Director (352) 620-3071.

Please submit this form in person at the address below, or mail this form to:

Marion Transit Services a Division of Marion Senior Services, Inc.
ATTN: Transportation Director
1101 SW 20th Court
Ocala, FL 34471



MARIONTRANSIT
A DIVISION OF 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. 
 

2 
Rev 1/2023 

Submit a Civil Rights Title VI/ADA Complaint:

Section I
Name: _______________________________________________________________________

Address: _____________________________________________________________________

Telephone (Home): _____________________________ Work: _________________________

Electronic Mail Address: _________________________________________________________

Accessible Format Requirements (Circle):
Large Print       Audio Tape TDD         Other

Section II
Are you filling this complaint on your own behalf?               [   ] Yes*                    [   ] No
*If you answered “yes” to this question, go to Section III
If not, please supply the name and relationship of the person for whom you are complaining for:

Name ______________________________________ Relationship______________________ _

Please explain why you have filed for a third party:

Please confirm that you have obtained the permission of the aggrieved party if you are filing on 
behalf of a third party.                                                                    [   ] Yes                        [   ] No

Section III
I believe the discrimination I experienced was based on (check all that applies):
[   ] Race [   ] Color   [   ] National Origin [   ] Gender [   ] Religion [   ] Disability [   ] Age 
[   ] Family Status

Date of Alleged Discrimination (Month, Day, Year) 
_______________________________________________

Explain as clearly as possible what happened and why you believe you discriminated against. 
Describe all persons who were involved. Include the name and contact information of the person 
(s) who discriminated against you (if known) as well as names and contact information of any 
witnesses. Please include any other information that would assist us in our investigation of the 
allegations. Please also provide any other documentation that is relevant to this complaint. 
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________



MARIONTRANSIT
A DIVISION OF 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. 
 

3 
Rev 1/2023 

Section IV
Have you filed this complaint with any other Federal, State, or local agency, or with any Federal 
or State court?
[   ] Yes                     [   ] No
If yes, check all that apply:
[   ] Federal Agency                          [   ] State Agency
[   ] Federal Court                    [   ] Local Agency
[   ] State Court

Please provide information about a contact person at the agency/court where the complaint was 
filed.

Name: ________________________________________________________________________ 

Title: _________________________________________________________________________

Agency:_______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________

Address: ______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________________

Telephone: ____________________________________________________________________

Section V  
Name of the agency complaint is against: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

Contact Person:________________________________________________________________________  

Title: _________________________________________________________________________ 

Telephone Number:_____________________________________________________________________  

You may attach any written materials or other information that you think is relevant to your 
complaint.

Signature and date required below.

Signature___________________________________Date______________________  
 



1101 S.W. 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471 352-620-3519 
 
 

Marion Transit 
Performance Measures 

Timing of advanced scheduling requests 
Marion Transit takes reservations at least three working days before appointment and up to two weeks 
in advance.  Currently our county demographics play a large part in this, however, with new scheduling 
software (currently in acquisition) Marion Transit will strive to reduce the minimum days required to 
schedule service. 
 

On-time passenger pick-up 
Random manifests are reviewed periodically to monitor on-time performance.  Adjustments are made 
after reviewing and discussed with the drivers for improved performance.  Those passengers who live in 
outlying areas of Marion County are required to make their appointments during a window of time that 
allows transit to be able to pick them up and deliver them in a timely manner.  This window may be 
adjusted to accommodate the client when there is not another alternative.  Marion Transit is in 
negotiations to purchase and install updated scheduling software that will help improve this as well as 
provide a more detailed “real-time” analysis.            
 

Improved routing to minimize passenger wait times 
It is one of the goals of Marion Transit to minimize passenger dwell time.  We monitor this through rider 
surveys and driving time logs.  Marion Transit is in negotiations to purchase and install updated scheduling 
software that will help improve this as well as provide a more detailed “real-time” analysis.    
 

Error rates for passenger pick-up and drop-off  
This is monitored and addressed by occurrence but not necessarily a frequent event.   
 

Collection of public posting of passenger satisfaction survey ratings 
Marion Transit conducts at least annual customer satisfaction surveys by actual passengers.  These 
surveys are reviewed and analyzed with the overall results being posted on our Facebook page as well as 
website.   

Agency:   Marion Senior Services, Inc.  d/b/a – Marion Transit 
Name of Responder:   Clayton Murch, Transportation Director 
Email address:  cmurch@marionseniorservices.org 
Phone number:  352-620-3519 



 
Florida Department of Transportation 

RON DESANTIS 
GOVERNOR 

420 W. Landstreet 
Orlando, Florida 32824 

KEVIN J. THIBAULT, P.E. 
SECRETARY 

 

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation 
www.fdot.gov 

May 14, 2021 
 
Tom Wilder 
Transportation Director  
Marion Senior Services 
1101 Southwest 20th Court  
Ocala, Florida 34471 
 
Re: Marion Senior Services System Safety Program Plan Letter of Concurrence (2021) 
 
Dear Mr. Wilder:  
 
The Department has completed a review of the System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) during Marion Senior 
Services’ 2021 Triennial Review. We find the SSPP to comply with the 2019 FDOT State Management Plan, 
FDOT Procedural Topic No. 725-030-009-j, and Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.) Rule Chapter 14-90. 
Therefore, the Department is in concurrence with the Marion Senior Services SSPP.  
 
We appreciate the opportunity to review the document and ensure compliance with state requirements. 
Please include a copy of this letter as an appendix to your agency’s SSPP. The Department also 
recommends proper documentation of the receipt of concurrence letter in the plan’s activity log.  
 
If you have any questions, please contact me at (321) 319-8174 or e-mail diane.poitras@dot.state.fl.us.  
 
Sincerely,  
 
 
Diane Poitras  
Transit Programs Administrator  
District Five  
 
DP/bg  
 
 
 



MARIONTRANSIT
A DIVISION OF

BUS TRANSIT SYSTEM SAFETY
PROGRAM PLAN (SSPP)

Adopted: July 2016
Latest Review / Update: September 21, 2022



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

i

SSPP Document Activity Log

Date Activity
(Review/Update/Addendum/

Adoption/Distribution)

Concerned 
Person 

(Signature)

Remarks

7/29/2016 Review/Update Tom Wilder Updated document

5/25/2017 Update & Annual Review Tom Wilder Updated document

10/12/2017 Review/Update Tom Wilder

Added background 
check level. Added 
refresher course
topic syllabus.

12/1/2017 Review/Update Tom Wilder

Added to 
Accident/Incident 
reporting to FDOT 
within 24 hours.

5/30/2018 Routine REVIEW/ UPDATE Tom Wilder Added MT Policies 
to Appendix K

10/01/2019 Routine Review Tom Wilder No Changes

7/08/2020 Review/Update Tom Wilder

New flow chart, 
duties updated, 
removed quarterly 
meeting (due to 
COVID 19)
requirement. 
Changed MSS to 
Marion Transit.

3/10/2021 Review/Update Tom Wilder

Updated accident 
procedures 
(Appendix K-1.0-
5.0)

5/1/2022 Review/Update Clayton Murch

New flow chart, 
duties updated, 
positions updated, 
updated director 
information, 
restored quarterly 
safety meetings 
(was suspended 
due to COVID 19)



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

ii

SSPP Document Activity Log
(Continued)

Date Activity
(Review/Update/Addendum/ 

Adoption/Distribution)

Concerned 
Person 

(Signature)

Remarks

7/21/2022 Review/Update Clayton Murch

Updated MRO 
information in the 
Substance Abuse 
Policy.  Updated 
agency’s contact 
information.

9/21/2022 Review/Update Clayton Murch

Updated FDOT 
address.  Updated 
Client intake 
process and forms 
to include 3-yr 
eligibility review



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

iii

Table of Contents
1.0 MANAGEMENT SAFETY COMMITMENT AND POLICY STATEMENT...............................................  

2.0 SYSTEM SAFETY GOALS AND SSPP ......................................................................................  
2.1 SSPP Control and Update Procedures........................................................................................ 

3.0 HAZARD AND SECURITY PLAN (HSP) .....................................................................................  

4.0 SYSTEM DESCRIPTION...........................................................................................................  

5.0 ORGANIZATION STRUCTURE AND SYSTEM SAFETY RESPONSIBILITIES .....................................  
5.1 Your Community Transit Organization Chart ............................................................................... 
5.2 Your Community Transit System Safety Responsibilities by Position ......................................... 
5.3 System Safety Responsibilities of Contract Service Operator(s) ................................................ 

6.0 QUALIFICATION AND SELECTION OF DRIVERS .........................................................................  

7.0 DRIVER SAFETY TRAINING AND TESTING ................................................................................  
7.1 Initial Driver Training and Testing ................................................................................................ 
7.2 On-Going/Refresher Training and Testing................................................................................... 
7.3 Remedial Training and Testing .................................................................................................... 
7.4 NIMS Training .............................................................................................................................. 

8.0 RECORDS MANAGEMENT.......................................................................................................  

9.0 DRUG AND ALCOHOL PROGRAM ............................................................................................  

10.0 VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PROGRAM ........................................................................................  
10.1 Daily Vehicle Inspections (DVI).................................................................................................... 
10.2 Preventive Maintenance .............................................................................................................. 
10.3 Bus Safety Inspections ................................................................................................................ 

11.0 SAFETY DATA ACQUISITION & ANALYSIS................................................................................  

12.0 HAZARD IDENTIFICATION AND RESOLUTION ............................................................................  
12.1 Hazard Identification .................................................................................................................... 
12.2 Hazard Categorization ................................................................................................................. 
12.3 Hazard Resolution........................................................................................................................ 

13.0 EVENT INVESTIGATION...........................................................................................................  

14.0 MEDICAL EXAMS FOR BUS TRANSIT SYSTEM DRIVERS............................................................  

15.0 OPERATING AND DRIVING REQUIREMENTS..............................................................................  
15.1 Wireless Communication ............................................................................................................. 

16.0 VEHICLE EQUIPMENT STANDARDS & PROCUREMENT CRITERIA ...............................................  

17.0 INTERNAL AND EXTERNAL SAFETY AUDITS.............................................................................  

18.0 CERTIFICATION .....................................................................................................................  

19.0 APPENDICES.........................................................................................................................  



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

iv

Table of Contents
(Continued)

Appendices -

Appendix A: Rule Chapter 14-90, F.A.C.
Appendix B: Substance Abuse Policy
Appendix C: Maintenance Plan 
Appendix D: Preventative Maintenance Guidelines 
Appendix E: Medical Examination Form 725-030-011
Appendix F: Radio Operating Procedures 
Appendix G: Internal Safety Audit Checklist 
Appendix H: Bus Transit System Annual Safety and Security Certification Form 
Appendix I: SSPP Addendums (placeholder for future updates)   
Appendix J: Text Formatting Palette 
Appendix K: Marion Transit Procedures

a. Operations Staff Accident Procedures / Responsibilities
b. Pre-Trip / Post-Trip Daily Inspections
c. Biohazard Clean Up Procedure
d. Bus Evacuation Procedure/Plan
e. Transportation for Life Sustaining Activities
f. Lift & Wheelchair Procedure/Policy
g. Closing Procedure for Dispatch
h. Railroad Crossings Procedure
i. Proper Use of Two-Way Radios
j. Reasonable Modification Policy
k. Employee Incident & Injury Report Procedure
l. Vehicle Inspections
m. Complaint & Compliments Procedure
n. Alternative Internet Access
o. Customer Rights & Responsibilities
p. Scope of Work for Community Transportation Coordinators
q. Rider Disciplinary- Suspension Policy
r. Marion Transit STAR of the Month
s. Client Intake Procedure / Form
t. Trip Rate Procedure
u. Bus Road Call & Wrecker Procedure
v. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Policy/Procedure
w. About our Clients
x. Bus Video Review Policy
y. Asset Management Plan
z. Client Injury Report
aa. Supervisor Incident Review



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

1-1

1.0 Management Safety Commitment and Policy 
Statement

Marion Transit is committed to providing safe, secure, clean, reliable, and efficient transportation 
services to the patrons. This policy statement serves to express management’s commitment to
and involvement in providing and maintaining a safe and secure transit system.

The mission of Marion Transit “Is to provide Public Transportation that offers riders a high-quality 
safe, reliable, and efficient paratransit experience”.

Section 341.041, Florida Statutes (F.S.); Section 334.044(2), F.S.; and Section 341.061(2)(a), 
F.S., requires the establishment of minimum equipment and operational safety standards for all 
governmentally owned bus transit systems; privately owned or operated bus transit systems 
operating in this state which are financed wholly or partly by state funds; all bus transit systems 
created pursuant to Chapter 427, F.S.; and all privately owned or operated bus transit systems 
under contract with any of the aforementioned systems. Safety standards for bus transit systems 
are provided by Rule Chapter 14-90, Florida Administrative Code (F.A.C.), hereinafter referred to 
as Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90. Bus transit systems are required to develop, adopt, 
and comply with a System Safety Program Plan (SSPP), which meets or exceeds, the established 
safety standards set forth in Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

In the interest of safety and security, and in order to comply with the statutory requirements, 
Marion Transit has developed and adopted this System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) that 
complies with established safety standards set forth in Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.
The SSPP is intended to document all policies, functions, responsibilities, etc. of the agency 
necessary to achieve a high degree of system safety and applies to all areas of the transportation 
system, including procurement, administration, operations, maintenance, etc.

Marion Transit management is responsible for maintaining a coordinated safety system in order 
to identify and prevent unsafe acts and conditions that present a potential danger or threat to 
public safety. Management has responsibility for maintaining and implementing the SSPP and 
complying with the policies, procedures, and standards included in this document. All 
departments, personnel, and contract service operators are charged with the responsibility of 
adhering to this SSPP. Any violation of safety and security practices is subject to appropriate 
administrative action. Management is ultimately responsible for enforcing the SSPP and 
maintaining a safe and secure system. 

This plan was reviewed by the Marion Senior Services, Inc. Executive Board on _11/9/2022__.

   ________                                           _
Jennifer Martinez, Executive Director

Marion Senior Services, Inc.
Date: __11/9/2022______

Attest: _                                            ______
Clayton Murch, Transportation Director

Marion Transit



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

2-2

2.0 System Safety Goals and SSPP

Marion Transit has established the following goals for the system safety program: 

Achieve a high standard of system safety in all areas of the transportation system

Develop and implement a comprehensive, systematic, and coordinated program to 
identify, assess, and control all safety hazards 

Develop and maintain a high level of safety awareness among all employees through pre-
employment screening and systematic training and testing programs 

Establish safety standards for contract service operators and ensure compliance

Ensure that system safety is integrated with daily operations through operational 
standards and procedures, vehicle maintenance, inspections, record keeping, audits, 
quality assurance and quality control

Ensure that all vehicles and equipment operated by the agency meet established safety 
standards

Maintain a formal process for event investigation, emergency preparedness and response, 
and handling security threats 

Ensure a drug free workplace 

Comply with all regulatory requirements.
In addition:

High Passenger Satisfaction

On-time performance

Minimized Passenger Dwell (wait) time

Passenger Safety

Deliver Excellent Customer Service

Safe driving

The purpose of this SSPP document is to: 

Establish and document system safety policies and procedures in compliance with Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 14-90

Establish a coordinated and documented process to implement the SSPP during the 
operations of the system in order to achieve system safety goals 

Identify and delegate safety functions and responsibilities to units and personnel within 
the organization and contract service operators  

Facilitate internal and external safety audits to identify, track, and resolve safety program 
deficiencies.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

2-3

In accordance with Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90 (included in Appendix A), the SSPP 
addresses the following safety elements and requirements: 

Safety policies and responsibilities

Vehicle and equipment standards and procurement criteria

Operational standards and procedures

Bus driver and employee selection

Driving requirements

Bus driver and employee training

Vehicle maintenance

Investigations of events 

Hazard identification and resolution

Equipment for transporting wheelchairs

Safety data acquisition and analysis

Wireless communication plan and procedure 

Safety standards for private contract bus transit system(s) that provide(s) continuous or 
recurring transportation services for compensation as a result of a contractual agreement 
with Marion Transit.

2.1 SSPP Control and Update Procedures

Marion Transit management will review the SSPP annually, update the document as necessary, 
and implement the changes within a timeframe that will allow the agency to timely submit the 
annual self-certification of compliance to the Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT). The 
annual review of the SSPP will be conducted as part of an internal audit beginning October 1st of 
each calendar year and ending prior to the end of the same calendar year. Necessary updates 
outside the annual update window will be handled as SSPP addendums which will be 
incorporated in the body of the SSPP during subsequent annual update. 

All proposed changes will be documented by the management as proposed SSPP addendums 
and distributed to all affected parties including employees and contract service operators. All 
parties must comment within two weeks of the issuance of the proposed changes unless 
otherwise specified. Following the approval of any modifications to the SSPP by the Executive 
Director, management staff will distribute the SSPP addendum to all affected parties, with a cover 
memo highlighting the changes. All parties receiving the updates are required to sign for its receipt 
and acknowledge their responsibility in implementing the changes. Management will document 
and retain the proof of SSPP receipt by all employees during initial hire and subsequent updates.
Agency’s governing board will adopt the SSPP annually following the internal audit and a copy of 
the adopted SSPP will be distributed to all employees and contract service providers. A copy of 
the adopted SSPP will also be forwarded to the FDOT District Office. Document reviews of the 
SSPP by the local agency, any subsequent updates, addendums, adoption, and distribution
activities will be documented in the SSPP Document Activity Log included in this document.       



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

3-4

3.0 Hazard and Security Plan (HSP)

In accordance with Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90, Marion Transit has adopted, and 
implemented a Hazard and Security Plan (HSP), often referred to as the Security Program Plan 
(SPP), which covers the hazard and security portion of the system safety program. The HSP 
contains information about prevention, mitigation, preparedness, response, recovery, and
associated organizational responsibilities. The purpose of the HSP/SPP is to specify:

Actions required of employees on a daily, weekly, monthly, and annual basis to prevent 
or reduce the likelihood of security and emergency events from occurring, and to mitigate 
the effects of those events that do occur 

Measures needed to prepare for incidents occurring within the transportation system and 
in the surrounding community

Agency procedures that should be established to respond to security hazards and 
emergencies that affect the system and its customers

Formal processes to recover from routine security events or major emergencies 

Roles, responsibilities, and interagency coordination required to respond to a disaster or 
security event.

The HSP/SPP addresses the following hazard and security elements and requirements:  

Security policies, goals, and objectives

Organization, roles, and responsibilities

Emergency management processes and procedures for mitigation, preparedness, 
response, and recovery

Procedures for investigation of events described under subsection 14-90.004(5), F.A.C.

Procedures for the establishment of interfaces with emergency response organizations

Procedures for interagency coordination with local law enforcement jurisdictions

Employee security and threat awareness training programs

Security data acquisition and analysis

Emergency preparedness drills and exercises

Requirements for private contract transit providers that engage in continuous or recurring 
transportation services for compensation as a result of a contractual agreement with the 
bus transit system.

Procedures for SPP maintenance and distribution.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

3-5

The HSP/SPP has been adopted separately from the SSPP. Bus transit systems are prohibited 
by Section 119.071(3)(2), Florida Statutes, from publicly disclosing the SPP, as applicable under 
any circumstance. The document is maintained in a secure location by the management and 
access to the document is restricted to select agency personnel and appropriate FDOT personnel 
exercising oversight in this area. On-site access to the HSP/SPP is granted to regulatory 
authorities (FDOT, FTA, etc.) on as-needed basis. Select portions of the HSP/SPP may be shared 
with employees depending on their job responsibilities.    

Any additional text for Chapter 3.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

4-1

4.0 System Description 

History:
Service on Wheels, later to become Marion County Senior Services, came into 

being in August 1973, with an idea and a $100.00 check from Blessed trinity Church. The 
idea was to provide hot noontime meals for some of Ocala’s most needy.

The First Presbyterian Church had established a volunteer program called 
VISION-“Volunteers in Service in our Neighborhood”. Since VISION recruited volunteers, 
and Service on Wheels needed volunteers to deliver meals, the two worked well together. 
Karen May, Director of Vision, supervised both programs and served as the first Service 
on wheels Board President. Diane Morthland was the part-time M.O.W. Director from 
1973-1976. Karen May, Linda Foy and other volunteers wrote letters to local 
organizations for financial help, recruited some volunteers, found someone to prepare the 
meals (Julian’s Marion Lunch), and they were off running. They delivered 13 meals the 
first day.              
                

In the early days, church groups, clubs, organizations and fees from the 
participants kept the program going. The program grew to a point where additional 
funding was necessary to continue; therefore, Service on Wheels applied for and became 
a United Way Agency.

In mid1975, the S.O.W. Board decided to apply for a federal grant for a Nutrition 
Program for the Elderly, through Older Americans Act funds of 1964 which provided daily 
meals at congregate dining sites. 

Nancy Picard, a volunteer who served as the director of the Nutrition Program for 
the first 6 months, wrote the first grant. Diane Morthland was hired to take her place in 
July 1976. The budget totaled $90,145 and we served 100 meals daily (five days a week).

In October 1976, a new program funded through Older Americans Act funds was 
added to provide transportation and homemaker service. The first Director for this 
program was Eleanor Preston, wife of the Ft. King Presbyterian Church minister, Dr. 
Frank Preston. The office was located on the grounds of that church and started off with 
one leased van and 3 homemakers.

In January 1977, the Nutrition Program and the Homemaker/Transportation 
Program combined and moved to an office next door to our present office, with Diane 
Morthland as Executive Director for the combined programs.

In the beginning S.O.W. (Meals on Wheels) and the Marion County Nutrition 
Program operated separately but shared the same Board of Directors. The name was 
changed from Service on Wheels to Marion County Senior services, Inc. in April 1979 
and in October of 1979 the two services combined to share staff and office space.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

4-2

We still maintain independent Meals on Wheels Program, which is funded as it 
was in the beginning, with local donations, United Way funding, and fees based on a 
sliding scale. Maintaining this separate program allows us to serve needy clients of any 
age. The federal programs are restricted to those 60 years of age and older. Local match 
funds (cash or in-kind) are required to secure grant funds.

In 1980, MCSS began participation in the state-funded Community Care for the 
Elderly Program. CCE is a continuum of care for functionally impaired, frail, elderly to live 
independently in their homes for as long as possible. Case managers plan both in-home 
support services as well as other community resources (such as food stamps, SSI, 
Medicaid, legal services, doctor appointments, etc.) while working with the clients until 
their problems are solved.

In 1982, the Metropolitan Planning Organization designated Marion County Senior 
Services as the Community Transportation Coordination Provider for the transportation 
disadvantaged in Marion County including coordinating all transportation trips using public 
funds such as Medicaid. Operating, administrative and capital funds were provided by the 
Florida Department of Transportation. Since 1991, the Transportation Disadvantaged 
Commission has also provided funds to pay for clients not sponsored by any agency or 
organization. Sponsored trips include Medicaid and elder programs. We currently operate 
37 daily routes to transport elderly, disabled and transportation-disadvantaged persons 
throughout Marion County. In 1994 our transportation service was renamed Marion 
Transit Services to more accurately reflect the diverse ridership.

In 1989, three new state-funded programs were added: Community Care for 
Disabled Adults, Alzheimer’s disease Initiative and Community Care for the Elderly 
Diversions Program. 

These programs allowed us to provide services to severely disabled adults 18-59, 
to provide more frequent and intensive in-home services to clients at risk of nursing home 
placement and to provide much needed support, particularly respite, to Alzheimer’s 
victims.

Additional programs/services added in 1993: Medicaid Waiver services for low-
income clients who would otherwise be placed in nursing homes at a greater cost to the 
state (replacing the elderly Diversions Program) and Preventative/Health Promotion 
Services (Title III-F) funded through Older Americans Act.

Beginning January 1, 1996, we began administering the Home Care for the Elderly 
Programs, which offers case management and subsidy payments to caregivers as an 
alternative to institutionalization. II-F funds were discontinued. In May Diane Morthland 
retired after 23 years with our agency. Gail Cross became the new Executive Director.

In order to expand needed services; in 1977 we implemented an intensive 
volunteer recruitment program for in-home services with a special grant from the 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

4-3

Department of Elder Affairs. State funded programs began requiring a co-pay based on 
income from all clients.

From small volunteer-based program in the 70’s and then a recipient of program 
grants, Marion County Senior Services has evolved into two primary contractor roles for 
our community. We serve as the “lead agency” and service provider for state and federally 
funded contracts to provide services to elderly and disabled through specific “contracts” 
for service with our regional Area Agency on Aging. And we are the designated 
Community Transportation Coordinator providing public Paratransit service to elderly, 
disabled, and underprivileged people throughout Marion County the Commission for 
Transportation Disadvantaged, Florida Department of Transportation, and SunTran (for
Complementary ADA trips). 

In January 2011, Marion County Senior Services’ name changed to Marion Senior 
Services, Inc. The primary purpose for changing the name was to remove the connotation 
that the Agency was part of Marion County government.

Marion Transit is a division of Marion Senior Services, Inc.

Marion Transit System Profile (As of 09/21/2022):

Total Number of drivers: 37
Full-time: 31    Part-time: 6       Volunteers: 0 in transportation
Number of operational buses: 46
Buses W/C accessible: 46
Number of Type I buses (>22’ length) _40_ Type II buses (<22’ length)
Dispatch Location(s):1101 SW 20th Court, Ocala, FL – Marion Transit
Maintenance Locations: 
Advance Tire & Service, 2199 NW 10th Street, Ocala, FL 34475
Fishers Auto Care – 2021 SW 27th Avenue, Ocala, FL  34471
Don’s Garage – 218 SW 10th Street, Ocala, FL 34471 
Advanced Vehicle Modifications (Lift) 2520 NW 6th Street, Ocala, FL
Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC): Yes
CTC Operator: Yes
CTC Name: Marion Senior Services, Inc. D/B/A Marion Transit
Contracted passenger service operations: None at this time.
Contract operator has own adopted SSPP and SPP approved by transit system or CTC: 
N/A
Contract operator adopts and implements the Transit System’s CTC’s SSPP: N/A

Any additional text for Chapter 4.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

5-1

5.0 Organization Structure and System Safety
Responsibilities

Management has the overall responsibility of safe and secure operations of Marion Transit and 
any contract service operators (N/A at this time). Each employee is required to carry out specific 
system safety responsibilities, depending on his/her position, in compliance with the SSPP. The 
organization information provided below describes each position and the reporting structure; the 
table in the following page shows system safety responsibilities of each position. 

5.1 Marion Transit Organizational Chart

 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 5-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

5.2 Marion Transit Transit System Safety Responsibilities by Position 

System Safety Task Frequency Management Responsibilities by Position Staff Responsibilities by Position
Position 

1
Position 

2
Position 

3
Position 

4
Position 

5
Position

6
Position 

7
Position

8
Position 

9
Position 

10
Oversee and assure SSPP and HSP/SPP 
compliance 

Daily X X X X
Random inspections of Departments for 
safety compliance (pre-trip inspections, 
driver files, maintenance records, etc.)

Quarterly/ 
As needed X X X X

SSPP and HSP/SPP review and 
distribution 

Annual/ As 
needed X X X X X

Intra-agency coordination and safety 
briefings

Monthly X X X X
Inter-agency coordination (FDOT, law 
enforcement, emergency response 
organizations, etc.)  

As needed
X X X X X

Facility inspection / generator Monthly X X X X
Employee safety training and testing and 
record keeping

Initial hire/ 
quarterly &
ongoing

X X X X X
Drug free workplace (policy maintenance, 
employee training and testing, etc.)

Initial hire/ 
Quarterly +
Randoms

X X X X
Driver license validity check and record 
maintenance  

Initial hire/ 
Monthly X X X X X

Administrative/Human Resource safety 
actions

As needed X
Safety and security data acquisition and 
analysis 

On an 
ongoing 
basis

X X X
Medical examination of drivers and record 
keeping

Initial hire/ 
biennium X

Vehicle and equipment procurement As needed X X X
Pre-trip inspections and record keeping Daily X X X X



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 5-3
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

System Safety Task Frequency P-1 P-2 P-3 P-4 P-5 P-6 P-7 P-8 P-9 P-10
Vehicle maintenance and record keeping Daily X X X
Annual safety inspections and record 
keeping

Annual X X X X X X
Event investigation and record keeping  As needed X X X X
Investigate safety complaints As needed X X X X X X
Pre-employment screening Initial hire X
Employee time recording and 
maintenance

Daily X X X X
Internal safety audits Annual/As 

needed X X X
Records maintenance, retention, and 
distribution 

Daily/As 
needed X X X X X X

Vendor safety and security compliance 
oversight  

Daily/As 
needed X X X X

Hazard identification and resolution Daily X X X X X X X X X
Compliance with SSPP Daily X X X X X X X X X X
Self-certification of safety compliance Annual X X X X



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 5-4
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

5.3 System Safety Responsibilities of Contract Service Operator(s)

Marion Transit requires all contract service operators to fully comply with the established safety 
standards set forth in Florida Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.  
Contract operators have the option to either adopt and implement the SSPP and HSP/SPP of 
Marion Transit, or develop, adopt, and implement their own program plans, but must ensure
compliance with Florida Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90. If the 
contract service operator opts to develop their own SSPP and HSP/SPP, the program plans must 
be reviewed and approved by Marion Transit management prior to initiation of service. In addition, 
each contractor/subcontractor shall submit a safety and security certification to Marion Transit no 
later than January 15th, annually for the prior calendar year period. 

The certification shall attest to the following:

The adoption of an SSPP and an HSP/SPP in accordance with established standards set 
forth in Florida Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

Compliance with its adopted SSPP and HSP/SPP.

Performance of safety inspections on all buses operated by the system in accordance with 
Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

Reviews of the SSPP and HSP/SPP have been conducted to ensure they are up to date.

The certification shall include:

The name and address of the contractor/subcontractor, and the name and address of the 
entity(ies) who performed bus safety inspections and security assessments during the 
prior calendar year, if different from that of the contractor/subcontractor.

A statement signed by an officer or person directly responsible for management of the 
contractor/subcontractor attesting to compliance with Florida Administrative Code Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

Contractors/subcontractors are subject to audits and inspections on an announced or 
unannounced basis at the discretion of Marion Transit management. Marion Transit, or its 
contractor, will conduct safety and security reviews of contract operators, at least once every three 
years, to ascertain compliance with the provisions of Florida Administrative Code Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 14-90. Marion Transit will prepare and submit a report of the audit to 
the affected contract operator within 30 business days of completion of the review containing the 
following:

Identification of the findings, including a detailed description of any deficiency.

Required corrective action and a schedule for implementation of the corrective action to 
be taken for each deficiency. 

Any required suspension of bus transit system service should Marion Transit determine of 
the continued operation of the service, or a portion thereof, poses an immediate danger 
to public safety.

If the contract operator fails to correct specific deficiency(ies) in accordance with Florida 
Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90 and the established implementation 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 5-5
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

schedule, Marion Transit will notify the FDOT District Office and initiate actions to dismiss the 
contract.   

Any additional text for Chapter 5.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.  



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 6-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

6.0 Qualification and Selection of Drivers

Marion Transit management is responsible for ensuring that the following minimum standards are 
met when hiring new drivers. 

Must possess a valid Florida driving license of appropriate class.

Level 2 background screening pursuant to FSS chapter 435.

Criminal background check (with local law enforcement and the Florida Department of 
Law Enforcement) and driving records check including, but not limited to, the following 
items: 

o Driving records 
o Instant Social Security Number validations 
o Instant identification of applicant's county of residence for the past seven years 
o County felony criminal history checks for up to three counties per applicant and 

other criminal records checks
o Education verification 
o Employment reference checks 
o Personal reference check 
o Workers' Compensation claims

Complete employment application.

Successful completion of pre-employment physical including an eye examination and drug 
screening test.

Signed acknowledgement of receipt and agreement to comply with drug-free workplace 
policy.

Signed acknowledgment of receipt and agreement to comply with SSPP.

Successful completion of required orientation, training and testing to demonstrate and 
ensure adequate skills and capabilities to safely operate each type of bus or bus 
combination before driving on a street or highway unsupervised. 

Signed acknowledgment of receipt and compliance with the following written operational 
and safety procedures before driving on a street or highway unsupervised. 

o Communication and handling of unsafe conditions, security threats, and 
emergencies.

o Familiarization and operation of safety and emergency equipment, wheelchair lift 
equipment, and restraining devices.

o Application and compliance with all applicable federal and state laws, rules and 
regulations.

Drivers are required to write and submit a daily bus inspection report pursuant to Florida 
Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.006, F.A.C.

Personnel licensed and authorized by the bus transit system to drive, move, or road test 
a bus in order to perform repairs or maintenance services when it has been determined 
that such temporary operation does not create unsafe operating conditions or create a 
hazard to public safety are not bound to the following two provisions:

o Training and testing to demonstrate and ensure adequate skills and capabilities to 
safely operate each type of bus or bus combination before driving on a street or 
highway unsupervised. 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 6-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

o Bus transit systems shall provide written operational and safety procedures to all 
bus drivers before driving on streets or highways unsupervised. 

Noncompliance with any regulatory or agency specific requirement may result in an employee 
administrative action up to and including suspension or termination of employment. It is the policy 
of Marion Transit to screen applicants to eliminate those that pose a safety or security threat to 
the agency or who would not be capable of carrying out agency safety and security policies. 

Essential Requirements
High School diploma or equivalent.
Must be able to pass the DOT Physical Requirements.
2 years’ verifiable experience in transporting passengers or other commercial driving 
experience.
Ability to use a portable radio and/or phone
Clean driving record that meets company’s insurance standards 
Understand and to carry out detailed but uninvolved written or oral instructions.
Basic math skills including addition, subtraction, division and multiplication of 
numbers and currency.
Excellent Customer Service skills and experience interacting with the public
Good people skills to include good communication, and the ability to deal with and 
manage large groups and communicate clear instructions.
Be familiar with the Marion County Address System and able to locate addresses 
using maps and/or GPS.

Any additional text for Chapter 6.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 7-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

7.0 Driver Safety Training and Testing

All employees and drivers of Marion Transit and all contract service providers are required to 
complete all training and testing requirements to demonstrate and ensure adequate skills and 
capabilities to safely operate each type of bus or bus combination before driving on a street or 
highway unsupervised. The Transit Manager is responsible for conducting and documenting all 
training and testing activities utilizing a certification process. Noncompliance with any regulatory or 
agency specific guideline or requirement may result in suspension or termination of employment. 
This section of the SSPP discusses the training and testing programs to be administered by the 
Transit Manager.

7.1 Initial Driver Training and Testing 

Upon hire and prior to being placed into road service, all drivers are required to complete a total 
of 80 hours of training and testing in the following areas:  

1. Bus transit system safety and operational policies and procedures.
2. Operational bus and equipment inspections.
3. Bus equipment familiarization.
4. Basic operations and maneuvering.
5. Boarding and alighting passengers.
6. Operation of wheelchair lift and other special equipment.
7. Defensive driving.
8. Distracted driving.
9. Passenger assistance and securement.

10. Handling of emergencies and security threats.
11. Security and threat awareness.
12. Driving conditions.
13. 60 minutes of drug awareness and 60 minutes of the effects of alcohol abuse.  

As part of the driver training program, specific procedures have been incorporated to instruct the 
driver on how to safely approach and depart from a transit bus stop to avoid contact with 
pedestrians and other hazards. 

In addition, new drivers are required to successfully undergo a road test with an experienced 
driver. A new-hire check-off list must be completed to ensure the employee has received all 
required 14-90 training and information before being authorized for over-the-road service. 

After successful completion of each training and testing module, the agency is required to 
document and record the satisfactory completion of the employee’s training and submit to the
Transportation Director. Certificates of completion will be maintained in the driver files for a 
minimum of 5 years.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 7-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

All newly hired employees are also provided instructional training by the HR Director and Transit 
Manager per agency’s HSP/SPP. Drivers are given instruction in Marion Transit rules and 
standard operating procedures in the following areas :

General rules: General rules of the agency including employee conduct codes.

Personal appearance and conduct: Cover uniforms, grooming, and employee conduct.

Customer service: Covers expectations of employees when dealing with the public; 
includes instruction on how and to whom to report security incidents, and types of 
individuals or situations to be aware of and report.

Traffic laws: Covers applicable traffic-related laws and regulations, drug and alcohol 
testing, and drug and alcohol use restrictions.

Fare handling: Covers fare collection procedures and provides instruction in dealing with 
fare disputes, conflict resolution, and notification of security personnel.

Americans with Disabilities Act requirements: Provides instruction in complying with ADA 
requirements and providing service to disabled patrons.

Radio procedures: Provides instruction on radio procedure for both routine and emergency 
radio traffic. Includes instruction on reporting crimes, suspicious acts, and potentially 
hazardous situations.

Report writing: Provides instruction on report writing, and reporting requirements.

Substance abuse policy: Provides information on the drug and alcohol testing program. 

Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) standards: Covers blood borne 
pathogens and other occupational exposure to health hazards.   

The HR Director and Transportation Director will develop and maintain a Training Manual for new 
hire training and testing of employees as part of the Safety Training Program. The manual will 
contain training course content, curriculum, lesson plans, testing requirements, etc. All training 
and testing activities will also be adequately documented by the Transit Manager.

7.2 On-Going/Refresher Training and Testing

The HR Director and Transportation Director will develop and maintain a Training Manual for on-
going and refresher training and testing of employees. The manual will contain training course 
content, curriculum, lesson plans, testing requirements, etc. On-going/refresher training and 
testing sessions will be conducted as necessary to remain compliant with Florida Administrative 
Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90. The drivers are required to attend training and 
testing in all areas specified by Florida Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-
90 at least once every three years. 

Ongoing and refresher training will be conducted but is not limited to the following topics:

Bus transit system safety and operational policies and procedures.

Operational bus and equipment inspections.

Bus equipment re-familiarization.

Operation of wheelchair lift and other special equipment. 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 7-3
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Defensive driving.

Distracted driving.

Passenger assistance and securement.

Handling of emergencies and security threats.

Security and threat awareness.

Drug awareness and the effects of alcohol abuse.     

Marion Senior Services also requires quarterly mandatory safety meetings.  Any training during 
these meetings will be documented.

All training and testing activities are to be recorded and retained in files for a minimum of five
years.

7.3 Remedial Training and Testing 

Marion Transit will employ remedial training for drivers who have been involved in a serious 
collision or have developed unsafe driving behaviour or other driving problems. Other causes for
remedial training may include persistent customer complaints, supervisor recommendations, or a 
result of ongoing evaluations. Depending on the circumstances, the Transportation Director will 
determine the appropriate remedial training and testing, the results of which will also be 
documented and retained in files.    

7.4 NIMS Training 

The National Incident Management System (NIMS) provides a consistent nationwide template to 
enable all government, private-sector, and nongovernmental organizations to work together 
during domestic incidents (http://www.fema.gov/emergency/nims/). The NIMS system requires 
that transit agencies comply with a number of specific activities to ensure personnel who will be 
conducting activities in response to emergencies use the standard Incident Command System 
(ICS). 

Marion Transit HSP/SPP requires that management staff take available NIMS training to 
understand this requirement and to coordinate regularly with outside organizations to prepare for 
coordinated responses to incidents. In addition, all employees will be provided security training 
and drills every six months to ensure they are familiar with emergency policies. All training and 
testing activities will also be recorded and retained in files. 

Any additional text for Chapter 7.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 8-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

8.0 Records Management 

The Transportation Director is responsible for implementing a record management program that 
includes maintenance, retention, distribution, and safe disposal of all safety and security records 
of the agency in compliance with state and federal regulations.    

All safety and security documents of the agency (SSPP, HSP/SPP, etc.) will be periodically 
revised, as needed, to ensure that they are up to date. Revisions and updates will be 
communicated with employees, contractors, and regulatory agencies as they occur or as deemed 
necessary by the management, depending on the nature of the revision or update. The HSP/SPP 
is considered a confidential document and will be retained in a secure location by management.    

Marion Transit will maintain and retain the following records for at least five years:

Records of bus driver background checks and qualifications

Detailed descriptions of training administered and completed by each bus driver

A record of each bus driver’s duty status which will include total days worked, on-duty 
hours, driving hours, and time of reporting on and off duty each day

Event investigation reports, corrective action plans, and related supporting documentation

Records of preventive maintenance, regular maintenance, inspections, lubrication, and 
repairs performed for each bus

Records of annual safety inspections and documentation of any required corrective 
actions

Completed and signed medical examination reports for each bus driver

In addition, Marion Transit will retain records of daily bus inspections and any corrective action 
documentation for a minimum of two weeks.

An organized paper and electronic filing system will be maintained by the agency, adequately
backed up to prevent potential loss of information. All sensitive personnel records will be protected 
from public access. When ready for disposal, both paper and electronic data will be disposed of 
in a secure manner ensuring that critical information is protected.

Any additional text for Chapter 8.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 9-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

9.0 Drug and Alcohol Program

Marion Transit has established a Zero Tolerance Substance Abuse Policy Statement in 
accordance with 49 C.F.R. Part 32 and a substance abuse management and testing program in 
accordance with 49 C.F.R. Parts 40 and 655, October 1, 2009, a copy of which is included in 
Appendix B. The Substance Abuse Program Manager is responsible for ensuring the 
implementation of a drug and alcohol testing program for all safety-sensitive employees as 
identified and described within the subject policy. 

The intent of the policy is to:  

Assure that employees are not impaired in their ability to perform assigned duties in a 
safe, productive, and healthy manner; 

Create a workplace environment free from the adverse effects of drug and alcohol abuse 
or misuse; 

Prohibit the unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession, or use of 
controlled substances; and

Encourage employees to seek professional assistance when substance abuse adversely 
affects their ability to perform their assigned duties.   

Violation of this substance abuse policy is subject to disciplinary actions.

Any additional text for Chapter 9.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 10-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

10.0 Vehicle Maintenance Program

The function of the maintenance plan is to provide a consistent systematic program to properly 
maintain and service vehicles to meet or exceed the manufacturer’s recommended maintenance 
schedule. Marion Transit vehicle maintenance program will ensure that all buses operated, and 
all parts and accessories on such buses, including those specified in Florida Administrative Code 
Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.007, F.A.C., and any additional parts and accessories 
which may affect safety of operation, including frame and frame assemblies, suspension systems, 
axles and attaching parts, wheels and rims, and steering systems, are regularly and 
systematically inspected, maintained, and lubricated to standards that meet or exceed the bus 
manufacturer’s recommendations and requirements. The Transportation Director is responsible 
for ensuring that a Maintenance Plan consistent with 14-90 has been developed and implemented 
by the agency and that all vehicles operated are regularly and systematically inspected, 
maintained, and lubricated according to the agency’s Maintenance Plan and Preventative 
Maintenance Guidelines (included in Appendix C and Appendix D, respectively).

10.1 Daily Vehicle Inspections (DVI) 

Drivers are required to perform daily vehicle inspections prior to operating the assigned vehicle, 
during routes, and after all route schedules are completed. The pre-trip inspection includes an 
inspection of the following parts and devices to ascertain that they are in safe condition and in 
good working order:

Service brakes
Parking brakes
Tires and wheels
Steering
Horn
Lighting devices
Windshield wipers
Rear vision mirrors
Passenger doors
Exhaust system
Equipment for transporting wheelchairs
Safety, security, and emergency equipment

During the scheduled trips and at the end of the day, the operator will note any additional findings
and submit the daily vehicle inspection forms. The process and form/s to be utilized for daily 
vehicle inspections is included in agency’s preventative maintenance guidelines. The daily vehicle
inspection forms must be complete with the operator’s signature and a check in each box to 
document that the items are “OK” or a defect is noted in the comments section. If the driver finds 
any mechanical or other problems that could compromise the safety of the vehicle at any point,
the drivers will immediately inform the Transit Manager and the vehicle will not be scheduled for 
service until repaired. Failure to report deficiencies by drivers may result in an administrative 
action taken against the employee.

The Transit Manager & Transit Assistant will review the daily inspections and document the 
corrective actions taken as a result of any deficiencies identified by the operator. Daily inspection 
records will be retained for a minimum of two weeks. The Transit Manager and Transit 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 10-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Assistant will periodically conduct vehicle inspections behind the drivers who have
completed the vehicle inspections to ensure that the daily vehicle inspections are 
adequately performed. Once defects are noted they will be prioritized and sorted into categories
for repairs. Once a defect is noted on the inspection form and repaired, the documentation will be 
attached to the work/repair order and filed in the maintenance files. 

10.2 Preventive Maintenance

A preventative maintenance schedule is implemented to inspect for safety hazards and to 
maintain vehicles in a manner conforming to safety regulations. Marion Transit will perform 
scheduled preventive maintenance and safety inspections on all vehicles at every 6,000-mile 
interval according to the agency’s maintenance plan (comply with FDOT PM Edition 4.1). As 
preventative maintenance inspections are scheduled by projected mileage, the agency will allow 
10%-mile deviations in mileage interval, so long as the actual mileage interval meets the 
manufacturer’s recommended maintenance schedule. When a vehicle is due for an inspection, it 
will be taken out of service until the inspection is completed. This allows a series of repairs to be 
carried out while minimizing costs and optimizing the number of operational vehicles. If a vehicle 
is “down” for an extended period of time due to unavoidable circumstances, preventative 
maintenance will be temporarily suspended until the vehicle can be returned to service. However, 
the annual inspection will be conducted on all vehicles regardless of “up/down” status and/or 
mileage accrued.   

The Transit Manager and Transportation Director will regularly perform Quality Control 
(QC)/Quality Assurance (QA) checks to ensure that the inspections and repairs, both in-house 
and contracted, are completed and documented properly. Each vehicle will have a written record 
documenting preventive maintenance, regular maintenance, inspections, lubrication and repairs 
performed. Such records will be maintained for at least five years and include, at a minimum, the 
following information:

Identification of the bus, the make, model, and license number or other means of positive 
identification and ownership

Date, mileage, description, and each type of inspection, maintenance, lubrication, or repair 
performed

If not owned by Marion Transit, the name of any person furnishing a bus

The name and address of any entity or contractor performing an inspection, maintenance, 
lubrication, or repair

For tracking purposes, a maintenance log will be kept containing vehicle ID, make and type of 
vehicle, year, model, special equipment, inspections, maintenance and lubrication intervals, and 
date or mileage when services are due.

10.3 Bus Safety Inspections 

Safety inspections are part of the maintenance inspections and are performed every 6,000 miles
on all buses operated by Marion Transit. The Transit Manager is responsible for ensuring that 
each individual performing a bus safety inspection is qualified as follows:

Understands the requirements set forth in Florida Administrative Code Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 14-90 and can identify defective components. 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 10-3
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Is knowledgeable of and has mastered the methods, procedures, tools, and equipment 
used when performing an inspection.

Is ASE certified with at least one year of training and/or experience as a mechanic or 
inspector in a vehicle maintenance program and has sufficient general knowledge of 
buses owned and operated by the bus transit system to recognize deficiencies or 
mechanical defects.

Each bus receiving a safety inspection shall be checked for compliance with the requirements for 
safety devices and equipment as referenced or specified by Florida Administrative Code Florida 
Administrative Code Rule 14-90. Specific operable equipment and devices as required by Florida 
Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90 include the following as applicable 
to Type I and II buses: 

Horn
Windshield wipers
Mirrors
Wiring and batteries
Service and parking brakes
Warning devices
Directional signals
Hazard warning signals
Lighting systems and signaling devices
Handrails and stanchions
Standee line and warning
Doors and brake interlock devices
Step wells and flooring
Emergency exits
Tires and wheels
Suspension system
Steering system
Exhaust system
Seat belts
Safety equipment
Equipment for transporting wheelchairs
Working speedometer

A safety inspection report will be prepared by the individual(s) performing the inspection and will
include the following:

Identification of the individual(s) performing the inspection

Identification of the bus transit system operating the bus

The date of the inspection

Identification of the bus inspected

Identification of the equipment and devices inspected including the identification of 
equipment and devices found deficient or defective



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 10-4
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Identification of corrective action(s) for any deficient or defective items found and date(s) 
of completion of corrective action(s)

Records of annual safety inspections and documentation of any required corrective 
actions will be retained for a minimum of four years for compliance review.

Any additional text for Chapter 10.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 11-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

11.0 Safety Data Acquisition & Analysis 

Understanding safety data is an important step towards allocating important and scarce resources 
to implement safety program elements. Safety data relative to transit provider operations can be 
used to determine safety trends in system operation. The following data will be collected and 
retained by Marion Transit on an ongoing basis:

Accident and incident data 

Maintenance data including daily vehicle inspection forms 

Passenger claims and complaints 

Records of crimes and rule violations occurring in and around the transit agency

The data will be analyzed by Marion Transit management both qualitatively and quantitatively for 
safety hazard identification, resolution and risk management purposes. The analysis results will 
be useful for identifying necessary actions to minimize safety risks. Analysis of safety data will 
also help improve system performance, not only in respect to safety, but also in overall delivery 
of service to the public. In addition, trend analyses of safety data can help determine the 
effectiveness of safety initiatives that have been implemented. The results of such analysis will
be shared with agency staff and law enforcement agencies on, at minimum, an annual basis for 
awareness and support.   

Any additional text for Chapter 11.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 12-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

12.0 Hazard Identification and Resolution

Hazard management is a mechanism by which hazards are identified, analyzed for potential 
impact on the operating system, and resolved in a manner acceptable to the management and 
regulatory agencies. Marion Transit hazard management consists of three primary components 
– hazard identification, hazard categorization, and hazard resolution.  

12.1 Hazard Identification 

By means of safety data acquisition and analysis and coordination with the Transit Manager, the 
Transportation Director will identify system hazards on an ongoing basis. 

12.2 Hazard Categorization 

Once the key system hazards have been identified, the Transportation Director will categorize the 
hazards based on severity and probability of occurrence.

Hazard severity is a subjective measure of hazard, supported by factual data, and will be 
categorized as follows –

Catastrophic – Death or system loss 

Critical – Severe injury, severe occupational illness, or major system damage 

Marginal – Minor injury, minor occupational illness, or minor system damage 

Negligible – less than minor injury, occupational illness, or system damage  

Hazard probability is a subjective measure of likelihood that a specific hazard will occur and will 
be categorized as follows –

Frequent – Likely to occur frequently 

Probable – Likely to occur several times

Occasional – Likely to occur sometime 

Remote – Unlikely but possible to occur 

Improbable – So unlikely that it can be rejected from consideration   



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 12-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

12.3 Hazard Resolution 

Once the hazards are identified and categorized, subsequent analysis will be undertaken to 
resolve the issue and minimize risk associated with the identified hazard. A hazard resolution 
matrix will be developed combining hazard severity and hazard frequency, as shown in the matrix 
on the following page, to identify the level of acceptance for a specific hazard/risk.   

Hazard Resolution 
Matrix

Catastrophic Critical Marginal Negligible

Frequent Unacceptable Unacceptable Unacceptable Acceptable with 
reservation

Probable Unacceptable Unacceptable Undesirable Acceptable with 
reservation

Occasional Unacceptable Undesirable Undesirable Acceptable

Remote Undesirable Undesirable Acceptable with 
reservation

Acceptable

Improbable Acceptable with 
reservation

Acceptable with 
reservation

Acceptable with 
reservation

Acceptable 

The results of the analysis will be shared by the Transportation Director with the Executive 
Director on an ongoing basis to identify appropriate actions. All “unacceptable” hazards must be 
eliminated, and measures will be taken for the remaining risk acceptance categories to minimize 
risk. The results of such analysis will be shared with agency staff and law enforcement agencies 
on a quarterly basis for awareness and support.   

Any additional text for Chapter 12.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 13-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

13.0 Event Investigation

For the purpose of this SSPP, events are considered accidents or incidents that involve a transit 
vehicle or take place on Marion Transit controlled property. An “accident” is an event that causes 
damage to a vehicle, individual, or property while the vehicle is in motion. It may involve a single 
vehicle or multiple vehicles. An “incident” is defined as an event that causes damage to a vehicle, 
individual, or property, which is not an accident.

Any event involving a bus or taking place on property controlled by a transit system and resulting 
in a fatality, injury, or property damage will be investigated by Marion Transit. All events included 
but not limited to the following, will be investigated:

A fatality, where an individual is confirmed dead within 30 days of a bus transit system 
related event, excluding suicides and deaths from illnesses.

Injuries requiring immediate medical attention away from the scene for two or more 
individuals.

Property damage to bus transit system buses, non-bus transit system vehicles, other bus 
system property or facilities, or any other property. Marion Transit will have the discretion 
to investigate events resulting in property damage less than $1,000.

Evacuation of a bus due to a life safety event where there is imminent danger to 
passengers on the bus, excluding evacuations due to operational issues.

In case of all events, drivers are required to contact the local law enforcement, dispatcher, and 
emergency medical services (as required) immediately. Supervisors will be sent to the scene 
depending on the severity of the event at the discretion of the Transportation Director and/or 
Transit Manager. Each investigation will be documented in a final report that includes a 
description of the investigation activities, identified causal factors, and any identified corrective 
action plan. Each corrective action plan will identify the action to be taken by the bus transit system 
and the schedule for its implementation. The Transportation Director will monitor and track the 
implementation of each corrective action plan. Investigation reports, corrective action plans, and 
related supporting documentation will be maintained by the Transportation Director for a minimum 
of five years from the date of completion of the investigation.

Marion Transit will notify FDOT within 24 hours of any accident or casualty involving 
project vehicles/equipment and submit related reports as required by FDOT.  This 
notification will be accomplished by emailing the respective District 5 project coordinator 
for Marion Transit.  



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 13-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

FTA Post-Accident Thresholds

Must perform a DOT post-accident test when there is an occurrence associated with the 
operation of a mass transit vehicle, if as a result:

FATAL ACCIDENT
1.  An Individual dies (Must Test); or

NON-FATAL ACCIDENT
Unless the Marion Transit driver’s performance can be completely discounted as a contributing 
factor to the accident
2.  An individual suffers bodily injury and immediately receives medical treatment away from 
the scene of the accident;  or

(‘Individual’ refers to a transit employee, pedestrian, passenger on the mass transit 
vehicle

or person in the other vehicle(s))

3.  A vehicle (including non-transit vehicle) incurs disabling damage as the result of the 
occurrence and a vehicle is transported away from the scene by a tow truck or other vehicle; 
or

(in which the mass transit vehicle involved is a bus, electric bus, van or automobile)

4.  The mass transit vehicle is removed from operation.  
(in which the mass transit vehicle involved is a rail car, trolley car, trolley bus, or vessel)

Who to Test
1.  Covered employee operating the mass transit vehicle, unless the transit employee’s 
performance can be completely discounted as a contributing factor to the accident.  
2.  Other covered employee who could have contributed to the accident.  

Time Limitations for Post-Accident Testing
Employee must remain readily available for testing
Alcohol & Drug testing must begin as soon as practicable following the accident

Any additional text for Chapter 13.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 14-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

14.0 Medical Exams for Bus Transit System Drivers

This section of the SSPP establishes Marion Transit medical examination requirements for all 
applicants for driver positions and for existing drivers. 

Medical examination requirements include a pre-employment examination for applicants, 
an examination at least once every two years for existing drivers, and a return to duty 
examination for any driver prior to returning to duty after having been off duty for 30 or 
more days due to an illness, medical condition, or injury.

Medical examinations will be performed and recorded according to FDOT Form Number 
725-030-11, or equivalent, Medical Examination Report for Bus Transit System Driver, 
Rev. 05/09, included in Appendix E.

Medical examinations will be performed by a Doctor of Medicine or Osteopathy, Physician 
Assistant, or Advanced Registered Nurse Practitioner licensed or certified by the State of 
Florida. If medical examinations are performed by a Physician Assistant or Advanced 
Registered Nurse Practitioner, they must be performed under the supervision or review of 
a Doctor of Medicine or Osteopathy.

An ophthalmologist or optometrist licensed by the State of Florida may perform as much 
of the medical examination as it pertains to visual acuity, field of vision, and color 
recognition.

Upon completion of the medical examination, the examiner shall complete, sign, and date 
the medical examination form and maintain the original at his or her office.

Upon completion of the medical examination, the examiner shall complete, sign, and date 
the medical examination certificate and provide a copy to Marion Transit.

Upon completion of the medical examination the driver shall provide their driver license 
number, signature, and date on the medical examination certificate.

Completed and signed medical examination certificate for each bus driver, dated within 
the past 24 months, will be maintained on file for a minimum of five years from the date of 
the examination.

Marion Transit will not allow a driver to operate a transit bus without having on file a 
completed medical examination certificate dated within the past 24 months.

Any additional text for Chapter 14.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 15-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

15.0 Operating and Driving Requirements

The Transportation Director and Transit Manager are responsible for overall compliance with all 
operating and driving requirements of the SSPP. 

It is the responsibility of every Marion Transit employee who performs driving and/or operational 
duties to strictly adhere to the following requirements:

Under no circumstances is a driver allowed to operate a vehicle without having the 
appropriate and valid driver's license in his or her possession. 

Drivers are not permitted to drive a bus when his or her driver license has been 
suspended, cancelled, or revoked. A driver who receives a notice that his or her license 
to operate a motor vehicle has been suspended, cancelled, or revoked is required to notify 
his or her supervisor of the contents of the notice immediately, if possible, otherwise no
later than the end of the business day following the day he or she received the notice.
Violation of this policy may result in disciplinary actions including suspension or 
termination of employment.

Marion Transit management will annually check Motor Vehicle Records (MVR) for all 
drivers for investigating information on license suspensions, revocations, accidents, traffic 
violations, unpaid summons, etc. Marion Transit management will also check driver
license status of each driver utilizing the Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor 
Vehicles website - https://www6.hsmv.state.fl.us/DLCheck/main.jsp.

Buses must be operated at all times in compliance with applicable traffic regulations, 
ordinances, and laws of the jurisdiction in which they are being operated.

Florida Administrative Code Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90 defines “On Duty” 
and “Off Duty” status of drivers as follows -

o “On Duty” means the status of the driver from the time he or she begins work, or 
is required to be in readiness to work, until the time the driver is relieved from work 
and all responsibility for performing work. “On Duty” includes all time spent by the 
driver as follows:

(a) Waiting to be dispatched at bus transit system terminals, facilities, or 
other private or public property, unless the driver has been completely 
relieved from duty by the bus transit system.
(b) Inspecting, servicing, or conditioning any vehicle.
(c) Driving.
(d) Remaining in readiness to operate a vehicle (stand-by).
(e) Repairing, obtaining assistance, or remaining in attendance in or about 
a disabled vehicle.

o NOTE:  The amount of on-duty hours is monitored by Supervisors to ensure 
complience by reviewing daily schedules (they are not scheduled for more than 
11 hours) and electronic time-clocks.  

o “Off-Duty” means any time the driver is not on duty, required to be in readiness to 
work, or under any responsibility to perform work. Such time shall not be counted 
towards the maximum allowed on-duty hours within a 24-hour period.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 15-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Drivers are not permitted to drive more than 12 hours in a 24-hour period, or drive after 
having been on duty for 16 hours in a 24-hour period. A driver is not permitted to drive 
until the requirement of a minimum eight consecutive hours of off-duty time has been 
fulfilled. A driver’s work period begins from the time he or she first reports for duty to his 
or her employer. A driver is permitted to exceed his or her regulated hours in order to 
reach a regularly established relief or dispatch point, provided the additional driving time 
does not exceed one hour.

Drivers are not permitted to be on duty more than 72 hours in any period of seven 
consecutive days; however, any 24 consecutive hours of off duty time shall constitute the
end of any such period of seven consecutive days. A driver who has reached the maximum 
72 hours of on duty time during the seven consecutive days is required to have a minimum 
of 24 consecutive hours of off duty time prior to returning to on duty status.

A driver is permitted to drive for more than the regulated hours for the safety and protection 
of the public when conditions such as adverse weather, disaster, security threat, a road 
or traffic condition, medical emergency, or an accident occur.

Drivers are not permitted to drive a bus when his or her ability is impaired, or likely to be 
impaired, by fatigue, illness, or other causes, likely to create an unsafe condition.

Drivers will not report for duty or operate any vehicle while under the influence of alcohol 
or any other substance, legal or illegal, that may impair driving ability. All employees are 
required to comply with agency’s Substance Abuse Policy. 

Drivers are required to conduct daily vehicle inspections and reporting of all defects and 
deficiencies likely to affect safe operation or cause mechanical malfunctions.

Drivers are required to immediately report any defect or deficiency that may affect safe 
operations or cause mechanical malfunctions. Any defect or deficiency found shall be 
properly documented on a Daily Vehicle Inspection (DVI) form and should be submitted 
to the Transit Manager.

The Transit Manager will review daily inspection reports and document corrective actions 
taken as a result of any deficiencies identified by daily inspections.

A bus with any passenger doors in the open position will not be operated with passengers 
aboard. The doors will not be opened until the bus is stopped. A bus with any inoperable 
passenger door will not be operated with passengers aboard, except to move a bus to a 
safe location.

Drivers will ensure that during darkness, interior lighting and lighting in stepwells on buses 
shall be sufficient for passengers to enter and exit safely. Adherence to pre-trip inspection 
requirements help insure the ability of this requirement to be met.

Passengers will not be permitted in the stepwells of any bus while the bus is in motion, or 
to occupy an area forward of the standee line.

Passengers will not be permitted to stand on buses not designed and constructed for that 
purpose.

Buses will not be refueled in a closed building. The fueling of buses when passengers are 
being carried will be reduced to the minimum number of times necessary during such 
transportation.

Drivers are required to be properly secured to the driver’s seat with a restraining belt at all 
times while the bus is in motion.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 15-3
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

Buses will not be left unattended with passengers aboard for longer than 15 minutes. The 
parking or holding brake device will be properly set at any time the bus is left unattended.

Buses will not be left unattended in an unsafe condition with passengers aboard at any 
time.

Drivers are prohibited from leaving keys in the vehicle for any reason at any time the bus 
is left unattended.

Transit vehicles will not be used at any time for uses other than those that are authorized
and permitted according to state and federal program requirements.

Noncompliance with these requirements may result in disciplinary actions including suspension 
or termination of employment.

15.1 Wireless Communication

“Wireless communication device” means an electronic or electrical device capable of remote 
communication. Examples include cell phones, personal digital assistants (PDAs) and portable 
computers (commonly called laptop computers). “Personal wireless communications device” 
means an electronic or electrical device that was not provided by the bus transit system for 
business purposes. “Use of a wireless communication device” means use of a mobile telephone 
or other electronic or electrical device, hands-on or hands-free, to conduct an oral communication; 
to place or receive a telephone call; to send or read electronic mail or a text message; to play a 
game; to navigate the Internet; to play, view, or listen to a video; to play, view, or listen to a 
television broadcast; to play or listen to music; to execute a computational function, or to perform 
any other function that is not necessary for the health or safety of the person and that entails the 
risk of distracting the employee from a safety-critical task. Use of an electronic or electrical device 
that enhances the individual’s physical ability to perform, such as a hearing aid, is not included in 
this definition. 

Marion Transit requires all drivers to fully comply with the following wireless communication 
policies –

Policies on the use of a personal wireless communication device:

The use of a personal wireless communication device is prohibited while the transit vehicle 
is in motion.

All personal wireless communication devices must be turned off with any earpieces 
removed from the operator’s ear while occupying the driver’s seat.

In an emergency, if a driver is unable to use the radio (e.g., driver is separated from the 
vehicle due to a need to evacuate, or the radio is inoperable because it is beyond the radio
coverage area or other malfunction), a personal cellular phone may be used to contact the 
agency. In such situation the driver must park the vehicle in a safe place off the road and 
call the direct line to the dispatcher. 

Drivers are not permitted to use any wireless communication device issued by the bus 
transit system while the transit vehicle is in motion except brief radio communications with 
the dispatcher. If the driver must use the radio for a long duration, he/she must stop the 
vehicle in a safe place off the road.  



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 15-4
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

The use of a wireless communication device is prohibited while loading or unloading a 
wheelchair patron or while conducting any other safety related duty that require the driver’s 
undivided attention. If wireless communication is necessary, the driver will use a company 
issued wireless communication device before or upon completion of the safety related 
task.

Employees are permitted to use wireless communication devices issued by the bus transit 
system in the following situations -

o A driver needing to communicate with the dispatcher and vise-versa. 
o A driver requesting medical or emergency assistance.
o A driver reporting an illegal activity, a traffic accident, a road hazard, or a safety or 

security threat. 

Marion Transit requires all employees to follow the radio operating procedures included in 
Appendix F. .



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 16-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

16.0 Vehicle Equipment Standards & Procurement 
Criteria

Marion Transit will procure vehicles utilizing the Transit Research-Inspection-Procurement 
Services (TRIPS) program, formerly known as the Florida Vehicle Procurement Program (FVPP), 
and other State Programs strictly adhering to the vehicle equipment standards and procurement 
criteria specified in 14-90.007.

All buses procured and operated must meet the following minimum standards, as 
applicable:

a. The capability and strength to carry the maximum allowed load and not exceed the 
manufacturer’s gross vehicle weight rating (GVWR), gross axle weighting, or tire 
rating.

b. Structural integrity that mitigates or minimizes the adverse effects of collisions.
c. Federal Motor Vehicle Safety Standards (FMVSS), 49 C.F.R. Part 571, Sections 

102, 103, 104, 105, 108, 207, 209, 210, 217, 302, 403, and 404, October 1, 2008,
hereby incorporated by reference.

Proof of strength and structural integrity tests on new buses procured will be submitted by 
manufacturers or bus transit systems to the Department.

In addition, every bus operated by the agency will be equipped as follows:
o Mirrors. There shall be two exterior rear vision mirrors, one at each side. The 

mirrors shall be firmly attached to the outside of the bus and so located as to reflect 
to the driver a view of the highway to the rear along both sides of the vehicle. Each 
exterior rear vision mirror, on Type I buses shall have a minimum reflective surface 
of 50 square inches. Neither the mirror nor the mounting shall protrude farther than 
the widest part of the vehicle body except to the extent necessary to produce a 
field of view meeting or exceeding the requirements of this section. All Type I buses 
shall, in addition to the above requirements, be equipped with an inside rear vision 
mirror capable of giving the driver a clear view of seated and standing passengers. 
Buses having a passenger exit door that is located inconveniently for the driver’s 
visual control shall be equipped with additional interior mirrors to enable the driver 
to view the passenger exit door. In lieu of interior mirrors, trailer buses and 
articulated buses may be equipped with closed circuit video systems or adult 
monitors in voice control with the driver.

o Wiring and Batteries. Electrical wiring shall be maintained so as not to come in 
contact with moving parts, heated surfaces, or be subject to chafing or abrasion 
which may cause insulation to become worn. Every Type I bus manufactured on 
or after February 7, 1988, shall be equipped with a storage battery   electrical 
power main disconnect switch. The disconnect switch shall be practicably located 
in an accessible location adjacent to or near to the battery and be legibly and 
permanently marked for identification. Every storage battery on a public-sector bus 
shall be mounted with proper retainment devices in a compartment which provides 
adequate ventilation and drainage. 

o Brake Interlock Systems. All Type I buses having a rear exit door shall be equipped 
with a rear exit door/brake interlock that automatically applies the brake upon driver 
activation of the rear exit door to the open position. Brake interlock application shall 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 16-2
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

remain activated until deactivated by the driver and the rear exit door returns to the 
closed position. The rear exit door brake interlock on such buses shall be equipped 
with an identified override switch enabling emergency release of the brake 
interlock function. The override switch shall not be located within reach of the 
seated driver. Air pressure application to the brake during brake interlock 
operation, on buses equipped with rear exit door/brake interlock, shall be regulated 
at the equipment’s original manufacturer’s specifications. 

o Standee Line and Warning. Every bus designed and constructed to allow standees 
shall be plainly marked with a line of contrasting color at least two inches wide, or 
be equipped with some other means to indicate that all passengers are prohibited 
from occupying a space forward of a perpendicular plane drawn through the rear 
of the driver’s seat and perpendicular to the longitudinal axis of the bus. A sign 
shall be posted at or near the front of the bus stating that it is a violation for a bus 
to be operated with passengers occupying an area forward of the line. 

o Handrails and Stanchions. Every bus designed and constructed to allow standees 
shall be equipped with overhead handrails for standee passengers. Overhead 
handrails shall be continuous, except for a gap at the rear exit door, and terminate 
into vertical stanchions or turn up into a ceiling fastener. Every Type I and Type II 
bus designed for carrying more than 16 passengers shall be equipped with 
handrails, stanchions, or bars at least 10 inches long and installed to permit safe 
on-board circulation, seating and standing assistance, and boarding and alighting 
by elderly and handicapped persons. Type I buses shall be equipped with a safety 
bar and panel directly behind each entry and exit stepwell. 

o Flooring, Steps, and Thresholds. Flooring, steps, and thresholds on all buses shall 
have slip resistant surfaces without protruding or sharp edges, lips, or overhangs, 
in order to prevent tripping hazards. All step edges and thresholds shall have a 
band of color(s) running the full width of the step or edge which contrasts with the 
step tread and riser, either light-on-dark or dark-on-light.

o Doors. Power activated doors on all buses shall be equipped with a manual device 
designed to release door closing pressure.

o Emergency Exits. All buses shall have an emergency exit door, or in lieu thereof, 
shall be provided with emergency escape push-out windows. Each emergency 
escape window shall be in the form of a parallelogram with dimensions not less 
than 18" by 24", and each shall contain an area of not less than 432 square inches. 
There shall be a sufficient number of push-out or kick-out windows in each vehicle 
to provide a total escape area equivalent to 67 square inches per seat, including 
the driver’s seat. No less than 40% of the total escape area shall be on one side 
of the vehicle. Emergency escape kick-out or push-out windows and emergency 
exit doors shall be conspicuously marked with a sign or light and shall always be 
kept in good working order so that they may be readily opened in an emergency. 
All such windows and doors shall not be obstructed either inside or outside so as 
to hinder escape. Buses equipped with an auxiliary door for emergency exit shall 
be equipped with an audible alarm and light indicating to the driver when a door is 
ajar or opened while the engine is running. Supplemental security locks operable 
by a key are prohibited on emergency exit doors unless these security locks are 
equipped and connected with an ignition interlock system or an audio visual alarm 
located in the driver’s compartment. Any supplemental security lock system used 
on emergency exits shall be kept unlocked whenever a bus is in operation. 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 16-3
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

o Tires and Wheels. Tires shall be properly inflated in accordance with 
manufacturer’s recommendations.

i. No bus shall be operated with a tread groove pattern depth:
1. Less than 4/32 (1/8) of an inch, measured at any point on a major tread 

groove for tires on the steering axle of all buses. The measurements 
shall not be made where tie bars, humps, or fillets are located.

2. Less than 2/32 (1/16) of an inch, measured at any point on a major 
tread groove for all other tires of all buses. The measurements shall 
not be made where tie bars, humps, or fillets are located.

ii. No bus shall be operated with recapped, regrooved, or retreaded tires on the 
steering axle.

iii. Wheels shall be visibly free from cracks and distortions and shall not have 
missing, cracked, or broken mounting lugs.

o Suspension. The suspension system of all buses, including springs, air bags, and 
all other suspension parts, shall be free from cracks, leaks, or any other defect 
which may cause its impairment or failure to function properly.

o Steering and Front Axle. The steering system of all buses shall have no indication 
of leaks which would or may cause its impairment to function properly, and shall 
be free from cracks and excessive wear of components that may cause excessive 
free play or loose motion in the steering system or above normal effort in steering 
control.

o Seat Belts. Every bus shall be equipped with an adjustable driver’s restraining belt 
in compliance with the requirements of FMVSS 209, "Seat Belt Assemblies" 49 
C.F.R. 571.209 October 1, 2008, and FMVSS 210, "Seat Belt Assembly 
Anchorages" 49 C. F. R. 571.210 October 1,2008, hereby incorporated by 
reference. 

o Safety Equipment. Every bus shall be equipped with one fully charged dry 
chemical or carbon dioxide fire extinguisher, having at least a 1A:BC rating and 
bearing the label of Underwriter’s Laboratory, Inc. The fire extinguishers shall be 
maintained as follows:

i. Each fire extinguisher shall be securely mounted on the bus in a conspicuous 
place or a clearly marked compartment and be readily accessible.

ii. Each fire extinguisher shall be maintained in efficient operating condition and 
equipped with some means of determining if it is fully charged.

iii. Every Type I bus shall be equipped with portable red reflector warning 
devices in compliance with Section 316.300, Florida Statutes.

o Persons with Disabilities. Buses used for the purpose of transporting individuals 
with disabilities shall meet the requirements set forth in 49 C.F.R. Part 38, October 
1, 2008, hereby incorporated by reference, as well as the following:
i. Installation of a wheelchair lift or ramp shall not cause the manufacturer’s 

GVWR, gross axle weight rating, or tire rating to be exceeded.
ii. Except in locations within 3 1/2 inches of the bus floor, all readily accessible 

exposed edges or other hazardous protrusions of parts of wheelchair lift 
assemblies or ramps that are located in the passenger compartment shall be 
padded with energy absorbing material to mitigate injury in normal use and in 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 16-4
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

case of a collision. This requirement shall also apply to parts of the bus 
associated with the operation of the lift or ramp.

iii. The controls for operating the lift shall be at a location where the bus driver or 
lift attendant has a full view, unobstructed by passengers, of the lift platform, 
its entrance and exit, and the wheelchair passenger, either directly or with 
partial assistance of mirrors. Lifts located entirely to the rear of the driver’s seat 
shall not be operable from the driver’s seat, but shall have an override control 
at the driver’s position that can be activated to prevent the lift from being 
operated by the other controls (except for emergency manual operation upon 
power failure).

iv. The installation of the wheelchair lift or ramp and its controls and the method 
of attachment in the bus body or chassis shall not diminish the structural 
integrity of the bus nor cause a hazardous imbalance of the bus. No part of the 
assembly, when installed and stowed, shall extend laterally beyond the normal 
side contour of the bus or vertically beyond the lowest part of the rim of the 
wheel closest to the lift.

v. Each wheelchair lift or ramp assembly shall be legibly and permanently marked 
by the manufacturer or installer with the following information:

1. The manufacturer’s name and address.
2. The month and year of manufacture.
3. A certificate that the wheelchair lift or ramp securement devices, and their 

installation, conform to State of Florida requirements applicable to 
accessible buses.

o Wheelchairs. Wheelchair lifts, ramps, securement devices, and restraints shall be 
inspected and maintained as required by this rule chapter. Instructions for normal 
and emergency operation of the lift or ramp shall be carried or displayed in every 
bus.

Any additional text for Chapter 16.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 17-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

17.0 Internal and External Safety Audits

The Transportation Director is responsible for conducting announced and unannounced internal 
safety audits of Marion Transit units and contract operators. Annual internal safety audits will be 
conducted starting October 1st of each calendar year and ending prior to the end of the same 
calendar year utilizing the internal audit checklist included in Appendix G. The annual audit results 
will be documented by the Transportation Director in a report containing the following:

Identification of the findings, including a detailed description of any deficiency. 

Required corrective action and a schedule for implementation of the corrective action to 
be taken for each deficiency. 

Any required suspension of bus transit system service should Your Community Transit 
determine the continued operation of the service, or a portion thereof, poses an immediate 
danger to public safety.

In addition, announced and unannounced periodic internal audits will be conducted by the 
Transportation Director or designee(s) to ensure compliance with all the objectives and 
requirements of SSPP and Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90. Safety audits (sampling) of 
vehicles and records will be conducted on random basis, but at least annually.  Pre-Post Trip 
Inspections will also be utilized to monitor safety concerns/issues on a daily basis.  Facility 
inspection will be conducted once every week to identify and resolve potential safety and security 
hazards. The HR Director will regularly perform Quality Control (QC)/Quality Assurance (QA) 
checks to ensure that safety compliance, both in-house and contracted, is achieved at all times.
Contractors/subcontractors are subject to audits and inspections on an announced or 
unannounced basis at the discretion of Marion Transit management. Marion Transit, or its 
contractor, will conduct safety and security reviews of contract service operators, at least once 
every three years, to ascertain compliance with the provisions of Florida Administrative Code Rule 
14-90.

   
Marion Transit management will work closely with regulatory agencies (FDOT, FTA, etc.) when 
external audit notifications are received and allocate resources, as necessary, to facilitate the 
audits. 

Any additional text for Chapter 17.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 18-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

18.0 Certification

The Transportation Director will submit an annual safety and security certification to the FDOT 
utilizing the self-certification form included in Appendix H. The certification will be submitted 
no later than February 15, for the prior calendar year period unless otherwise required by 
FDOT. The certification will attest to the following:

The adoption of an SSPP and an SPP in accordance with established standards set forth 
in Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

Compliance with the adopted SSPP and SPP.

Performance of safety inspections on all buses operated by the system in accordance with 
Florida Administrative Code Rule 14-90.

Reviews of the SSPP and SPP have been conducted to ensure they are up to date.

The certification will also include:

The name and address of Marion Transit, and the name and address of the entity(ies) 
who performed bus safety inspections and security assessments during the prior calendar 
year, if different from Marion Transit.

A statement signed by the Chief Executive Officer/signatory authority responsible for the 
management of Marion Transit attesting to compliance with Florida Administrative Code 
Rule 14-90.

Any additional text for Chapter 18.0 must be inserted above this point for formatting/page numbering purposes.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

Marion Senior Services, Inc. – Marion Transit 19-1
C:\Users\liz.mitchell\Desktop\CTD\CTC Evaluation\CTC Eval 2023\Attachments\SSPP Rev Sept 2022.docx

19.0Appendices

Appendix A: Rule Chapter 14-90, F.A.C.
Appendix B: Substance Abuse Policy
Appendix C: Maintenance Plan 
Appendix D: Preventative Maintenance Guidelines 
Appendix E: Medical Examination Form 725-030-011
Appendix F: Radio Operating Procedures 
Appendix G: Internal Safety Audit Checklist 
Appendix H: Bus Transit System Annual Safety and Security Certification Form 
Appendix I: SSPP Addendums (placeholder for future updates)   
Appendix J: Text Formatting Palette 
Appendix K: Marion Transit Procedures

a. Operations Staff Accident Procedures / Responsibilities
b. Pre-Trip / Post-Trip Daily Inspections
c. Biohazard Clean Up Procedure
d. Bus Evacuation Procedure/Plan
e. Transportation for Life Sustaining Activities
f. Lift & Wheelchair Procedure/Policy
g. Closing Procedure for Dispatch
h. Railroad Crossings Procedure
i. Proper Use of Two-Way Radios
j. Reasonable Modification Policy
k. Employee Incident & Injury Report Procedure
l. Vehicle Inspections
m. Complaint & Compliments Procedure
n. Alternative Internet Access
o. Customer Rights & Responsibilities
p. Scope of Work for Community Transportation Coordinators
q. Rider Disciplinary- Suspension Policy
r. Marion Transit STAR of the Month
s. Client Intake Procedure / Form
t. Trip Rate Procedure
u. Bus Road Call & Wrecker Procedure
v. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Policy/Procedure
w. About our Clients
x. Bus Video Review Policy
y. Asset Management Plan
z. Client Injury Report
aa. Supervisor Incident Review



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix A
Rule Chapter 14-90, F.A.C.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix B
Substance Abuse Policy



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix C
Maintenance Plan 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix D
Preventative Maintenance Guidelines 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix E
Medical Examination Form 725-030-011



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix F
Radio Operating Procedures



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix G
Internal Safety Audit Checklist



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix H
Bus Transit System 

Annual Safety and Security Certification 
Form 



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix I
SSPP Addendums 

(placeholder for future updates)  



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix J
Text Formatting Palette

Formatting/Styles

Report margins: 
Top margin = 1”
Bottom margin = 1”
Left margin = 1.25”
Right margin = .75”

Heading levels:

Heading One

Arial 18 pt bold; centered; paragraph spacing = 20 pt after

Heading 2

Arial 12 pt bold; left-aligned; line spacing-single; paragraph spacing = 6 pt before, 14 pt after

Body Text: Arial 11, single spaced, one blank line between paragraphs.

Bulleted List: Arial 11 pt; line spacing-single; paragraph spacing = 6 pt before

General Instructions

How to Update Table of Contents: 

Right click on table of contents and choose update field—you will then have the option 
of updating the entire table of contents or just the page numbers.

How to Add New Section:

Under Page Layout Menu, choose Breaks, then Section Break, then Next Page.
Heading numbers should update automatically in new section.



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

Appendix K
Marion Transit Procedures

a. Operations Staff Accident Procedures / Responsibilities
b. Pre-Trip / Post-Trip Daily Inspections
c. Biohazard Clean Up Procedure
d. Bus Evacuation Procedure/Plan
e. Transportation for Life Sustaining Activities
f. Lift & Wheelchair Procedure/Policy
g. Closing Procedure for Dispatch
h. Railroad Crossings Procedure
i. Proper Use of Two-Way Radios
j. Reasonable Modification Policy
k. Employee Incident & Injury Report Procedure
l. Vehicle Inspections
m. Complaint & Compliments Procedure
n. Alternative Internet Access
o. Customer Rights & Responsibilities
p. Scope of Work for Community Transportation Coordinators
q. Rider Disciplinary- Suspension Policy
r. Marion Transit STAR of the Month
s. Client Intake Procedure / Form
t. Trip Rate Procedure
u. Bus Road Call & Wrecker Procedure
v. Disadvantaged Business Enterprise (DBE) Policy/Procedure
w. About our Clients
x. Bus Video Review Policy
y. Asset Management Plan
z. Client Injury Report
aa. Supervisor Incident Review



System Safety Program Plan (SSPP) 

 

 
 

 
 

Diane Poitras 
District Transit Programs Administrator 

FDOT District Five Modal Development Office 
420 W Landstreet Road, MS 594 

Orlando, FL  32824 
Phone: 407-482-7860 

Email: diane.poitras@dot.state.fl.us 

  
 



 

 

FDOT District Five Modal Development Office
420 W Landstreet Road, MS 594

Orlando, FL  32824



Florida Department of Transportation
RON DESANTIS

GOVERNOR
420 W. Landstreet Rd.

Orlando, FL 32824
KEVIN J. THIBAULT, P.E.

SECRETARY

Improve Safety, Enhance Mobility, Inspire Innovation
www.fdot.gov

May 3, 2021 

Tom Wilder 
Transportation Director  
Marion Senior Services 
1101 Southwest 20th Court 
Ocala, Florida 34471 

Re: Marion Senior Services – 2021 Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) Triennial Review 
Compliance Notice 

Dear Mr. Wilder: 

This letter is to confirm that the 2021 Marion Senior Services’ FDOT Triennial Review conducted on 
January 26 and 27, 2021, is now closed. Following the Triennial Review Report originally transmitted on 
March 17, 2021, the Department has found Marion Senior Services in compliance with the FDOT 
regulations for providing public transportation services and for receiving federal funding programs 
49 U.S.C. §5310, §5311,  and §5339. A summary of review findings is provided in Attachment A of this 
notice. Thank you for cooperating with the FDOT review team to work towards compliance in 
various areas of Marion Senior Services’ public transportation program. 

Your cooperation during the process was greatly appreciated. The Department looks forward to 
continuing its valued partnership with Marion Senior Services to provide safe and efficient public 
transportation for the residents of Marion County. 

Should you have any questions or require additional information, please do not hesitate to contact me 
directly at (321) 319-8174 or e-mail diane.poitras@dot.state.fl.us.  

Sincerely, 

Diane Poitras 
Transit Programs Administrator 
FDOT District Five 

c:  
Carlos Colon, Transit Project Coordinator - FDOT, District Five 
Sophia Villavicencio-Ortiz, In-House Consultant – VHB 
Jennifer Martinez, Executive Director – Marion Senior Services 
Herman Schulz, Transit Manager – Marion Senior Services 
Ken McKelvy, Transit Manager – Marion Senior Services 

Attachment A – 



FDOT Triennial Review - Section 5311 Sub-Recipient Finding Summary  

1 | P a g e  
 

 

Review Category  Review Area/Finding Level  Details  

Charter Bus/School Bus  No Findings  Not Applicable  

Civil Rights: Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) 

No Findings  Not Applicable  

Civil Rights: Disadvantaged Business 
Enterprise   

No Findings Not Applicable  

Civil Rights: Equal Employment 
Opportunity   

No Findings Not Applicable  

Civil Rights: Title VI Program Plan and Support Documents  / Area of 
Concern 
 

Agency’s Title VI Plan does not identify the racial breakdown of the 
Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB) in the 
region. 

Civil Rights: Title VI Program Plan and Support Documents / Area of 
Concern 

Agency’s Title VI Plan did not conclude include the American Community 
Survey maps and tables provided by FDOT. 

Coordinated Plans  Coordinated Public Transportation/Human 
Services / Area of Concern 

"Section 5310 CFR 9070.1G Coordinated Public Transit-Human Services 
Transportation Plan. On December 4, 2015, Congress enacted the Fixing 
America’s Surface Transportation (FAST) Act, which provides funding for 
highway and transit programs. The FAST Act has been extended through 
fiscal year 2021 in September of 2020. The law includes transportation 
planning requirements. Among these, FAST requires that local communities 
have a coordinated human services transportation plan. Projects funded by 
the Federal Transit Administration’s (FTA) Section 5310 (Enhanced Mobility 
for Seniors and Individuals with Disabilities) Program, “must be derived from 
a locally developed, coordinated public transit-human services transportation 
plan.” In addition to promoting local transportation coordination, this 



FDOT Triennial Review - Section 5311 Sub-Recipient Finding Summary  

2 | P a g e  
 

Review Category  Review Area/Finding Level  Details  
requirement is intended to improve transportation services for persons with 
disabilities, older adults and individuals with lower incomes. FTA defines a 
coordinated plan as a unified, comprehensive strategy for public 
transportation service delivery that defines the transportation needs of 
individuals with disabilities, seniors, and individuals with limited incomes, lays 
out strategies for meeting these needs and prioritizes services.                           

 Requires public participation for the planning process, the TDLCB 
meetings are part of the coordinated system but not a part of the 
planning process.   

 Agency should work with Ocala/Marion TPO on this process to 
update this plan. 

 MSS is required to develop a Coordinated Public Transit-Human 
Services Transportation Plan which can also be used to meet the 
Commission for Transportation Disadvantaged requirements for the 
TDSP.  

Drug & Alcohol Testing  Drug and Alcohol Policy / Area of Concern 
 

Agency may be including employees in the federal testing program that are 
not performing safety-sensitive functions (as defined by FTA rule, 49 CFR 
Part 655.4).   Federal testing of employees who are not covered by the rule is 
prohibited.  

Drug & Alcohol Testing  Pre-Employment- Testing and Background 
Checks / Deficiency 

USDOT rule, 49 CFR Part 40.25 requires all transportation employers to 
perform drug and alcohol background checks when an applicant or 
transferee is being placed into a safety-sensitive position and has previously 
held a DOT-covered position within the 2 years prior to date of application.  
Agency was not able to provide documentation that DOT-previous employer 
drug and alcohol background checks (inquiries) are being performed. 



FDOT Triennial Review - Section 5311 Sub-Recipient Finding Summary  

3 | P a g e  
 

Review Category  Review Area/Finding Level  Details  

Project Management/Financial 
Information 

Procurement / Area of Concern Agency’s procurement policy does not include language explaining the 
graduated purchasing authority that is followed and language explaining the 
agency’s appeal and protest procedures. 

Project Management/Financial 
Information 

Procurement / Area of Concern Agency should update the addendum concerning SAM.gov check to make it 
clear that any proposed vendor that will be paid with federal funds must not 
be excluded or disqualified through the Excluded Parties List System (EPLS) 
by completing a verification search on the following link: Sam.gov/SAM/ 

Project Management/Financial 
Information 

Procurement / Area of Concern FDOT address on DBE plan is outdated. 

Project Management/Financial 
Information 

Procurement / Area of Concern Agency’s procurement policy did not include reference that procurements 
utilizing federal funds will be in accordance to 2 CFR 200.317 – 200.326. 

Safety and Security  Driver Qualifications / Observation 
 

The CUTR team reviewed a random selection of driver records to ensure that 
all licenses, medical examinations, and training requirements were in 
compliance with Chapter 14-90, FAC     and the agency’s SSPP.  Marion 
Senior Services is doing a good job ensuring they are in compliance with 
these requirements.  

Safety and Security Rules and SOPs / Deficiency 
 

Marion Senior Services operators observed during the virtual ride-along did 
not operate the bus in accordance with the agency’s rules and regulations 
and in observance of local, state, and federal laws.   

Safety and Security  Accidents / Deficiency 
 

Marion Senior Services does not address the following requirements for 
Event Investigation as outlined in Rule 14-90 FAC.: 

 Events are investigated and documented in a final report that includes 
a description of the investigation activities, identified causal factors, 
and any identified corrective actions - Documentation not consistent 
with agency’s SSPP 



FDOT Triennial Review - Section 5311 Sub-Recipient Finding Summary  

4 | P a g e  
 

Review Category  Review Area/Finding Level  Details  
 Corrective action plans are developed by the bus transit system that 

will identify planned actions and schedule for implementation - 
Documentation not consistent with agency’s SSPP 

 Does the agency monitor and tracks the implementation and 
completion of each corrective action - Documentation not consistent 
with the agency’s SSPP 

 Does the agency have a follow-up procedure in place to ensure that 
the corrective action is working - Documentation not consistent with 
the agency’s SSPP 

 Does the agency conduct annual/periodic safety and hazard analysis 
of data – agency stated that this requirement is under 
implementation 

Safety and Security Accidents / Deficiency 
 

Marion Senior Services does not address the requirement of notification and 
investigation reports, findings, causal factors, corrective action plans, 
supporting documents as outlined in Rule 14-90 FAC. – Several files are 
incomplete missing CAP implementation documentation along with CAP 
monitoring documentation. 

Safety and Security  Hazards / Deficiency 
 

Marion Senior Services does not conduct a hazard analysis to assess the level 
of risk the seating capacity and configuration could pose if a vehicle needed 
to be evacuated in an emergency situation for vehicles with more than three 
(3) wheelchair positions as outlined in FDOT guidelines. 

Safety and Security Emergency Management and Security / 
Deficiency 

Marion Senior Services does not address the following requirements for the 
development and adoption of a Security Program Plan as outlined in Rule 
14-90 FAC.  

 Approved Security Program Plan (SPP) – The document is not signed. 
 Certification requirements 
 SPP requirements for contractors 



FDOT Triennial Review - Section 5311 Sub-Recipient Finding Summary  

5 | P a g e  
 

Review Category  Review Area/Finding Level  Details  
 Procedures for oversight and monitoring of contractors compliance 

with security requirements 
 Review threat and vulnerability assessment 
 Procedures for SPP maintenance and distribution: includes disclosure 

prohibition per Section 119.071(3)(a), F.S. – disclosure prohibition is 
not included. 

Equipment Management No Findings  Not Applicable  

Facility Maintenance  No Findings  Not Applicable  

National Transit Database (NTD) No Findings  Not Applicable  

Vehicle Maintenance  Vehicle Files / Observation  Marion Senior Services has an excellent PM program.  The program is well 
documented and maintenance practices are consistent with the agency’s 
written policies.  Performance measures also indicated the program is 
efficient.      

Vehicle Maintenance  Vehicle Files / Vehicle Files  A safety-sensitive defect was identified during the on-site vehicle inspection.  
The critical nature of the defect resulted in the vehicle being removed from 
service by the FDOT District 5 Representative.   

Vehicle Maintenance  Maintenance Plan / Maintenance Plan  The fleet roster does not include all of the vehicles currently operated by 
Marion Senior Services to provide passenger transportation.  

Vehicle Maintenance  Pre and Post-Trip Inspections / Pre and 
Post Trip Inspections  

Although the drivers checked the wheelchair lift and interlock during their 
pre-trip inspection observation, they did not seem completely familiar with 
all of their safety functions.   

 



 

1 1101 S.W. 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471 / 352-620-3519 

January 31, 2023 

Florida Department of Transportation, District Five 
Attn:  Ms. Diane Poitras, Transit Programs Administrator 
420 W. Landstreet RD 
Orlando, FL  32824 
 
RE: VEHICLE MAINTENANCE PLAN 
 
To:  District Five 
 
 
This letter provides certification that Marion Senior Services, Inc. d/b/a Marion Transit has not made 
any changes to the Vehicle Maintenance Plan implemented November 2017 to comply and incorporate 
FDOT Preventative Maintenance Standards Manual Edition 4.1.    

The Preventative Maintenance Plan is attached for reference if necessary. 
 

Sincerely, 

______________________________ 
Clayton Murch, Transportation Director 
 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 1 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PREVENTIVE MAINTENANCE MANUAL 

for 

MARIONTRANSIT 
Revised – November, 2017 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Complies with and incorporates   

FDOT Preventative Maintenance Standards Manual  

Edition 4.1 

 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 2 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

Maintenance Plan Outsource 
 

It is the goal of Marion Transit to maintain an effective preventative maintenance program by utilizing 
proper management of parts, equipment and fleet.  Marion Transit strives to operate a proactive 
maintenance program as opposed to reactive.  Some ways they hope to accomplish this are by ensuring 
efficient cost-effective repairs and improving quality assurance measures.  Scheduling work allows time, 
materials, tools, equipment, and labor to be managed easier than having unpredictable maintenance 
costs, workloads, and vehicle downtime. A maintenance plan has been adopted to make these goals 
attainable. 

The maintenance plan is a “living document” including schedules and reports which will be updated 
periodically to reflect changes in maintenance policies, equipment, and program improvements.  

Vehicle Maintenance 

The current Marion Transit vehicle fleet is attached.   

Marion Transit maintains the vehicles by performing the following regularly scheduled preventative 
maintenance inspections: 

Pre-Trip Inspections 
Vehicles receive a daily or pre-operational inspection that includes the following items: 

 Lighting Devices 
 Windshield wipers 
 Interior Gauges and Warning System 
 Climate Control 
 Mirrors 
 All Lights, Mirrors, Wipers and Warning Devices 
 Parking Brakes 
 Service Brakes 
 Steering  
 Horn 
 Fire extinguisher 
 Emergency Exit Windows and Door 
 Passenger Doors 
 Tires and Wheels 
 Exhaust System 
 Interlock System, if equipped 
 Wheelchair Lifts and Ramp.   
 Belts and Securement Devices. 
 First Aid Kit & Bloodborne Spill Kit. 
 Reflective Triangles.   
 Fire Suppression System, if equipped. 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 3 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 

These inspections are performed by driver’s by completing a pre-trip inspection form.  See attached.  
Forms are documented with the operator’s signature and a check in each box to ensure whether items 
are “OK” or a defect is found.  Details of the defect are noted in the comments section.  Completed pre-
trip inspection forms are submitted to the dispatcher and reviewed before the vehicle begins service.  If 
a safety defect is found during the pre-trip inspection, the vehicle is repaired before returning to service.  
Once a defect is repaired it will be acknowledged in one of the following ways: 

 The repair is noted on the pre-trip inspection form, along with a signature and date of repair; or 
 A completed work order form describing the repair is attached to the pre-trip inspection form.  

Pre-trip inspection forms are filed in the Transit Manager’s Office and kept on file for a minimum of 14 
days. 

During scheduled trips and at the conclusion of transportation service the operator will note any defects 
on a post-trip inspection checklist to be turned in to dispatch at the end of the day.  Defects that are 
consistent with the safety sensitive items listed on the pre-trip inspection are repaired before the 
vehicle returns to service.  Defects that are not safety related are scheduled for repair at a later date.  

Preventative Maintenance Inspections 
Vehicles receive scheduled preventative maintenance inspections every 6000 miles.  Vehicle mileages 
are tracked using both manual & electronic methods to schedule upcoming preventative maintenance 
inspections.  When a vehicle is due for inspection, it is taken out of service until the inspection and all 
necessary repairs are completed.  A preventative maintenance inspection checklist is used to inspect 
components in a progressive method.  See attached.  The inspections are performed in an A,B,A,C 
sequence every 6000 miles to ensure vehicle safety. 
 

Marion Transit uses the following outsource maintenance facilities to conduct the preventative 
maintenance inspections and repairs: 

 Construction Tire & Maintenance – 3021 NW 21 Street, Ocala – 352-629-3506 
 AAMCO – 661 SW 17th Loop, Ocala – 352-369-9928 
 Thermo King of Ocala – 6015 NW 44 Ave., Ocala – 352-867-7700 
 ACE Auto Air – 2120 S. Pine Ave., Ocala – 352-732-2511 
 Don’s Garage – 218 SW 10th Street, Ocala – 352-732-7153 

 
Marion Transit has provided the maintenance facilities performing the preventative maintenance 
inspections with the Preventative Maintenance Standards Manual to use as guidelines for performing 
these inspections.  See attached.  In addition, the Marion Transit has maintained a signed Preventative 
Maintenance Agreement with the outsourced facility outlining the roles and responsibilities of each 
party regarding preventative maintenance vehicle inspections.  
 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 4 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

Upon completion of the preventative maintenance inspection, the maintenance facility provides Marion 
Transit with a completed preventative maintenance inspection checklist form and a receipt for 
purchased services.  This information is filed in the vehicle history files located in room 132. 
 
All repairs that are considered to be safety related are made before the vehicle returns to service.  
Cosmetic repairs and repairs that are not safety related are scheduled for repair at a later date. 
 
Maintenance Policies and Procedures  
 
Vehicle History Files 
Vehicle history files are maintained for each vehicle for the life of that vehicle.  Each file includes the 
following: 

 Identification of the vehicle, including make, model, license number or other means of positive 
identification and ownership; 

 Date, mileage and description of each inspection, maintenance, repair or lubrication performed; 
 If not owned by the transit Marion Transit, the name of the person or company furnishing 

service with this vehicle; 
 The name and address of any business firm performing an inspection, maintenance, repair or 

lubrication. 

Lift Maintenance 
As part of the preventative maintenance on wheelchair lifts, a complete cycle of the lift is performed 
during the operators’ pre-trip inspection.  The operators report, by the most immediate means 
available, any lift failures. 
 
The lifts are serviced on preventative maintenance inspections according to the manufacturer’s 
specifications.  Instructions for normal and emergency operation of the lift or ramp are carried or 
displayed in every accessible vehicle.  
 
Accidents 
All accidents are tracked by the frequency, type, and which party was at fault through incident reports 
that are completed within 12 hours of the time of the incident.  See attached (incident report form) 
 
Accident Investigation Reports are completed with the following information: 

 Events are investigated and documented in a final report 
 Description of investigation activities 
 Identified causal factors 
 Corrective actions 
 Schedule of implementation of corrective actions 

In the event of an accident the primary responsibility of all staff is to ensure the safety of the 
passengers.  Marion Transit accident procedure is attached.     
 
 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 5 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

Road Calls 

Road calls are defined as any in-service interruptions caused by failure of some functionally necessary 
element of the vehicle.  When failures occur they are called in to the Marion Transit.  The Transportation 
Coordinator makes towing arrangements to bring the vehicle to an outsource maintenance facility if 
necessary.  Road call repairs are completed in the most expeditious manner to reduce the vehicle’s 
down time.  All related repair and towing expenses are filed in the vehicle’s history file.  Road calls are 
documented and monitored by the Transportation Coordinator and are analyzed to identify 
maintenance trends.  

Cleaning 

It is the duty of the assigned driver to perform a daily walkthrough on the vehicle and ensure there is no 
debris on the flooring or step wells that could result any falls or slips. Unsafe conditions are corrected 
before any scheduled trips.  Drivers are also responsible for daily cleaning of their assigned bus.     

Information Management 
Maintenance activities are regularly monitored and analyzed by the Transit Manager and Transit 
Assistant.  This information is used to adjust the preventative maintenance program as needed.   
  
Warranty 
A warranty recovery system, or warranty records of claims submitted and received, are maintained by 
Marion Transit.  All warranty paperwork is filed in the bus folders. 
 
Warranty repairs are identified by maintaining a list of items from the manufacturer that are under 
warranty and when the warranty expires.  When a component fails it is checked against the list for time 
and/or mileage to determine if it is still under warranty.  Documentation of warranty repairs, claims, and 
a recovery program are kept on file to guarantee the cost of the defects under warranty is paid by the 
equipment manufacturer and not the Marion Transit.  All warranty claims are pursued until the claim is 
settled. 
 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 6 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 7 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 8 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 9 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

ABC Progressive Inspections  
 
Preventative maintenance inspections for Marion Transit are scheduled in a progressive method by 
using a predetermined target mileage (6000 miles). Intervals, however, should not exceed 6,000 miles.   
 
Note:  Older, “spare” vehicles that do not meet the target mileage within a year will be scheduled for a 
“C” Annual Inspection/Maintenance annually.   
 
The ABC progressive inspection method is comprised of three progressive levels: “A” level inspections, 
“B” level inspections and “C” level inspections. Inspections should be performed in the following 
sequence: A, B, A, C. For example, Marion Transit inspections using a 6,000 mile interval, the inspections 
would follow this sequence: 

6000 MILE Preventive Maintenance Schedule 
A 6000 MILES A 54,000 MILES A 102,000 MILES A 150,000 MILES 
B 12,000 MILES B 60,000 MILES B 108,000 MILES B 156,000 MILES 
A 18,000 MILES A 66,000 MILES A 114,000 MILES A 162,000 MILES 
C 24,000 MILES C 72,000 MILES C 120,000 MILES C 168,000 MILES 
A 30,000 MILES A 78,000 MILES A 126,000 MILES A 174,000 MILES 
B 36,000 MILES B 84,000 MILES B 132,000 MILES B 180,000 MILES 
A 42,000 MILES A 90,000 MILES A 138,000 MILES A 186,000 MILES 
C 48,000 MILES C 96,000 MILES C 144,000 MILES C 192,000 MILES 

Note: Maintenance shall not exceed 10% of scheduled maintenance mileage.   
 

Conducting Preventative Maintenance Inspections  
The following tables provide a step-by-step guide for conducting preventative maintenance 
inspections using the ABC progressive inspection method. Table 3 identifies the minimum 
components/items that must be inspected during an “A” level inspection. Table 4 identifies 
the components/items that must be inspected during a “B” level inspection, and Table 5 
identifies “C” level inspection items.  
IMPORTANT NOTE  
ABAC inspections are cumulative. This means that “B” level inspections must also include 
“A” level inspections, and “C” level inspections must include both “A” and “B” level 
inspections.  
 
FDOT has determined that the following vehicle components require a vehicle lift to be properly inspected. The 
“Item #” in parentheses corresponds to numbers on the FDOT-approved “Preventative Maintenance Inspection 
Report” Checklist. This form is included in the Preventative Maintenance Standards Manual.:  
• Torque rods (Item #60)  
• Ball joints (Item #61)  
• Steering Gear/Linkage & Arms (Item #62)  
• Lube Chassis (Item #64)  
• Drive shaft & U-joints (Item #65)  
• Differential Oil Level/Clean Breather/Axle seals (Item #66)  
• Drain and refill differential fluid (Item #67)  



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 10 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

• Replace transmission fluid and filter (Item #68)  
• Front Wheel Bearings (Item #69)  
• Air Tank Mounting/Lines & Valves (Item #71)  
• Exhaust System for Mounting/Leaks/Restrictions (Item #72)  
• Underbody/Mounts & Frames (Item #73)  
• Fuel Tank Mounting & Fuel Leaks (Item #74)  
• Brake Foundation/Lines/Rotors/Drums (Item #82)  
• L/Front Brakes % Worn (Item #83)  
• R/Front Brakes % Worn (Item #84)  
• L/Rear Brakes % Worn (Item #85)  
• R/Rear Brakes % Worn (Item #86)  
 
Additionally, it is beneficial for the following vehicle components to be suspended on a lift to ensure accuracy:  
• Engine Oil & Filter (Item #53)  
• Shocks/Springs/MOR/ryde (Item #59)  
 
 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 11 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 12 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 13 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 14 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 15 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 16 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 17 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 18 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 19 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 20 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 21 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 
 

“C” Level Inspection –  
Annual Inspections will be noted during “C” Level Inspections by circling the “Annual” Inspection type 
on the Preventive Maintenance Inspection Report.  These annual inspections are required annually for 
each bus.       



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 22 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 
       105.   *Video System – if equipped 

Ensure system is in working order.  This inspection is performed by the Transit 
Manager or Transit Assistant and noted as part of the Annual Inspection.     
 

 

 

 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 23 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 24 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 

 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 25 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 
 

 

 



 
 

MARION TRANSIT – Rev. Nov. 2017 Page 26 
 

MARIONTRANSIT 

 
 

 

END 
 

 



SHOULD ANY OF THE ABOVE DESCRIBED POLICIES BE CANCELLED BEFORE
THE EXPIRATION DATE THEREOF, NOTICE WILL BE DELIVERED IN
ACCORDANCE WITH THE POLICY PROVISIONS.

INSURER(S) AFFORDING COVERAGE

INSURER F :

INSURER E :

INSURER D :

INSURER C :

INSURER B :

INSURER A :

NAIC #

NAME:
CONTACT

(A/C, No):
FAX

E-MAIL
ADDRESS:

PRODUCER

(A/C, No, Ext):
PHONE

INSURED

REVISION NUMBER:CERTIFICATE NUMBER:COVERAGES

IMPORTANT:  If the certificate holder is an ADDITIONAL INSURED, the policy(ies) must have ADDITIONAL INSURED provisions or be endorsed.
If SUBROGATION IS WAIVED, subject to the terms and conditions of the policy, certain policies may require an endorsement.  A statement on
this certificate does not confer rights to the certificate holder in lieu of such endorsement(s).

THIS CERTIFICATE IS ISSUED AS A MATTER OF INFORMATION ONLY AND CONFERS NO RIGHTS UPON THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER. THIS
CERTIFICATE DOES NOT AFFIRMATIVELY OR NEGATIVELY AMEND, EXTEND OR ALTER THE COVERAGE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES
BELOW.  THIS CERTIFICATE OF INSURANCE DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN THE ISSUING INSURER(S), AUTHORIZED
REPRESENTATIVE OR PRODUCER, AND THE CERTIFICATE HOLDER.

OTHER:

(Per accident)

(Ea accident)

$

$

N / A

SUBR
WVD

ADDL
INSD

THIS IS TO CERTIFY THAT THE POLICIES OF INSURANCE LISTED BELOW HAVE BEEN ISSUED TO THE INSURED NAMED ABOVE FOR THE POLICY PERIOD
INDICATED.  NOTWITHSTANDING ANY REQUIREMENT, TERM OR CONDITION OF ANY CONTRACT OR OTHER DOCUMENT WITH RESPECT TO WHICH THIS
CERTIFICATE MAY BE ISSUED OR MAY PERTAIN, THE INSURANCE AFFORDED BY THE POLICIES DESCRIBED HEREIN IS SUBJECT TO ALL THE TERMS,
EXCLUSIONS AND CONDITIONS OF SUCH POLICIES. LIMITS SHOWN MAY HAVE BEEN REDUCED BY PAID CLAIMS.

$

$

$

$PROPERTY DAMAGE
BODILY INJURY (Per accident)

BODILY INJURY (Per person)

COMBINED SINGLE LIMIT

AUTOS ONLY

AUTOSAUTOS ONLY
NON-OWNED

SCHEDULEDOWNED
ANY AUTO

AUTOMOBILE LIABILITY

Y / N
WORKERS COMPENSATION
AND EMPLOYERS' LIABILITY

OFFICER/MEMBER EXCLUDED?
(Mandatory in NH)

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS below
If yes, describe under

ANY PROPRIETOR/PARTNER/EXECUTIVE

$

$

$

E.L. DISEASE - POLICY LIMIT

E.L. DISEASE - EA EMPLOYEE

E.L. EACH ACCIDENT

ER
OTH-

STATUTE
PER

LIMITS(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EXP

(MM/DD/YYYY)
POLICY EFF

POLICY NUMBERTYPE OF INSURANCELTR
INSR

DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS / LOCATIONS / VEHICLES  (ACORD 101, Additional Remarks Schedule, may be attached if more space is required)

EXCESS LIAB

UMBRELLA LIAB $EACH OCCURRENCE

$AGGREGATE

$

OCCUR

CLAIMS-MADE

DED RETENTION $

$PRODUCTS - COMP/OP AGG

$GENERAL AGGREGATE

$PERSONAL & ADV INJURY

$MED EXP (Any one person)

$EACH OCCURRENCE
DAMAGE TO RENTED

$PREMISES (Ea occurrence)

COMMERCIAL GENERAL LIABILITY

CLAIMS-MADE OCCUR

GEN'L AGGREGATE LIMIT APPLIES PER:

POLICY PRO-
JECT LOC

CERTIFICATE OF LIABILITY INSURANCE DATE (MM/DD/YYYY)

CANCELLATION

AUTHORIZED REPRESENTATIVE

ACORD 25 (2016/03)
© 1988-2015 ACORD CORPORATION.  All rights reserved.

CERTIFICATE HOLDER

The ACORD name and logo are registered marks of ACORD

HIRED
AUTOS ONLY



































TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022   Page 1 of 6 
Approved –  

 
 

 
 

Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB) Meeting 
Marion County Growth Services Training Room 
2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd., Ocala, FL 34470 

December 8, 2022 
10:00 AM 

 
 

MINUTES 
 
 
 
Members Present:  
 
Michelle Stone 
Jeffrey Askew (arrived at 10:10am) 
Glorybee Perez (Emilio Santiago arrived at 10:13am and attended as an alternate) 
Tracey Sapp (Monica DaSilva attended as an alternate) 
Susan Hanley 
Andrea Melvin 
Carressa Hutchinson (arrived at 10:27am) 
Keith Fair 
 
Members Not Present:  
 
Glorybee Perez 
Lauren Debik 
Carlos Colon  
Iris Pozo 
Anissa Pieriboni 
Steven Neal 
Jeff Aboumrad 
Ronald Graham 
 
Others Present:  
 
Rob Balmes, TPO 
Shakayla Irby, TPO 
Elizabeth Mitchell, TPO 



TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022 Page 2 of 6 
Approved –  

Clayton Murch, Marion Senior Services 
Karen Williams, Marion Senior Services 
Herman Schulz, Marion Senior Services  
Ken McKelvy, Marion Senior Services 

Item 1.  Call to Order and Roll Call 

Chairwoman Michelle Stone called the meeting to order at 10:05am.  Secretary Shakayla Irby 
called the roll and a quorum was present with a special quorum of at least four voting member’s 
present in-person.   

Ms. Melvin made a motion to proceed with the special quorum.  Mr. Fair seconded, and the motion 
passed unanimously. 

An in-person quorum was met with the arrival of Mr. Askew at 10:10am. 

Item 2. Pledge of Allegiance  

Chairwoman Stone led the board members in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 3.  Proof of Publication  

Secretary Shakayla Irby stated that the meeting had been published December 1, 2022 online on 
the TPO website and Facebook and Twitter pages, the City of Ocala, Belleview, and Dunnellon 
websites. The meeting was also published to the December 1, 2022 edition of the Ocala Star 
Banner. 

Item 4a. Grievance Procedures 

TPO staff annually reviewed and/or amended the TDLCB Grievance Procedures to assure that 
all elements of the Grievance Procedures were in alignment with Florida statutes, regulations 
and codes. The Grievance Procedures serve to guide the TDLCB in satisfying any concerns 
or issues by any person(s) regarding the services provided by Marion Transit in its role 
as the Community Transportation Coordinator (CTC). 

The Grievance Procedures were provided to the board to review and the board members had no 
changes at the time. 

Ms. Hanley made a motion to accept the Grievance Procedures as presented.  Mr. Fair seconded, 
and the motion passed unanimously. 

Item 4b. Bylaws 

TPO staff annually reviewed and/or amended the TDLCB Bylaws to assure that all elements 
of the Bylaws are in alignment with Florida statutes, regulations and codes. The Bylaws 
guide the TDLCB in assisting Marion Transit in its role as Community Transportation 



TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022   Page 3 of 6 
Approved –  

Coordinator (CTC) deliver quality service to the Transportation Disadvantaged (TD) 
community. 
 
There was noted a phrasing change to the Bylaws in Article VII of the document.   
The change is listed below: 
 
Previously read: Work cooperatively with local Welfare Transition Program (WTP) coalitions established 
in Chapter 445, FS, to provide assistance in the development of innovative transportation services for 
WTP participants. 
Changed to read: Work cooperatively with local workforce development boards established in Chapter 
445, to provide assistance in the development of innovative transportation services for participants in 
the welfare transition program. 
 
The board reviewed the Bylaws and had no additional changes at the time. 
 
Ms. Melvin made a motion to approve the Bylaws as presented.  Ms. Hanley seconded, and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
Item 4c. Board Elections – Vice Chair 
 
Per the TDLCB Bylaws, a Vice-Chair shall be elected at the last regular meeting of the 
calendar year. The Officer may be elected by a majority of the present voting members. The 
term shall be for one full calendar year.  The current Vice-Chair was Andrea Melvin, Center for 
Independent Living. 
 
Mr. Askew made a motion for Ms. Melvin to continue as Vice-Chair.  Ms. Hanley seconded, and 
the motion passed unanimously. 
 
Item 4d. Board Elections – Grievance Subcommittee  
 
Ms. Mitchell said that Members of the Grievance Subcommittee would serve on a voluntary basis. 
Each member of the Grievance Subcommittee would serve at the discretion of the TDLCB. 
 
Grievance Subcommittee members would meet if a grievance was brought before the committee. 
When a meeting of the Grievance Subcommittee is necessary, the TPO staff would schedule the 
meeting. Meetings would be held at the time and place as the Grievance Subcommittee would 
determine.  
 
Members would serve a term of one year, with allowances for multiple terms. The Grievance 
Subcommittee would elect a Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson. A simple majority would be 
present in any official action and no voting member would have a vote on an issue that was deemed 
a conflict of interest. 
 
The board had discussion and agreed that the current four Grievance Subcommittee members 
would remain: Jeffrey Askew, Steven Neal, Keith Fair, and Anissa Pieriboni. 
 
 



TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022   Page 4 of 6 
Approved –  

Ms. Melvin made a motion for the four current Grievance Subcommittee members to remain.   
Ms. Hanley seconded, and the motion passed unanimously. 
 
4e. Meeting Schedule for 2023 
 
It was a requirement that TDLCB members met quarterly, at a minimum. A total of four (4) 
Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB) meetings had been  
proposed during calendar year 2023 in March, June, September, and December. 
 
Meetings would take place quarterly on the second Thursday of the coordinating month at  
10:00 AM except for December which would take place on the first Thursday of the month to 
accommodate holiday schedules. 
 
The board reviewed and no changes were made to the 2023 meeting schedule. 
 
Mr. Fair made a motion to approve the 2023 meeting schedule.  Ms. Melvin seconded, and the 
motion passed unanimously. 
 
Item 5. Consent Agenda 
  
Mr. Askew made a motion to approve the Consent Agenda.  Ms. Melvin seconded, and the motion 
passed unanimously. 
 
Item 6a. Volunteers for CTC Evaluation 
 
Ms. Mitchell asked for volunteers to assist with the CTC evaluation.   
 
Pursuant to Chapter 427 Florida Statutes 427.015(2), the performance of the Community 
Transportation Coordinator (CTC) shall be evaluated annually based on the Commission for the 
Transportation Disadvantaged’s (CTD) approved evaluation criteria.   
 
The evaluation would include an analysis of all relevant elements within the operations of Marion 
Transit Services.  Examples include: 
 

• Policies & Procedures 
• Vehicle Operations & Maintenance 
• Grievance Procedures 
• Budget 
• Contracts and Contract Management 
• Driver Certification & Training 
• Performance Standards 
• Safety Standards 
• Quality Assurance 

 
The evaluation would begin mid-January 2023. 
 



TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022 Page 5 of 6 
Approved –  

The following board members offered to be a volunteer with the CTC evaluation: 

Jeffery Askew 
Michelle Stone 
Susan Hanley 
Andrea Melvin (Brandon Palermo) 

6b. 2023 Discussion Topics for Presentations 

Chairwoman Stone opened the floor for board members to offer topics for presentations in the 
upcoming year board meetings and the following topics were suggested: 

• Update from SunTran on new routes and information- Steven Neal
• How affordable housing tied into public transportation- Keith Fair
• Services provided by the Salvation Army
• Veteran Services- Jeffrey Askew
• The Census Updates- Rob Balmes

Item 7. Comments by TDLCB Members 

Emilio Santiago introduced himself to the board and said that he was temporarily filling in on 
behalf of the Agency for Health Care Administration. 

Mr. Fair inquired about the percentage of growth with Marion Transit riders.  
Mr. Murch responded that Marion Transit was still feeling the effects of Covid and estimated a 
growth of 10% for the year. 

FAAST Training flyers were provided by Ms. Andrea Melvin with the Center for Independent 
Living of North Central Florida.  See the flyers on pages 7-8 for reference.  

Item 8. Comments by TPO Staff 

Mr. Balmes provided a brief update on the Safety Action Plan. 

On November 29, 2022, the TPO Board adopted Commitment to Zero: An Action Plan for Safer 
Streets in Ocala Marion. The final plan and appendices were viewable on the TPO’s project page: 
https://ocalamariontpo.org/safety-plan. 

Mr. Balmes said that the participation by TDLCB members throughout the process was greatly 
appreciated and helped lead to the development of a comprehensive plan document.  

Specifically, the feedback and guidance shared at the June 16, 2022 Workshop helped greatly with 
the development of safety strategies and emphasis areas. The TPO looked forward to continued 
work with TDLCB members related to transportation safety in Ocala/Marion County. 

https://ocalamariontpo.org/safety-plan


TDLCB Meeting Minutes – December 8, 2022   Page 6 of 6 
Approved –  

Item 10. Comments by CTC 
 
Mr. Clayton Murch gave the following comments and updates. 
 

• Marion Transit received additional tablets that would allow drivers to utilize Google maps 
for directions. 

• Spot mirrors for the front of the Marion Transit buses would be installed as a safe guard 
for the non-riding public and riders safer. 

• In November 2022, the Marion Senior Services parking lot paving had been completed. 
• The roof of Marion Senior Services had been replaced and completed on  

December 7, 2022. 
• All the Marion Transit drivers had completed Defensive Driving Courses with part of the 

course being Commentary Drives to help drivers identify obstacles while they are driving. 
• During weather events, Marion Transit partnered with the Emergency operations Center 

(EOC) to help with evacuations to and from shelters. 
• Ridership had exceeded the 2020 Covid numbers. 
• Marion Transit increased wages in August 2022 from $13 to $15 and that enabled Marion 

Transit to attract a better caliber of drivers and they were in a good place with staffing. 
 
Item 11. Public Comment 
 
There was no public comment. 
 
Item 12. Adjournment 
 
Chairwoman Stone adjourned the meeting at 10:56am. 
 
 
 
 
Respectfully Submitted By: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Shakayla Irby, TPO Administrative Assistant 







A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 

 
 
 

TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
 
FROM: Ocala Marion TPO 

 
RE:    Workshop Topics 

 
 

 
 
Summary 
 
In June we will be having a TD Public Workshop in addition to our regularly scheduled 
meeting.  The Workshop is designed to provide an instructional, educational and/or training 
environment keeping TD at the forefront.   
 
Attachment(s) 
 
None 
 
Action Requested 
 
We are looking for suggestions as to what the Board is looking for in terms of topics to cover 
for this workshop and/or areas of interest. 
 
Any additional comments and/or suggestions please contact Liz Mitchell,  
liz.mitchell@marionfl.org. 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/
mailto:liz.mitchell@marionfl.org


A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 
 
 

TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
 
FROM: Ocala Marion TPO Staff 
 
RE: Transportation Disadvantaged Service Analysis 
 

 
 

Summary 
 
The TPO is working in 2023 with Marion Transit (MT) to conduct an analysis of 
transportation disadvantaged and rural public transportation service. This service analysis is 
meant to assess modifications to transportation disadvantaged rural services and to meet the 
growing demand in Marion County. Additionally, impacts from the 2020 Census also are 
impacting the need for the analysis. An important aspect of this project will involve identifying 
areas of the County to maximize the use of existing levels of available transit service funding. 
This project corresponds directly to the implementation of Goal 1 of the Transportation 
Disadvantaged Service Plan (TDSP): “To provide the best possible transportation service to 
those in the service area”. 
 
As identified in the TDSP managed by the TPO, the Critical Need disadvantaged population in 
Marion County is estimated to be 24% or 84,900 residents, including 33,200 non-elderly 
residents. The Critical Need population includes individuals who, due to physical limitations or 
low income, are unable to transport themselves or purchase transportation and are dependent 
upon others to obtain access to health care, employment, education, shopping, social activities, 
and other life-sustaining activities. Over the next five years, the number of Critical Need trips 
in Marion County is projected to increase by 9.2%. Additionally, Marion County continues to 
age with residents over 65 now representing about 29% (109,000) the total population.  
 
This project is funded through the Unified Planning Work Program (UPWP) using Federal 
Transit Administration (FTA) 5305d planning funds. On January 24, 2023, the TPO Board 
approved the allocation of UPWP funding to conduct this study.  
 
The project will specifically involve a Task Order with the TPO’s General Planning 
Consultant Kimley-Horn and Associates to complete a transportation disadvantaged service 
analysis on the Census-designated Rural and small Urban areas of Marion County. Included 
with this memo is an overview presentation and detailed Task Order Scope of Services, 
outlining the work to be completed. 
 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/


A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

Attachment(s) 
 

• Presentation 
• Letter of Support, Marion Transit 
• Scope of Services 

 
Any additional comments and/or suggestions please contact Liz Mitchell,  
liz.mitchell@marionfl.org. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/
mailto:liz.mitchell@marionfl.org


Transportation Disadvantaged 
Service Analysis

March 9, 2023

TDLCB Meeting



 Project to serve the Transportation 
Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
(TDLCB) and Marion Transit

 Collaborative process with Marion Transit
 Specialized, third party services to conduct 

a Service Area Study Analysis 

Background



 Implementation of TDSP, 
Goal 1: 

“To provide the best possible 
transportation service to those 
in the service area.”
Maximize existing funding, services

Background



 Critical Need Disadvantaged Population is 
23% or 84,900 residents – 9% Trip Growth 2025

Background



 Over 65 is the 
largest population 
group in Marion 
County at 29% or 
109,000 residents 

Background



 Changes from the 2020 US Census
• No longer two types of urban areas   

“Urbanized Area” or “Urban Cluster”
• Now only “Urban” or “Rural”
• Impacts to Marion Transit (5311) 

Background



Study Area – Marion County          
(Small Urban and Rural Areas)

Excludes Large Urban Areas 
(over 50,000)



 Conduct a Service Area Analysis to identify 
areas of the county/community that may be 
served or better served by Marion Transit
 Transportation Disadvantaged, Rural 5311 

program
 Maximize existing funding and services to 

meet the community’s needs

Purpose 



 2020 Census Urban Area and 
Demographic Analysis
• Identify all target populations 
• Assess Demand and Needs

Tasks 

 Development of Service Options
• On-Demand, Zone-Based, etc. 



 Feedback, Coordination with TDLCB 
members and Marion Transit

 Complete a Service Analysis Report

Deliverables 

 Presentation to TDLCB at June 8 Meeting



Questions, Comments? 



 
 

 1101 S.W. 20th Court, Ocala, Florida 34471 / 352-620-3519 
 

 

To:  Rob Balmes and Liz Mitchell 

From:  Clayton Murch, Transportation Director Marion Transit 

Date:  November 17, 2022 

Subject: Deviated-Fixed-Route expansion into additional areas of Marion County 

 

 

I have reviewed the Transit Service Analysis provided by Kimley-Horn.  I approve of the scope 
of the proposal.  This analysis should provide valuable insight and enable us to better focus our 
efforts on service expansion into other areas of Marion County.   

As stated previously, we are currently analyzing deviated-fixed-route expansion into the Forest 
area and potentially the Reddick/Citra area.  The thorough analysis of the new census data 
(referenced in this study) will greatly assist us in determining both the feasibility and the future 
potential to serve clients in these and/or other areas of the county.  If one or both areas are 
determined to not be the best options for expansion, the analysis will identify in which other 
areas expanded service would be most advantageous.  That fact alone would help to ensure that 
we are providing expanded services to the locations that need it the most, both now and in the 
future. 

 

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
Transportation Director / Community Transportation Coordinator 
Marion Senior Services, Inc. dba Marion Transit 
 
 



Ocala Marion TPO  11/02/2022 

 
 

Ocala Marion County TPO 
Marion Transit Service Analysis 

Scope of Services  
 
Introduction 
 
The Ocala Marion Transportation Planning Organization (TPO) works with Marion Transit 
(MT) to provide public transportation services throughout Marion County.  MT makes use 
of FTA Section 5311 Program funding to provide public transportation services to areas 
of the County outside of the Census urbanized area.    As the Community Transportation 
Coordinator (CTC), MT also assumes responsibility for ensuring coordination of local 
transportation services consistent with the rules defined by the Florida Commission for 
the Transportation Disadvantaged (FCTD). That responsibility includes provision of door-
to-door paratransit services to meet the transportation needs for medical, life-sustaining, 
educational, work, business, and recreational activities for Marion County’s TD 
population, as well as other recipients in the County.   

Purpose 

The TPO and MT are seeking to reevaluate transportation disadvantaged and rural public 
transportation service levels based on forthcoming 2020 US Census urbanized area 
boundaries. The result of that service evaluation is implementation of modified 
transportation disadvantaged and rural transportation services that meet growing 
transportation demand in the community.  An important aspect of this project is identifying 
areas and/or communities that will maximize use of the existing levels of available transit 
service funding.  This project corresponds directly to the implementation of Goal 1 of the 
Transportation Disadvantaged Service Plan (TDSP): “To provide the best possible 
transportation service to those in the service area”. 

The following scope of work defines required tasks to be performed by Kimley-Horn to 
support the TPO and MT staff in completion of this project 

Scope of Services 
 
Task 1: Project Management and TDLCB Coordination 
Kimley-Horn will identify a single project lead to coordinate all project activities and 
actively manage the project schedule. At the onset of the project, Kimley-Horn will prepare 
for and facilitate a project kick-off meeting with TPO and MT staff. The draft project 
schedule, major milestones, data collection needs, and other strategic policy and project 
expectations will be discussed at the kick-off meeting.  



Ocala Marion TPO  11/02/2022 

Following the kick-off meeting, Kimley-Horn will schedule monthly project status meetings 
with the project team. The project status meetings will be conducted as virtual meetings 
or conference calls and will support the effort to adequately address all project tasks in a 
timely and efficient manner. These progress meetings will address project progress, work 
products, upcoming activities, and issues that must be addressed to maintain the project 
schedule. 

In addition to the project kickoff meeting and monthly status meetings, Kimley-Horn will 
prepare for and lead one presentation to the Marion County Transportation 
Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board (TDLCB). The meeting will be focused on 
sharing results of the service analysis to the TDLCB and gathering input on needs.   

Deliverables 
• In-Person Project Kickoff Meeting and site visit 
• Monthly Project Status Meetings 
• Monthly Progress Reports and Invoicing 
• A presentation to the TDLCB upon completion 

 
Task 2: 2020 Census Urbanized Area and Demographic Analysis 
Kimley-Horn will use the latest ACS 5-year data to conduct a demographic analysis of 
transit supportive areas in Marion County. Transit supportive populations will include 
zero-vehicle households, elderly, low-income, and disabled populations. To support that 
analysis, Kimley-Horn will develop a transit propensity index that will provide a composite 
scoring and representation of analysis variables in one geographic analysis.   

The demographic analysis will focus on areas outside of the revised urbanized area as 
defined by the 2020 Census.  In this way, target populations in rural areas (i.e., outside 
of the urbanized area) can be identified. 

In addition to the review of Census data, Kimley-Horn staff will review TPO population 
and employment forecasts to identify areas of potential growth. 

Deliverables 
• Supporting visual aids (i.e., maps) that delineate the newly defined urban and 

rural areas within the County 
• Demographic analysis map series 
• Transit Propensity Index 

Task 3:  Development of Service Options  
The development of service options will be the product of several resources, including 
coordination with the MT team, input from the TDLCB, and information compiled through 
Tasks 1 and 2 of this project. Kimley-Horn will develop a set of proposed service options 
including the opportunity for on-demand or zone-based services.  Kimley-Horn will 



Ocala Marion TPO  11/02/2022 

prepare for and facilitate a meeting with TPO and MT staff to discuss the proposed options 
and how to group them for potential future implementation.   

Service options will be defined individually or in groups and will include operational details 
to support decisions on implementation and prioritization. Operational details will include 
service hour estimates, fleet and staffing requirements, capital and technology needs, 
and estimates for both operating and capital costs.    

Deliverables 
• Draft Service Options  
• Meeting with TPO and MT Transportation Director 

 
Task 4:  Draft and Final Reports 
Kimley-Horn will prepare and submit a draft report to TPO and MT staff.  The draft report 
will summarize activities performed as part of the project and will include details on 
implementation options.  Edits and revisions will be compiled into a final report to be 
submitted to staff. 
 
Deliverables 

• Draft Service Analysis Report 
• Final Service Analysis Report 

Time of Completion 

This project is anticipated to be completed within a 3 to 4-month period. The project 
timeframe will be contingent on release of updated census data in December 2022. 
Kimley-Horn staff will develop a project schedule, which will outline the key milestones, 
dates, and deliverables, for the project after the project Kickoff Meeting.  

Project Budget 

The work assignment budget in the attached Table A reflects the lump sum fee estimate 
for the tasks and specific deliverables outlined in this scope of services. Staff rates are 
consistent with contract rates included in the Agreement between Kimley-Horn and 
Marion County for Project RFQ#20Q-121 – General Planning Consultant for TPO dated 
August 18, 2020 and Modified July 6, 2022.  

Invoices will be processed monthly by the Kimley-Horn based on the percent work 
completed for each task. 



A transportation system that supports growth, mobility, and safety through leadership and planning 
Marion County • City of Bel leview • City of Dunnellon • City of Ocala  

 
 

2710 E. Silver Springs Blvd. • Ocala, Florida 34470 
Telephone: (352) 438 - 2630   •  www.ocalamariontpo.org 

 

 

TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board 
 
FROM: Ocala Marion TPO Staff 
 
RE:     2020 U.S. Census Update, Urban Areas 

 
 

 
Summary 
 
The U.S. Census Bureau released the finalized listing of 2020 Urban Areas. According to the 
U.S. Census, the population of the 2020 Ocala Urban Area is 182,647.  Additionally, the other 
U.S. Census-designated Urban Areas in Marion County include: Marion Oaks with a 
population of 19,077; Rainbow Springs with a population of 4,667; and Lake Bryant with a 
population of 3,632. Further information will be shared at the TDLCB meeting, including 
updates from discussions taking place at the TPO Board.  
 
Attached to this memo is the table listing of the 2020 Urban Areas for Marion County.  The 
source of this information may also be found directly on the Census Bureau’s website.  
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html   
Census Webpage 
 
https://urban-boundary-functional-class-update-2020-fdot.hub.arcgis.com/ 
Florida Department of Transportation (FDOT) Census Page 
 
Attachment(s) 
 

• 2020 Census Urban Area Listing, Marion County  
• 2020 Census Urban Area Maps, Marion County 
• 2020 Census FAQ’s  

 
Any additional comments and/or suggestions please contact Liz Mitchell,  
liz.mitchell@marionfl.org. 

http://www.ocalamariontpo.org/
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html
https://urban-boundary-functional-class-update-2020-fdot.hub.arcgis.com/
mailto:liz.mitchell@marionfl.org


UACE NAME POP HOUSING AREALAND AREALANDSQMAREAWATER AREAWATERSQPOPDEN
64567 Ocala, FL 182,647 83,908        323,814,545   125.03             575,486           0.22                1,460.88     
87285 The Villages--Lady Lake, FL 161,736 98,242        255,167,012   98.52               10,004,321     3.86                1,641.65     
07472 Beverly Hills--Homosassa Springs--Pine Ridge, FL 96,729          50,309        307,760,295   118.83             9,556,843       3.69                814.03 
54739 Marion Oaks, FL 19,077          7,620          42,289,206     16.33               16,200             0.01                1,168.36     
73251 Rainbow Springs, FL 4,667            2,540          14,797,799     5.71 69,853             0.03                816.84 
46489 Lake Bryant, FL 3,632            2,123          7,753,525       2.99 605,447           0.23                1,213.23     

Each Urban Area must encompass 2,000 housing units or at least 5,000 people, measured at Census Block Level 

This is a change from 2010 Census of 2,500 people



1  

2020 Census Urban Areas FAQs 

Updated December 2022 
 
 

Release Schedule 
 

Q: When will the 2020 Census Urban Areas be announced? 

A: Release schedule for products: 

December 29, 2022: 

• Federal Register Notice with list of 2020 Census Urban Areas with their 2020 Census 
population, housing units, and land area, as well as separate tables of this same information. 

January 2023: 

• 2020 Census Urban Areas Wall Map 
• TIGERweb service updated with 2020 Census Urban Areas 
• TIGER/Line Shapefiles 
• TIGER/Line Geodatabases 
• Relationship Files 
• Census Geocoder updated with 2020 Census Urban Areas 

Later in 2023: 

• Cartographic Boundary Files – May 2023 
• Additional maps 

 
Federal Register 

 

Q: When were the final 2020 Census Urban Area criteria published in the Federal Register? 

A: The criteria for defining 2020 Census Urban Areas were published in the Federal Register on 
Thursday, March 24, 2022., Final criteria clarifications will be published in the 2020 Census Qualifying 
Urban Areas and Final Criteria Clarifications Federal Register Notice on Thursday, December 29, 2022. 

 
 

Q: Where can I find the Federal Register Notice for the 2020 Census urban area final criteria? 

A: https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-03-24/pdf/2022-06180.pdf 
 
 

Q: Where can I find the Federal Register Notice containing 2020 Census Urban Area final criteria 
clarifications? 

A:  https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html 

https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/FR-2022-03-24/pdf/2022-06180.pdf
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html


2  

Q: When were the proposed 2020 Census Urban Area criteria published in the Federal Register? 

A: The proposed 2020 Census Urban Area criteria were published in the Federal Register on February 19, 
2021. 

 
 

Q: Where can I find the proposed 2020 Census Urban Area criteria Federal Register Notice? 

A: https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/02/19/2021-03412/urban-areas-for-the-2020- 
census-proposed-criteria 

 
 

Urban Areas Criteria 
 

Q: What is the definition of an urban area? 

A: Urban areas represent densely developed territory, and encompass residential, commercial, and 
other nonresidential urban land uses. Each urban area must encompass at least 2,000 housing units or 
at least 5,000 people. This is a change from the previous minimum of 2,500 people which had been in 
place since the 1910 Census. 

Urban areas are defined primarily based on housing unit density measured at the census block level. 
Three housing unit densities are applied during the delineation process: 

• Initial urban core: at least 425 housing units per square mile. Based on the national average of 
2.6 people per occupied housing unit, this density threshold is similar to the 1,000 people per 
square mile used in 2000 and 2010 when delineating initial urban cores. 

• Remainder of urban area: at least 200 housing units per square mile. This is similar to the 500 
people per square mile density used for the 2000 and 2010 Censuses, based on the national 
average of 2.6 people per occupied housing unit. 

• At least one high-density nucleus of at least 1,275 housing units per square mile required for 
qualification. This ensures that each urban area contains a high-density nucleus typical of what 
one would expect to find within an urban area. In addition to the change in minimum thresholds 
for qualification and the change to use of housing unit density, the Census Bureau also will no 
longer distinguish between urbanized areas of 50,000 or more people and urban clusters of less 
than 50,000 people. 

 

Q: Can you tell us if the population for our urban area is above or below 50,000? 

A: The population of each 2020 Census Urban Area is in the 2020 Census Qualifying Urban Areas and 
Final Criteria Clarifications Federal Register Notice published December 29, 2022 and available on the 
Census Bureau’s Urban and Rural website: https://www.census.gov/programs- 
surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html. 

https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/02/19/2021-03412/urban-areas-for-the-2020-census-proposed-criteria
https://www.federalregister.gov/documents/2021/02/19/2021-03412/urban-areas-for-the-2020-census-proposed-criteria
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html


3  

Q: Why was the change made from the original proposed minimum qualification thresholds of 4,000 
housing units or 10,000 people, to the final thresholds of 2,000 housing units or 5,000 people? Was it 
available for public comment? If so, what were the objections in the public comment? 

A: This change was in response to public comment and concerns that the increase from the 2,500- 
people threshold of the past 110 years (the 2,500-people threshold was adopted in 1910) to 10,000 
people or 4,000 housing units was too high and would result in loss of statistical data and loss of 
statistical comparability for those communities (data will still be available for all incorporated places and 
census designated places regardless of population size). We have periodically received comments from 
data users and rural analysts that our 2,500-people threshold was too low, especially when compared to 
minimum thresholds for urban areas used by other federal agencies. Lowering the threshold to 2,000 
housing units or 5,000 people represents a compromise between those concerned about loss of data 
and those who have expressed concerns that our urban area threshold was too low and out of 
alignment with thresholds used by other agencies. 

 
 

Q: Why was the originally proposed density of 385 housing units per square mile raised to 425 housing 
units per square mile? 

A: There are three housing unit density thresholds for the final 2020 UA criteria. The change from 385 to 
425 resulted from responses to various aspects of the criteria and our research in response to public 
comments. Some commenters noted that we utilized two population density thresholds (500 and 1,000 
people per square mile, or PPSM) in previous decades and expressed concern that sole reliance on the 
proposed 385 housing units per square mile (HPSM) threshold (which was equivalent to 1,000 PPSM) 
would result in underbounding of some urban areas, especially when census blocks on the fringe of an 
urban area contained urban land uses, but had relatively large land areas, resulting in lower densities. 
Others expressed concern that exclusion of such blocks from an urban area resulted in too many 
noncontiguous pieces of qualifying urban territory. To address these concerns, we introduced the “low- 
density fill” criterion, which utilizes a 200 HPSM threshold to account for irregularly shaped census 
blocks on the fringe of an urban area that contain urban development, but because of relatively larger 
land area, have lower population densities. The “low-density fill” criterion also minimizes the number of 
noncontiguous UA pieces. Based on continued research and review of settlement patterns, we decided 
to adopt a higher threshold of 425 HPSM for delineation of initial cores in order to avoid initially 
extending too far into rural territory and then utilize the lower 200 HPSM threshold to fill in gaps. The 
third density threshold—1,275 HPSM—is utilized to ensure that each urban area contains at least one 
densely settled nucleus typical of what one would expect for an urban area. 

 
 

Q: How will the classification of census blocks as urban or rural differ from 2010? 

A: There are two main changes to the criteria that affect the classification of blocks as urban or rural. 
First, we are using census blocks as the only “geographic building block” throughout the entire 
delineation, whereas for the 2010 Census delineation process census tracts were utilized in the initial 
stage and then individual census blocks were analyzed and add to the qualifying census tracts. The use 
of census tracts at the initial stage improved processing of data, but led to the inclusion of some 
territory with typically rural land uses; that is, the overall population density of the census tract was high 



4  

enough to qualify for inclusion in an urban area, with the result that low-density census blocks 
containing rural land uses were defined as urban. The second change is that we will not be including 
low-density census blocks that form the hop and jump corridors (resulting in noncontiguous, multi-piece 
urban areas). Those low-density census block hop and jump connections were included for the 2010 
Census as well as in previous decades. Both of these changes will result in blocks no longer qualifying as 
urban, but will have little impact on the total population/housing unit counts of the urban areas. 

 
 

Q: How will urban area names change for the 2020 Census, will additional names be added on to the 
2010 Urban Area names? 

A: A number of 2020 Census Urban Areas have additional place names added because of the inclusion of 
housing unit counts as the secondary naming criteria. This was designed to provide more accurate 
naming in seasonal communities such as beach towns and mountain resorts, and more accurately reflect 
the known names of the urban areas overall. In most cases the primary name stayed the same as that 
from 2010, but there are cases where additional names were added for 2020. 

 
 

Q: Why does the Census Bureau review and make changes to urban area criteria? 

A: Since 1950, when the urbanized area concept was introduced, the Census Bureau has periodically 
reviewed and revised the criteria for delineating urban areas and introduced conceptual and 
methodological changes to ensure that the urban-rural classification keeps pace with changes in 
settlement patterns, development, and with changes in theoretical and practical approaches to 
interpreting and understanding the definition and extent of urbanization. This assures that the 
definitions of, and data for, Census Bureau-defined urban areas reflect changes in the nature of 
settlement as well as the needs of researchers and analysts when conceptualizing and reporting on the 
urban-rural landscape and urban-rural settlement. Fundamentally, we are delineating boundaries of a 
concept—urbanization—that can be seen on the landscape and changes over time as new development 
occurs and density of settlement increases, but also as changes in terms of the way in data users, 
researchers, and decision-makers perceive and interpret what is “urban” and what is “rural.” Periodic 
review of the urban-rural classification and criteria ensures its continued usefulness and relevance for 
statistical data tabulation and analysis, and ensures that the delineation process utilizes the best 
possible data, procedures, and methodologies. 

 
 

Q: Is it true that the Census Bureau is no longer defining urbanized areas? 

A: No. The Census Bureau will no longer identify an individual urban area as either an "urbanized area" 
or an "urban cluster", but we will refer to all qualified areas as “urban areas” regardless of population 
size. We will publish population and housing counts for each urban area when we announce results of 
the 2020 Census Urban Area delineation. Data users and programs will be able to use those counts and 
subsequent American Community Survey estimates to categorize urban areas according to population 
size. 



5  

Urban-Rural Classification 
 

Q: Why does the Census Bureau delineate urban areas? 

A: The Census Bureau delineates urban and rural areas for statistical purposes; that is, to tabulate and 
present data for the urban and rural population, housing, and territory within the United States, Puerto 
Rico, and the Island Areas. The Census Bureau’s urban areas represent densely developed territory and 
encompass residential, commercial, and other non-residential urban land uses. The Census Bureau’s 
urban and rural classification provides an important baseline for analyzing changes in the distribution 
and characteristics of urban and rural populations. The Census Bureau’s delineation of urban areas also 
supports the Office of Management and Budget’s delineation of metropolitan and micropolitan 
statistical areas. Urban areas of 50,000 or more people form the urban cores of metropolitan statistical 
areas; urban areas of at least 10,000 and less than 50,000 people form the urban cores of micropolitan 
statistical areas. 

 
 

Q: How does the Census Bureau define “urban” and “rural?” 

A: The Census Bureau’s urban-rural classification is fundamentally a delineation of geographical areas, 
identifying both individual urban areas and the rural portion of the nation. The Census Bureau’s urban 
areas represent densely developed territory, and encompass residential, commercial, and other 
nonresidential urban land uses. For the 2020 Census, an urban area will comprise a densely settled core 
of census blocks that meet minimum housing unit density requirements, along with adjacent territory 
containing non-residential urban land uses as well as territory with low population density included to 
link outlying densely settled territory with the densely settled core. To qualify as an urban area, the 
territory identified according to criteria must encompass at least 2,000 housing units or at least 5,000 
people. “Rural” encompasses all population, housing, and territory not included within any urban area. 
The specific criteria used to define urban areas for the 2020 Census were published in the Federal 
Register of March 24, 2022. Final criteria clarifications will be published in the 2020 Census Qualifying 
Urban Areas and Final Criteria Clarifications Federal Register notice on Thursday, December 29, 2022 as 
well as separate tables on https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo- 
areas/urban-rural.html. 

 
 

Q: Were there changes to the urban area delineation criteria for the 2020 Census? 

A: Yes. A description of differences between the 2020 Census Urban Area criteria and 2010 Census 
Urban Area criteria are available on our website. Changes include: 

• Raising the minimum threshold for qualification as an urban area to 2,000 housing units or 5,000 
people. 

• Use of primarily housing unit density instead of population density when delineating urban 
areas. 

• No longer including low-density hop and jump corridor blocks in the urban area (resulting in 
noncontiguous urban areas). 

https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html
https://www.census.gov/programs-surveys/geography/guidance/geo-areas/urban-rural.html


6  

• Use of Longitudinal Employer-Household Dynamics Origin-Destination Employment Statistics 
(LODES) commuting data to determine whether to split agglomerations of continuous urban 
development and if so, where to draw the boundary. 

 
 

Q: What are hops and jumps? 

A: “Hops” and “jumps” provide a means for connecting outlying densely settled territory with the main 
portion of the urban area. A hop provides a connection from one urban area core to other qualifying 
urban territory along a road connection of 0.5 miles or less in length; multiple hops may be made along 
any given road corridor. This criterion recognizes that alternating patterns of residential development 
and non-residential development are a typical feature of urban landscapes. A jump provides a 
connection from one urban area core to other qualifying urban territory along a road connection that is 
greater than 0.5 miles, but less than or equal to 1.5 miles in length; only one jump may be made along 
any given road connection. The jump concept has been part of the urban area delineation process since 
the 1950 Census, providing a means for recognizing that urbanization may be offset by intervening areas 
that have not yet been developed. The Census Bureau changed the maximum jump distance from 1.5 
miles to 2.5 miles with the Census 2000 criteria and retained the 2.5-mile distance in the 2010 Census 
criteria. The Census Bureau returned to the 1.5-mile maximum distance with the 2020 Census criteria. 

 
 

Q: How often does the Census Bureau update the boundaries of urban areas? 

A: The Census Bureau reviews and updates urban area boundaries every ten years, following the 
decennial census. Census blocks provide the “building blocks” for applying housing unit density and 
other measures and delineating each urban area. The use of housing unit density at the census block 
level provides the opportunity to update urban areas between decennial censuses based on 
address/housing unit counts contained in the Census Bureau’s Master Address File, which is updated 
annually. At this time, however, the Census Bureau has not made specific plans to update urban areas 
between censuses. 

 
 

Q: How do urban areas compare to the Office of Management and Budget’s metropolitan and 
micropolitan statistical areas? 

A: Urban areas form the urban cores of metropolitan and micropolitan statistical areas, respectively. 
Each metropolitan statistical area will contain at least one urban area of 50,000 or more people; each 
micropolitan statistical area will contain at least one urban area of at least 10,000 and less than 50,000 
people. Metropolitan and micropolitan statistical areas represent the county-based functional regions 
associated with urban centers (hence, the generic term “core based statistical areas”). 

 
 

Q: When did the Census Bureau begin defining urban and rural areas? 

A: The Census Bureau first defined urban places in reports following the 1880 and 1890 Censuses. At 
that time, the Census Bureau identified as urban any incorporated place that had a minimum population 



7  

of either 4,000 or 8,000, depending on the report. The Census Bureau adopted the current minimum 
population threshold of 2,500 for the 1910 Census; any incorporated place that contained at least 2,500 
people within its boundaries was considered urban. All territory outside urban places, regardless of 
population density, was considered rural. The Census Bureau began identifying densely populated 
urbanized areas of 50,000 or more population with the 1950 Census, taking into account the increased 
presence of densely settled suburban development in the vicinity of large cities. Outside urbanized 
areas, the Census Bureau continued to identify as urban any incorporated place or census designated 
place of at least 2,500 and less than 50,000 people. The Census Bureau introduced the urban cluster 
concept for the 2000 Census, replacing urban places located outside urbanized areas. Urban clusters 
were defined based on the same criteria as urbanized areas, but represented areas containing at least 
2,500 and less than 50,000 people. Starting with the 2020 Census, the Census Bureau ceased 
distinguishing between urbanized areas and urban clusters. “Rural” continues to be defined as any 
population, housing, or territory outside urban areas. 

 
 

Q: How has the Census Bureau’s urban-rural definition changed over time? 

A: From the 1910 Census through the 1940 Census, the Census Bureau defined “urban” as any 
incorporated place that contained at least 2,500 people within its boundaries. Additional criteria were 
applied to classify certain New England towns and other areas as urban. This accounted for selected 
geographic areas that had urban characteristics but were not identified as incorporated places by the 
Census Bureau. Increasing suburbanization, particularly outside the boundaries of large incorporated 
places led the Census Bureau to adopt the urbanized area concept for the 1950 Census. At that time, the 
Census Bureau formally recognized that densely settled communities outside the boundaries of large 
incorporated municipalities were just as “urban” as the densely settled population inside those 
boundaries. The Census Bureau adopted a number of changes to the urban area definition and 
delineation criteria for the 2000 Census, notably, identifying urban clusters of at least 2,500 and less 
than 50,000 peoples, defined using the same density-based criteria as urbanized areas. The Census 
Bureau adopted two key changes for the 2020 Census: 1) raising the minimum threshold for 
qualification as an urban area to at least 2,000 housing units or at least 5,000 people and 2) using 
primarily housing unit density to identifying qualifying census blocks instead of population density. 

 
 

Q: Who uses the Census Bureau’s urban and rural definitions? 

A: There are a variety of ways in which the Census Bureau’s urban and rural definitions are used: 

• Data users and researchers interested in analyzing data for urban and rural population and 
housing use the Census Bureau urban and rural areas, and data tabulated for those areas. 

• Analysts use urban area data to study patterns of urbanization, suburban growth and 
development, and urban/rural land area change. 

• Various federal and state agencies use the Census Bureau’s urban and rural definitions as the 
basis for their own urban and rural definitions and settlement classifications for use in 
tabulating and presenting statistical data. The National Center for Education Statistics uses the 
Census Bureau’s urban and rural definitions in its locale codes classification. The U.S. 
Department of Agriculture uses the Census Bureau’s urban-rural classification as the basis for 



8  

various urban and rural classifications used to analyze and report on demographic and economic 
patterns in rural areas. 

• Other government agencies use the Census Bureau’s urban and rural definitions to determine 
program eligibility and in their funding formulas. For example, the Federal Highways 
Administration uses Census Bureau urban areas of 50,000 or more population to establish 
Metropolitan Planning Organizations. For rural health programs, a clinic qualifies as a rural 
health clinic if it is located outside the boundaries of any Census Bureau urban area. 

 
 

Q: Does the Census Bureau allow local governments and other groups to participate in the delineation 
of urban area boundaries? 

A: No. The Census Bureau’s urban and rural area definitions provide a baseline for a wide variety of data 
users, researchers, and analysts; it is important to our statistical data users that we define urban areas in 
a nationally consistent and objective manner. In addition, although the Census Bureau does not take 
into account the needs of specific non-statistical programs, we are aware of the potential programmatic 
advantages or disadvantages deriving from the size of an urban area and urban/rural status. For that 
reason also, it is important that we define urban areas in an objective manner, applying the same 
criteria and delineation methodology throughout the United States, Puerto Rico, and the Island Areas. 
Prior to each decennial census, the Census Bureau publishes in the Federal Register proposed criteria for 
delineating urban areas for public review and comment, in addition to meeting with various data user 
and stakeholder groups to ensure that the urban area concept and criteria continue to meet users’ 
needs and expectations, while maintaining continuity with previous decades’ definitions. The final 
criteria adopted for application with decennial census and other data to delineate urban areas reflects 
the comments received through the Federal Register comment process. 

 
 

Q: Is there an appeals process if I disagree with the location of an urban area boundary? 

A: The Census Bureau does not have an appeals process for their urban areas. We will work with tribal, 
federal, state, or local agencies as well as stakeholders, as appropriate, to ensure understanding of our 
classification and delineation of specific urban areas. The Census Bureau applies published criteria with 
statistical and other publicly available data to identify a nationally consistent set of urban areas, defined 
in as objective a manner as possible. Prior to each decennial census, the Census Bureau publishes in the 
Federal Register proposed criteria for delineating urban areas for public review and comment. The final 
criteria adopted for application to decennial census and other data to delineate urban areas reflect the 
comments received through the Federal Register comment process. Because of the numerous and 
varied use of the Census Bureau's urban-rural classification, many conflicting even within a single 
community, the specific definitions are not able to be challenged, rather the specific uses of the Census 
Bureau's urban-rural classification must be challenged to determine if their use is appropriate. 

 
 

Q: How will my area’s classification affect my funding? 

A: Program eligibility and funding formulas are determined by the federal and state agencies making 
determining eligibility and providing funding. For information about how the new urban and rural 



9  

definitions may affect your area’s funding, please contact the respective grant-making agencies. The 
Census Bureau will work with tribal, federal, state, or local agencies as well as stakeholders, as 
appropriate, to ensure understanding of our classification and the definition of specific urban areas. 



2020 U.S. Census Update
• December 29 – 2020 Census Urban Areas 

Released  (tables, no maps)

• January 19 – 2020 Census Maps available

• Based on Final Urban Area Criteria published 
by Census Bureau in March 2022
o Urban Areas 2,000 housing units or 5,000 population
o Change from 2010 (2,500 population)



2020 U.S. Census Update
Ocala Urban Area – 182,647   
(156,909 – 2010 Urbanized Area)

Marion Oaks Urban Area – 19,077   
(14,160 – 2010 Urban Cluster)

Villages-Lady Lake Urban Area – 161,736   
(112,991 – 2010 Urbanized Area)



2020 U.S. Census Update
Beverly Hills-Homosassa-Pine Ridge Urban 
Area – 96,729   
(80,962 – 2010 Urbanized Area)

Rainbow Springs Urban Area – 4,667
(5,155 – 2010 Urban Cluster, Rainbow Lakes Estates)

Lake Bryant Urban Area – 3,632  
(3,552 – 2010 Urban Cluster)



2020 U.S. Census Update
Transportation Management Area (TMA) 
Designation

• Census Urban Area  > 200,000 population
• U.S. DOT Secretary designates TMA’s 
Per 49 U.S. Code Section 5303(k)
• Request by Governor and MPO/TPO to the U.S. 

DOT Transportation Secretary (if warranted) 



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Lake Bryant   
Urban Area

2020 The Villages-Lady 
Lake Urban Area

2020 Marion Oaks 
Urban Area

2020 Ocala Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Rainbow Lakes 
Urban Area

2020 Beverly Hills-
Homosassa-Pine Ridge 
Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Ocala Urban Area

2020 The Villages-Lady 
Lake Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Ocala Urban Area

2020 The Villages-Lady 
Lake Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2010 2020

2010

2020



2020 U.S. Census

SE 108th Terrace Road



2020 U.S. Census



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Ocala Urban Area

2020 The Villages-Lady 
Lake Urban Area

2010

2010



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Marion Oaks 
Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Marion Oaks 
Urban Area

2020 Ocala Urban Area

2020 
Marion Oaks      
Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2020 Rainbow Lakes 
Urban Area

2020 Beverly Hills-
Homosassa-Pine Ridge 
Urban Area



2020 U.S. Census

2010 to 2020

2020 Rainbow Lakes 
Urban Area

2020 Beverly Hills-
Homosassa-Pine Ridge 
Urban Area


	Memo -Presentation.pdf
	TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board

	Board CTC Evaluation Memo 2023.pdf
	TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board
	FROM: Ocala Marion TPO
	Findings:
	Recommendations:
	Commendations:
	Attachment(s)
	Action Requested

	Memo -Workshop.pdf
	TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board

	Memo -Service Study.pdf
	TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board

	TD Study Presentation.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11

	Memo -Census.pdf
	TO: Transportation Disadvantaged Local Coordinating Board

	2020 Urban Areas Census.pdf
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9
	Slide Number 10
	Slide Number 11
	Slide Number 12
	Slide Number 13
	Slide Number 14
	Slide Number 15
	Slide Number 16




